
 

 
 

 

 

Planning Committee 
 

Wednesday 16 November 2022 at 6.00 pm 
Conference Hall – Brent Civic Centre, Engineers Way, 
Wembley, HA9 0FJ 
 
 
Please note that this meeting will be held as an in person physical meeting with all 
members of the Committee required to attend in person. 
 
The meeting will be open for the press and public to attend or alternatively can be 
followed via the live webcast. The link to follow proceedings via the live webcast is 
available here 
 

Membership: 
 
Members Substitute Members 

Councillors: Councillors: 
  

Kelcher (Chair) 
S Butt (Vice-Chair) 
Akram 
Begum 
Dixon 
Mahmood 
Maurice 
Rajan-Seelan 
 

Ahmed, Chappell, Chohan, Collymore, Dar, 
Ethapemi and Kabir 
 
Councillors 
 

Kansagra and Patel  

 
 

For further information contact: Natalie Connor, Governance Officer 
natalie.connor@brent.gov.uk; 0208 937 1506 

 

For electronic copies of minutes, reports and agendas, and to be alerted when the 
minutes of this meeting have been published visit: 

democracy.brent.gov.uk 

 

 
Members’ virtual briefing will take place at 12.00 noon.  
 
 
 

Public Document Pack

https://brent.public-i.tv/core/portal/home


 

 

Notes for Members - Declarations of Interest: 
 

If a Member is aware they have a Disclosable Pecuniary Interest* in an item of business, 
they must declare its existence and nature at the start of the meeting or when it becomes 
apparent and must leave the room without participating in discussion of the item.  
 

If a Member is aware they have a Personal Interest** in an item of business, they must 
declare its existence and nature at the start of the meeting or when it becomes apparent. 
 

If the Personal Interest is also significant enough to affect your judgement of a public 
interest and either it affects a financial position or relates to a regulatory matter then after 
disclosing the interest to the meeting the Member must leave the room without participating 
in discussion of the item, except that they may first make representations, answer questions 
or give evidence relating to the matter, provided that the public are allowed to attend the 
meeting for those purposes. 
 
*Disclosable Pecuniary Interests: 
(a)  Employment, etc. - Any employment, office, trade, profession or vocation carried on 

for profit gain. 
(b)  Sponsorship - Any payment or other financial benefit in respect of expenses in 

carrying out duties as a member, or of election; including from a trade union.  
(c)  Contracts - Any current contract for goods, services or works, between the 

Councillors or their partner (or a body in which one has a beneficial interest) and the 
council. 

(d)  Land - Any beneficial interest in land which is within the council’s area. 
(e) Licences- Any licence to occupy land in the council’s area for a month or longer. 
(f)  Corporate tenancies - Any tenancy between the council and a body in which the 

Councillor or their partner have a beneficial interest. 
(g)  Securities - Any beneficial interest in securities of a body which has a place of 

business or land in the council’s area, if the total nominal value of the securities 
exceeds £25,000 or one hundredth of the total issued share capital of that body or of 
any one class of its issued share capital. 

 

**Personal Interests: 
The business relates to or affects: 
(a) Anybody of which you are a member or in a position of general control or management, 
and: 

 To which you are appointed by the council; 

 which exercises functions of a public nature; 

 which is directed is to charitable purposes; 

 whose principal purposes include the influence of public opinion or policy (including a 
political party of trade union). 

(b) The interests a of a person from whom you have received gifts or hospitality of at least 
£50 as a member in the municipal year;  

or 
A decision in relation to that business might reasonably be regarded as affecting the well-
being or financial position of: 

 You yourself; 

 a member of your family or your friend or any person with whom you have a close 
association or any person or body who is the subject of a registrable personal 
interest.  

 



 

 

 

Agenda 
 
Introductions, if appropriate. 
 
 
 

ITEM  WARD PAGE 
 

1. Apologies for Absence and Clarification of Alternate 
Members  

  

2. Declarations of interests    

 Members are invited to declare at this stage of the meeting, 
the nature and existence of any relevant disclosable 
pecuniary, personal or prejudicial interests in the items on 
this agenda and to specify the item(s) to which they relate. 

  

3. Minutes of the previous meeting   1 - 8 

 To approve the minutes of the previous meeting held on 
Tuesday 13 September 2022 as a correct record. 

  

 
APPLICATIONS FOR DECISION 

4. 22/2225 - Fairgate House, 390-400 and 402-408 (Even), 
High Road Wembley, HA9  

Wembley Hill 13 - 56 

5. 22/1386 - Minterne Road Garages, Minterne Road,Harrow  Kenton 57 - 76 

6. 22/1282- 7 &7A Sidmouth Road, London, NW2 5HH  Brondesbury 
Park 

77 - 96 

7. Any Other Urgent Business    

 Notice of items to be raised under this heading must be 
given in writing to the Head of Executive and Member 
Services or her representative before the meeting in 
accordance with Standing Order 60. 

  

 
Date of the next meeting:  Wednesday 14 December 2022 
 
 

Please remember to set your mobile phone to silent during 
the meeting. The meeting room is accessible by lift and 
limited seats will be available for members of the public. 
Alternatively it will be possible to follow proceedings via the 
live webcast here 
 

https://brent.public-i.tv/core/portal/home


This page is intentionally left blank



 

 
 

i  

LONDON BOROUGH OF BRENT 
 

MINUTES OF THE PLANNING COMMITTEE 
Held in the Conference Hall, Brent Civic Centre on Tuesday 13 September 

2022 at 6.00 pm 
 

PRESENT: Councillor Kelcher (Chair), Councillor S Butt (Vice Chair) and Councillors 
Ahmed, Akram, Begum, Collymore, Dixon, and Maurice. 
 
1. Apologies for absence and clarification of alternative members  

 
Apologies for absence were received from Councillor Mahmood and Councillor 
Rajan Seelan who were substituted by Councillor Ahmed and Councillor 
Collymore. 
 

2. Declarations of interests 
 
None. 
 

3. Minutes of the previous meeting 
 
RESOLVED that the minutes of the previous meeting held on Wednesday 17 
August 2022 be approved as an accurate record of the meeting. 
 

4. 21/3941 – Part of Westend Saab, 2A Bridgewater Road and Boyriven Textile, 
Bridgewater Road, Wembley, HA0 1AJ 
 
PROPOSAL 
 
Demolition of the existing buildings and structures, the erection of a ‘co-location’ 
scheme ranging in height from 2 to 19 storeys, incorporating industrial floorspace 
with residential accommodation (Use Class C3), together with associated 
landscaping, access arrangements, car and cycle parking, servicing and refuse 
and recycling facilities 
 
RECOMMENDATION~: 
 

That the Committee resolve to GRANT planning permission subject to:  
 

(1) The application’s referral to the Mayor of London (stage 2 referral) and 
the prior completion of a legal agreement to secure the planning 
obligations as detailed in the report. 
 

(2) That the Head of Planning is delegated authority to negotiate the legal 
agreement as detailed in the report. 

 
(3) That the Head of Planning is delegated authority to issue the planning 

permission and impose conditions and informatives as detailed in the 
report. 

Page 1

Agenda Item 3



PLANNING COMMITTEE 
13 September 2022 

 

 

  
(4) That the Head of Planning is delegated to make changes to the wording 

of the committee’s decision (such as to delete, vary or add conditions, 
informatives, planning obligations or reasons for the decision) prior to the 
decision being actioned, provided that the Head of Planning is satisfied 
that any such changes could not reasonably be regarded as deviating 
from the overall principle of the decision reached by the committee nor 
that such change(s) could reasonably have led to a different decision 
having been reached by the committee. 

 
(5) That, if by the “expiry date” of this application (subject to any 

amendments/extensions to the expiry date agreed by both parties) the 
legal agreement has not been completed, the Head of Planning is 
delegated authority to refuse planning permission. 

 
(6) That the Committee confirms that adequate provision has been made, by 

the imposition of conditions and obligations, for the preservation or 
planting of trees as required by Section 197 of the Town and Country 
Planning Act 1990. 

 
 

June Taylor, Principal Planning Officer, North Area, Development Planning 
Team introduced the report and set out the key issues. In introducing the 
report members were advised that a similar application on this site had 
previously been approved in June 2020, however this application had come 
to Planning Committee as it represented an amended version of the 
approved proposal. The amendments listed in the report included changes to 
the bulk, scale and massing, as well as increased industrial floorspace and 
number of residential units. The revised application sought permission for the 
demolition of the existing buildings and structures on site, and the 
construction of a building ranging in height from 2 to 19 storeys, incorporating 
173 new homes, all of which would be affordable housing (58 x 1bed, 85x 
2bed and 30x 3bed), together with 2,228sqm of light industrial floor space 
(B1(b) and B1(c)) with associated access, parking, cycle storage and bin 
storage, and residential amenity space. The application site currently 
comprised of a single storey car showroom situated to the north east side of 
Bridgewater Road, opposite the intersection with Manor Farm Road, a 
basement car park to the rear of the showroom which was formerly the 
Boyriven Textiles building and part of a single storey workshop building to the 
rear of an adjacent hand car wash. The site was situated within a Locally 
Significant Industrial Site (LSIS) which was designated within Brent’s Local 
Plan for “intensification and some co-location” that allowed for both industrial 
capacity and new homes. It was also within the boundaries of the Alperton 
Growth Area as defined in the Local Plan. 
 
The Committee’s attention was drawn to the supplementary agenda that 
provided additional information regarding the air quality status of the proposal 
and accompanying assessments. In order to ensure an acceptable standard 
of air quality for residents was achieved within the development, it was 
proposed that mitigation measures would be secured by an additional 
condition –  

Page 2



PLANNING COMMITTEE 
13 September 2022 

 

 

 
Condition 29: Prior to first occupation or use of the development, further 
details of air quality mitigation measures required to ensure acceptable air 
quality levels in the residents’ lounge, shall be submitted to and approved in 
writing by the local planning authority. 
 
 Additionally the supplementary report included some minor amendments to 
plan numbers. 
 

As no Committee questions were raised at this point, the Chair invited Justin 
Kenworthy, Director of Planning at Barton Willmore, now Stantec (agent) to 
address the Committee (online) in relation to the application, drawing the 
Committee’s attention to the following key points: 
 

 The revised proposal remained in line with the previously consented scheme 
to construct a high quality mixed - use development of up to 19 storeys that 
co-located new industrial floorspace with residential accommodation. The 
revised scheme also included a number of significant positive enhancements. 

 The revised scheme offered 100% affordable housing. The tenure was 
comprised of 54 London Affordable Rent units and 119 shared ownership 
units. 

 Increased industrial floorspace from 1,878sqm to 2,288sqm (and associated 

job opportunities);  

 An increase in amenity space and play areas that had been reconfigured to 

minimise over-shadowing;  

 Increased tree planting and greening, achieving a higher Urban Greening 

Factor 0.4;  

 A greater number of 3-bed affordable rented units;  

 An improved pedestrian environment, with more visible residential entrances;  

 A more sustainable form of development which complied with up-to-date Fire 

Regulations 

 An increased in s106 contributions.  

 The development would see the creation of 120 -150 new construction jobs 

 Significant contributions would be made to support the delivery of additional 

infrastructure improvements, including £50K towards improvements to One 

Tree Hill, an estimated £194k towards Brent Works for job brokerage services, 

£80,000 towards implementation of Controlled Parking Zone in the vicinity,  

 £5k towards the planting and maintenance of street trees along Bridgewater 

Road (note this would only be required if the development results in the 

existing street trees at the front of the site being removed).  

 £35k towards public transport services improvements and step free access to 

Alperton Station. 

 The Committee were informed that the high quality development would be 

managed by Peabody in the long term and would provide much needed 

affordable housing to the borough. 

 
 

Page 3



PLANNING COMMITTEE 
13 September 2022 

 

 

Committee members raised queries regarding the development’s lounge feature 
and proposed financial contributions. Mr Kenworthy clarified the following points in 
response to the queries raised: 
 

 The concept of the lounge was introduced to provide a shared space for all 
residents regardless of tenure to utilise as a place to socialise and/or co –
work in. 

 In response to a Committee query regarding the apparent shortfall in the 
financial contribution that TFL had requested from the developers to 
support step free access at Alperton Station, it was clarified that TFL had 
stated in their initial Stage 1 response that they sought a contribution from 
the developers  of £218,845, however since then transport consultants have 
had further discussions with TFL who have agreed that they are happy with 
the reduced contribution of £35,000 as the finances needed to support 
enhancements to Alperton Station would be cumulatively collected from 
other developments in the local area, including significant sums from private 
led schemes. 
 

As no further questions were raised, Councillor Anton Georgiou in his capacity as 
local ward councillor, was then invited to address the Committee (in person). In 
addressing the Committee Councillor Georgiou highlighted the following key points 
for consideration: 
 

  Local residents had shared their frustrations with regard to the number of 
high density developments approved in the Alperton area, some residents 
had felt so strongly about this that they had shared they were considering 
moving out of the area.  

 The urgent need for additional housing was acknowledged, with particular 
need to recognise the most vulnerable residents awaiting appropriate 
housing, however it was brought to the Committee’s attention that although 
the report stated the scheme offered 100% affordable housing, it was felt 
that in reality the properties would not be affordable for the majority of 
families seeking housing on Brent’s housing waiting list. 

 The Committee heard that there were complicated factors regarding Shared 
Ownership that included issues with the staircasing model of gradually 
increasing ownership of the property and the lack of long term guarantee of 
affordability due to rising rents and increased service charges as 
highlighted by the Joseph Rowntree Foundation. 

 The development did not meet Brent’s target of new developments 
providing 25% family sized units. 

 Despite large amount of CIL funding generated from other large 
developments in Alperton, residents had not seen an effective impact from 
the delivery of CIL projects. 

 Concern was shared regarding the additional pressures that the 
development would put on the Piccadilly Line services at Alperton Station, 
it was noted that local residents were already disadvantaged with the 
infrequent service on this branch of the Piccadilly Line. 

 The lack of parking on the proposed development would increase pressure 
on existing local residents who were already challenged with locating 
parking spaces. 

Page 4



PLANNING COMMITTEE 
13 September 2022 

 

 

 On the basis of the concerns highlighted, Councillor Georgiou urged the 
Committee to reject the application. 
 

 
As members had no further questions for Councillor Georgiou, the Chair invited 
members to ask officers any questions or points of clarification they may have in 
relation to the application. The Committee raised queries in relation to shortfalls in 
industrial floorspace and family sized homes, overlooking concerns for potential 
future developments, affordable housing and housing mix, daylight/sunlight, 
transport considerations and flood risk. In response to the issues raised by the 
Committee the following responses were provided: 
 

 The Committee were advised that the proposed provision of 2,228sqm 
of light industrial floorspace would exceed the amount from the 
previously consented scheme, although it was recognised it would fall 
marginally below the London Plan Policy requirements by a minor 
47sqm. It was noted that it was harder to achieve maximum industrial 
floorspace in mixed industrial and residential schemes due to 
accommodating the additional residential requirements. Officers felt that 
notwithstanding the marginal shortfall, the scheme was considered to 
provide significant contributions to the local economy and employment 
opportunities, that in addition to the 100% affordable housing provided 
outweighed the marginal shortfall in industrial floorspace.  

 In response to a Committee query as to why the site had been chosen 
for the proposed scheme, the Committee were provided with the context 
that Alperton had been identified as a Growth Area and Site Allocation 
as part of Local Plan Policy BSWGA1. Additionally, Policy BP7 sought 
for a minimum of 6,800 additional homes to be provided within the 
Alperton Growth Area through residential led mixed use developments.  

 The site also formed part of the Alperton Housing Zone, as designated 
by the Mayor of London in November 2015 as having the capacity to 
deliver substantial new housing, therefore additional GLA funding had 
been received to support housing growth in the area. 

 In relation to a Committee query regarding why the 9m separation 
distance had not been observed with regard to the 5m separation 
distance from the site to the southeastern boundary. The Committee 
heard that the reduced separation distance of 5m was between the site 
and a UKPN substation. The substation remained an active operational 
asset in the electricity network therefore on that basis and the fact it was 
only 20m in width it was highly unlikely to be demolished and 
redeveloped as residential development in the future, therefore there 
would be no future issues regarding overlooking and privacy, as a result 
it was felt that the 5m separation gap in this context was acceptable. 

 Officers acknowledged the shortfall in family sized homes as part of the 
proposed development, falling just short of the requirement to provide 1 
in 4 of the homes as family sized. To meet the requirement of Policy 
BH6, 43 family sized homes would be required, the scheme fell 
marginally short by providing 30 family sized homes. It was noted that 
the revised scheme provided an uplift on 9 family sized homes from the 
previously approved scheme and on balance it was felt that the planning 

Page 5



PLANNING COMMITTEE 
13 September 2022 

 

 

benefits of the scheme outweighed the harm of falling marginally short 
of the requirements of Policy BH6. 

 In response to a Committee concern that the height of the proposed 
development would interfere with the TV and Radio reception to 
neighbouring properties, the Committee were advised that a survey of 
predicted impacts from the development on neighbouring properties had 
been submitted and demonstrated that terrestrial signals within 150m to 
the northwest of the site could be affected, however it was noted that 
there were measures that could be taken to mitigate this. Satellite 
receivers would not be affected and it was deemed unlikely that FM 
radio would be affected. A post development survey and any mitigation 
measures required would be secured through the s106 agreement. 

 Officers provided further clarity regarding concerns regarding the impact 
of the development on Alperton Station. The Committee were advised 
that TFL had already identified improvements to be made on the 
Piccadilly Line in their plan of works that included increased capacity of 
trains and improved signalling to support a higher frequency of trains. It 
was recognised that Alperton was a busy station, however the impact of 
the development forecast that the station would only see an increase of 
1.9 passengers as a result of the development.  

 Officers re-iterated that the funding TFL had asked for was to support 
step free access at the station, there were no concerns raised from TFL 
that the development would significantly impact the pressures on the 
Piccadilly Line service at Alperton Station. It was also confirmed that 
despite the reduced developer contribution towards step free access at 
Alperton Station, the figure of a contribution of £217,000 for bus capacity 
enhancements remained.  

 Officers confirmed that the Daylight & Sunlight report submitted 
concluded that 53% of rooms met or exceeded the minimum 
recommended levels for Average Daylight Factor (ADF) 82% would 
exceed the BRE recommendations for No Sky Line and 75% of Living 
Rooms would meet or exceed targets for sunlight. The Committee 
recognised that the revised scheme fell marginally short of the 
measures against the previously consented scheme. Officers felt that 
this was balanced out by the planning benefits associated with the uplift 
in the number of affordable homes provided, particularly as most of the 
rooms that fell short of the ADF would only marginally fail. 

 The Committee noted the challenges in providing the required levels of 
Daylight & Sunlight in every room, given the density of the proposed 
development. 

 Officers confirmed that the development would be mainly car free with 
the exception of 10 disabled parking spaces, 9 for residential use and 1 
allocated for commercial use. All spaces had passive provision to 
enable Electric Charging points. 

 The Committee were advised that to support the potential issues of 
overspill parking a financial contribution of £86,000 from the developer 
would support the provision of a CPZ with parking permits to manage 
the limited off street parking available to future residents, secured by a 
s106 agreement.  Additionally the applicant had confirmed they would 
fund incoming residents access to a Car Club for 3 years, also secured 
by s106 agreement.  

Page 6



PLANNING COMMITTEE 
13 September 2022 

 

 

 Officers confirmed that the proposed scheme offered a betterment to the 
existing flood risk and drainage of the site, through the proposed use of 
measures to mitigate flood risk including the use of blue roofs to collect 
surface water from the roofs and podium level, this would provide at 
least 135m3 of attenuation that would be discharged at a steady rate. 
Additionally water butts and the use of permeable paving and soft 
landscaping would support the flow and volume of water run off.  

 The Committee were advised that the scheme would see a net gain in 
trees and biodiversity with the additional planting of native shrubs and 
the planting of 9 replacement trees in addition to the retention of the two 
street trees along the road frontage.  
 
 

 
 
As there were no further issues raised and having established that all members 
had followed the discussions the Chair asked members to vote on the 
recommendations. 
 
 
DECISION: Granted planning permission subject to stage 2 referral to the GLA, 
the conditions and informatives as set out in the committee report and 
supplementary report, together with completion of the Section 106 Agreement .  
 
(Voting on the recommendation was as follows: For 6 & Against 1 ) 
 
 
 

5. Any Other Urgent Business 
 
None. 
 
The meeting closed at 7:15pm. 
 
COUNCILLOR KELCHER 
Chair 

Page 7



This page is intentionally left blank



APPLICATIONS FOR DECISION 
Introduction 

1. In this part of the agenda are reports on planning applications for 
determination by the committee.  

2. Although the reports are set out in a particular order on the agenda, the Chair 
may reorder the agenda on the night. Therefore, if you wish to be present for 
a particular application, you need to be at the meeting from the beginning. 

3. The following information and advice only applies to reports in this part of the 
agenda. 

Material planning considerations 

4. The Committee is required to consider planning applications against the 
development plan and other material planning considerations.  The 
development plan policies and material planning considerations that are 
relevant to the application are discussed within the report for the specific 
application 

5. Decisions must be taken in accordance with section 70(2) of the Town and 
Country Planning Act 1990 and section 38(6) of the Planning and Compulsory 
Purchase Act 2004. Section 70(2) of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 
requires the Committee to have regard to the provisions of the Development 
Plan, so far as material to the application; any local finance considerations, so 
far as material to the application; and any other material considerations. 
Section 38(6) of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 requires 
the Committee to make its determination in accordance with the Development 
Plan unless material planning considerations support a different decision 
being taken. 

6. Under Section 66 of the Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) 
Act 1990, in considering whether to grant planning permission for 
development which affects listed buildings or their settings, the local planning 
authority must have special regard to the desirability of preserving the building 
or its setting or any features of architectural or historic interest it possesses. 

7. Under Section 72 of the Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) 
Act 1990, in considering whether to grant planning permission for 
development which affects a conservation area, the local planning authority 
must pay special attention to the desirability of preserving or enhancing the 
character or appearance of the conservation area. 

8. Under Section 197 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990, in 
considering whether to grant planning permission for any development, the 
local planning authority must ensure, whenever it is appropriate, that 
adequate provision is made, by the imposition of conditions, for the 
preservation or planting of trees. 

9. In accordance with Article 35 of the Development Management Procedure 
Order 2015, Members are invited to agree the recommendations set out in the 
reports, which have been made on the basis of the analysis of the scheme set 
out in each report. This analysis has been undertaken on the balance of the 
policies and any other material considerations set out in the individual reports. 

Page 9

Agenda Annex



10. Members are reminded that other areas of legislation cover many aspects of 
the development process and therefore do not need to be considered as part 
of determining a planning application. The most common examples are: 

 Building Regulations deal with structural integrity of buildings, the 
physical performance of buildings in terms of their consumption of energy, 
means of escape in case of fire, access to buildings by the Fire Brigade to 
fight fires etc. 

 Works within the highway are controlled by Highways Legislation. 

 Environmental Health covers a range of issues including public 
nuisance, food safety, licensing, pollution control etc. 

 Works on or close to the boundary are covered by the Party Wall Act. 

 Covenants and private rights over land are enforced separately from 
planning and should not be taken into account. 

Provision of infrastructure 

11. The Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL) is a charge levied on floor space 

arising from development in order to fund infrastructure that is needed to 

support development in an area.  Brent CIL was formally introduced from 1 

July 2013. 

 

12. The Council has an ambitious programme of capital expenditure, and CIL will 

be used to fund, in part or full, some of these items, which are linked to the 

Infrastructure Delivery Plan (IDP). 

 

13. Currently the types of infrastructure/specific infrastructure projects which CIL 

funds can be found in the Regulation 123 List. 

 

14. The Regulation 123 list sets out that the London Borough of Brent intends to 

fund either in whole or in part the provision, improvement, replacement, 

operation or maintenance of new and existing: 

 public realm infrastructure, including town centre improvement projects 
and street trees;  

 roads and other transport facilities;  

 schools and other educational facilities;  

 parks, open space, and sporting and recreational facilities;  

 community & cultural infrastructure;  

 medical facilities;  

 renewable energy and sustainability infrastructure; and  

 flood defences,  
except unless the need for specific infrastructure contributions is identified in 

the S106 Planning Obligations Supplementary Planning Document or where 

section 106 arrangements will continue to apply if the infrastructure is required 

to make the development acceptable in planning terms. 

 

15. We are also a collecting authority for the Mayor of London's CIL ‘Mayoral CIL’ 

which was introduced from 1 April 2012 to help finance Crossrail, the major 

Page 10



new rail link that will connect central London to Reading and Heathrow in the 

West and Shenfield and Abbey Wood in the East. 

 

16. In February 2019 the Mayor adopted a new charging schedule (MCIL2).  

MCIL2 came into effect on 1 April 2019 and superseded MCIL1.  MCIL2 will 

be used to fund Crossrail 1 (the Elizabeth Line) and Crossrail 2. 

 

17. For more information: 

Brent CIL: https://www.brent.gov.uk/services-for-residents/planning-and-

building-control/planning-policy/community-infrastructure-levy-cil/ 

Mayoral CIL: https://www.london.gov.uk/what-we-do/planning/implementing-

london-plan/mayoral-community-infrastructure-levy 

 

18. Other forms of necessary infrastructure (as defined in the CIL Regulations) 
and any mitigation of the development that is necessary will be secured 
through a section 106 agreement. Where these are necessary, it will be 
explained and specified in the agenda reports 
 

Further information 

19. Members are informed that any relevant material received since the 
publication of this part of the agenda, concerning items on it, will be reported 
to the Committee in the Supplementary Report. 

Public speaking 

20. The Council’s Constitution allows for public speaking on these items in 
accordance with the Constitution and the Chair’s discretion. 

Recommendation 

21. The Committee to take any decisions recommended in the attached report(s). 

Page 11



This page is intentionally left blank



Document Imaged DocRepF
Ref: 22/2225 Page 1 of 43

COMMITTEE REPORT
Planning Committee on 16 November, 2022
Item No 04
Case Number 22/2225

SITE INFORMATION

RECEIVED 21 June, 2022

WARD Wembley Hill

PLANNING AREA Brent Connects Wembley

LOCATION Fairgate House, 390-400 and 402-408 (Even), High Road, Wembley, HA9

PROPOSAL Demolition of existing buildings and construction of an up to part 13 and part 17
storeys (including ground level) building comprising purposebuilt student bed
spaces (Use Class Sui Generis) together with ancillary communal facilities,
flexible non-residential floor space (Use Class E), cycle parking, mechanical plant,
landscaping together with other associated works.

PLAN NO’S See Condition 2.

LINK TO DOCUMENTS
ASSOCIATED WITH
THIS PLANNING
APPLICATION

When viewing this on an Electronic Device

Please click on the link below to view ALL document associated to case
<https://pa.brent.gov.uk/online-applications/applicationDetails.do?activeTab=documents&keyVal=DCAPR_160808>

When viewing this as an Hard Copy   

Please use the following steps

1. Please go to pa.brent.gov.uk
2. Select Planning and conduct a search tying "22/2225"  (i.e. Case

Reference) into the search Box
3. Click on "View Documents" tab

Page 13

Agenda Item 4



RECOMMENDATIONS
That the Committee resolve to GRANT planning permission subject to the application’s referral to the Mayor
of London (stage 2 referral) and the prior completion of a legal agreement to secure the following planning
obligations:

1. Payment of the Council’s legal and other professional costs in (a) preparing and completing the
agreement and (b) monitoring and enforcing its performance

2. Notification of material start 28 days prior to commencement.

3. Hard and soft landscaping works on site to north (ref 22/2956) to be completed prior to first
occupation or use of the development, together with provision of a permissive public footpath as part
of these works and the area of land required for the fire tender vehicle access that is within the
ownership of the applicant to be kept clear of any obstruction at all times.

4. Nominations agreement for student accommodation including affordable student accommodation –
Agreement with one or more Higher Education Providers to secure nomination rights for at least 51%
of the student bedrooms (178 bedrooms), including 35% (122 bedrooms) to be provided as
affordable student accommodation (as defined within the London Plan), comprising a mix of units of
different types and proportion of wheelchair accessible units to reflect the overall mix.  Communal
facilities including refuse storage, cycle storage, internal and external communal areas to be
available equally to all students without additional charges.  Early stage viability review if substantial
implementation does not occur within two years.

5. Training and employment of Brent residents - Prior to a material start:

a. to inform Brent Works in writing of the projected number of construction jobs and training
opportunities and provide a copy of the Schedule of Works;

b. to prepare and submit for the Council’s approval an Employment Training Plan for the
provision of training, skills and employment initiatives for residents of the Borough relating to
the construction phase and operational phase of the Development

c. financial contribution (estimated to be £39,875 for construction fee and £4042.50 for
operational fee)   to Brent Works for job brokerage services.

6. Energy assessment
d. Detailed design stage energy assessment.  Initial carbon offset payment to be paid prior to

material start (currently estimated to be £169,361.25) if zero-carbon target not achieved on
site.

e. Post-construction energy assessment.  Final carbon offset payment upon completion of
development if zero-carbon target not achieved on site.

f. In the event that a material start is not made by 15 June 2023, the energy assessments
submitted under a. and b. above shall comply with Building Regulations Part L 2021.

g. ‘Be seen’ energy performance monitoring and reporting

7. Travel Plan – Submission and implementation of Travel Plan for student accommodation and
commercial uses, with a target of  100% of trips to be made by foot, cycle or public transport ,
including monitoring and review arrangements under the i-TRACE or TRICS survey methodology,

8.  Submission, approval and implementation of a waste management plan including commitment to
fund and arrange independent collections from the site. Collections for the private units must be
entirely privately funded and arranged unless an alternative plan showing a revised layout is
submitted and agreed with the LPA which meets Veolia's requirements in respect of carrying
distances.

8. Financial contribution to Brent Council for street tree planting in the vicinity of the site (£7,000)

9. Surveys of television and radio reception in surrounding area, and any mitigation works agreed

10. Financial contribution to Transport for London: for improvements to public transport services
(£39,000).

Page 14



That the Head of Planning is delegated authority to negotiate the legal agreement indicated above.

That the Head of Planning is delegated authority to issue the planning permission and impose conditions and
informatives to secure the following matters:

Conditions

Compliance

1. Three year rule
2. Approved drawings and documents
3. Restrict occupation to students
4. Quantum and use of commercial floorspace
5. Provide bins, bikes, internal & external communal student spaces
6. Non Road Mobile Machinery
7. Residential parking permit restrictions.
8. Tenure blind access to internal and external amenity spaces
9. Flank wall windows
10. Compliance with Arboricultural Method Statement & Tree Protection Plan
11. Compliance with biodiversity recommendations
12. Compliance with drainage strategy

Pre-commencement

13. Construction Method Statement
14. Construction Logistics Plan

During construction

15. District heat network connection
16. Ducting space
17. Materials samples
18. Landscaping scheme

Pre-occupation

19. Details of cycle storage for commercial units
20. Implementation of noise mitigation measures
21. Plant noise assessment
22. Final Student Management Plan
23. Delivery and servicing plan
24. Thames Water surface water network upgrades
25. Commercial kitchens extract flue / ventilation
26. Whole life cycle carbon reporting
27. Circular economy reporting
28. BREEAM certification

Informatives as listed in the Committee Report.

That the Head of Planning is delegated authority to make changes to the wording of the committee’s decision
(such as to delete, vary or add conditions, informatives, planning obligations or reasons for the decision) prior
to the decision being actioned, provided that the Head of Planning is satisfied that any such changes could
not reasonably be regarded as deviating from the overall principle of the decision reached by the committee
nor that such change(s) could reasonably have led to a different decision having been reached by the
committee.

That, if by the “expiry date” of this application (subject to any amendments/extensions to the expiry date
agreed by both parties) the legal agreement has not been completed, the Head of Planning is delegated
authority to refuse planning permission.

That the Committee confirms that adequate provision has been made, by the imposition of conditions, for the
preservation or planting of trees as required by Section 197 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990.

Page 15



SITE MAP
Planning Committee Map
Site address: Fairgate House, 390-400 and 402-408 (Even), High Road,
Wembley, HA9

© Crown copyright and database rights 2011 Ordnance Survey 100025260

This map is indicative only.

Page 16



PROPOSAL IN DETAIL
The proposal is to demolish the existing buildings and redevelop the site as a single building, partly 13-storey,
16-storey and 17-storey.  The building would provide purpose-built student accommodation with commercial
floorspace (Use Class E) comprising three commercial units totalling 232sqm in area at ground floor level.  A
total of 349 student bedrooms is proposed (as a mixture of 200 cluster rooms, 32 twodios, 82 studios and 35
premium studios) 48 standard rooms and 32 premium rooms), together with a range of internal and external
communal spaces. 

EXISTING
The existing site consists of Fairgate House, a vacant seven-storey office building at 390-400 High Road, and
Pitsman House, a vacant three-storey office building at 402-406 High Road, both with some retail floorspace
at ground floor level.  The site is on the north side of the High Road in Wembley Town Centre and is part of a
secondary shopping frontage.  The site adjoins an area of hardstanding and mixed scrub to the north, and
further to the north are railway embankment land and the Chiltern Line railway tracks.

The site is not in a conservation area and does not contain any listed buildings.

AMENDMENTS SINCE SUBMISSION
Amended and additional plans and documents were received during the course of the application, as follows:

on 2 September 2022:
Safeguarding & Futureproofing the Wembley Link (July 2022);
Revised Fire Statement in response to GLA comments;
Amended Circular Economy Statement
Further information to GLA on whole lifecycle carbon and PV roof panels.

on 29 September 2022:
Future development illustrative masterplan
Revised Urban Greening Factor Plan
Revised Landscaping and Public Realm Strategy Report
Revised Ground Floor Landscapiing Plan omitting tree planting too close to rear of buiding.
Revised Biodiversity Net Gain Assessment

on 4 October 2022:
updated Cycle Parking Strategy

to secure minor changes to the ground floor landscaping proposals and first floor cycle storage.  These did
not materially alter the nature of the scheme, and did not require a further preiod of consultation.

SUMMARY OF KEY ISSUES
The key planning issues for Members to consider are set out below.  Two letters of objection were received
regarding some of these matters.  Members will have to balance all of the planning issues and objectives
when making a decision on the application, against policy and other material considerations.

Neighbour objections: Two neighbour objections were received.  These relate to the principle of high
density development and student accommodation in Wembley, pressures on infrastructure and service
provision, building heights and impacts on local and longer-distance views, overlooking of neighbouring
gardens, impact on local parking and traffic, noise and pollution, and objection to installation of telephone
masts on the roofs of buildings.

Principle of development: The proposal for a mixed use redevelopment of the site, comprising ground floor
flexible commercial floorspace and purpose-built student accommodation would, together with the delivery of
associated landscaping and a permissive public footpath on land to the rear under application reference
22/2956, would respond well to the aims of the BSWSA8 site allocation.  The proposal has demonstrated that
it reprovides the maximum viable amount of commercial floorspace, to mitigate the loss of existing office
floorspace on the site.  The proposal would contribute to the borough’s housing targets and need for
commercial floorspace, and would provide an active ground floor frontage to contribute to the viability and

Page 17



vitality of Wembley Town Centre.  The proposal is acceptable in principle.

Affordability and mix of student accommodation: The majority of the student accommodation (at least
51%, or 178 rooms) would be secured under a nominations agreement with one or more higher education
providers, and 122 of these (35% of the total) would be affordable accommodation.  The proposal includes
349 student bedspaces, which would be of four types.  The nominations agreement would secure
proportionate numbers of each type, including for affordable accommodation.

Design and appearance: The three parts of the building would be 13, 16 and 17 storeys tall, and would
contribute to a varied and undulating skyline emerging in the area.  The site is part of a Tall Building Zone
designated in Brent’s Local Plan, and the building heights are considered appropriate in this location.  No
harm would be caused to any heritage assets or protected views, and the massing and articulation of the
building would enable it to be read as three separate parts to break up the visual impact of the overall bulk of
the building.  Active frontages and soft landscaping would create a successful relationship with the street, and
the detailed design is considered to be of high quality.

Fire safety: The proposal has been reviewed by the Health & Safety Executive (HSE) under the Gateway
One process.  Emergency fire tender access to the rear of the building would be secured as part of the
landscaping works to the rear of the site (reference 22/2956).  On this basis, the HSE have confirmed they
have no objection on layout or land use matters.  Fire safety will also be considered at Building Regulations
stage. 

Quality of student accommodation: The student bedrooms have been designed with efficient layouts to
maximise available space, and would be comparable in size to other student accommodation schemes in the
area.  Whilst the bedrooms would be primarily north- or south-facing single aspect rooms, design solutions
have been employed to ensure all rooms would receive adequate daylight and would not be unduly at risk of
overheating.  Communal amenity space, including landscaped external spaces, would be provided in a range
of types and scales across the building.

Relationship with neighbouring properties: Impacts on daylight and sunlight to neighbouring properties
have been analysed and, while some hotel rooms and rooms in other emerging high density developments
would experience a noticeable impact, existing residential properties in the area would be largely unaffected.
With the additional landscaping secured to the rear (under reference 22/2956), adequate separation
distances would be provided to allow any future development to the rear to come forward. 

Sustainability and energy: The building is predicted to achieve a 62.3% reduction in carbon emissions
against the Building Regulations 2013 baseline, significantly above the 35% policy target, and a BREEAM
Excellent rating.  A contribution to Brent’s carbon-offsetting fund would be secured through the s106
agreement, to offset residual emissions. 

Impacts on microclimate and reception of TV and radio services: The proposal would result in wind
conditions within and around the site that would be suitable for the intended use or consistent with baseline
conditions, with some localised improvements.  A survey of predicted impacts on TV and radio reception to
neighbouring properties would be secured through the s106 agreement.

Environmental health considerations: Air quality, noise and contaminated land impacts have been
assessed and Brent’s environmental health officers consider these to be acceptable subject to conditions.  A
construction method statement would be secured by condition.

Flood risk and drainage: .The site is in a Flood Zone 1 for surface water and fluvial flooding.  The proposal
would provide a 95% betterment on the existing drainage rates for the site for a 1 in 100 year event via grey
attenuation and blue roofs.

Trees, biodiversity and urban greening: Nine low quality trees within the applicant’s ownership would be
removed to facilitate the development.  Ten new trees are proposed as part of the landscaping scheme, and
additional tree planting would be secured on the land to the rear under reference 22/2956, together with a
financial contribution of £7,000 towards street tree planting in the vicinity of the site.  The existing site has low
ecological potential and the proposal would result in a 251% increase in biodiversity on site.  The Urban
Greening Factor of 0.36 is marginally below the policy target but the proposal has optimised the scope for
greening within the site and this would be supplemented by the additional landscaping on the site to the rear.

Transport considerations: The site has excellent access to public transport (PTAL Rating 6a) and the

Page 18



development would be car-free, with adequate provision made for cycle parking and sustainable transport
further encouraged through the submission and monitoring of a Travel Plan secured under the s106
agreement.  Deliveries and servicing would be via an existing on-street loading bay, and further details of how
these would be managed so as to avoid any adverse impacts on traffic flow on Wembley High Road would be
secured by condition.

MONITORING
The table(s) below indicate the existing and proposed uses at the site and their respective floorspace and a
breakdown of any dwellings proposed at the site.

Floorspace Breakdown

Primary Use Existing Retained Lost New Net Gain
(sqm)

General business use 3159.99 232.4 -2927.59
Sui generis 0 11489.6 11489.6

Monitoring Residential Breakdown

Description 1Bed 2Bed 3Bed 4Bed 5Bed 6Bed 7Bed 8Bed Unk Total

RELEVANT SITE HISTORY
1.  Fairgate House, 390-400 High Road, Wembley, HA9 6AS

08/1195
Full Planning Permission
Granted 14/08/2008
Change of use of part of ground floor from office (Use Class A2) to retail (Use Class A1) as amended by
plans received 25/07/08

2.  Former Ground Floor West, Fairgate House, 390-400 High Road, Wembley

17/1546
Full Planning Permission
Granted 27/11/2017
Change of use of the existing retail unit (Use class A1) into a mixed used comprising retail (Use class A1)
and restaurant (Use class A3) to also include the installation of an external duct to the rear elevation.

04/1019
Full Planning Permission
Granted 12/07/2004
Change of use of part of the ground floor from offices to employment agency (Use Class A2) and
replacement of ground-floor front window with entrance doors

01/2948
Full Planning Permission
Granted 11/02/2002
Change of use of part of ground floor from offices to retail use (Use Class A1) and alterations to front
elevation

92/1580
Full Planning Permission
Granted 01/11/1992
Change of use from B1 to Travel Agency A1, Installation of shop front

Page 19



CONSULTATIONS
2,046 neighbouring properties and Wembley Stadium Residents’ Advisory Committee were consulted by
letter on 24 June 2022.  A press advert was published on 30 June 2022 and site notices were posted in the
vicinity of the site on 28 June 2022.

Two objections were received and are summarised as follows:

Objection comment Officer response
New London-based development is happening
mainly in Brent while other boroughs have more
undeveloped land available.

Development is taking place across London, and
the need for the development has been established
through the development plan process. This issue is
further discussed under ‘Principle of development’.

The site should be used to provide a park as there
is a lack of green spaces in the area.

The site is allocated for redevelopment and the
suitability of the uses proposed is discussed under
‘Principle of development’.

Large populations living in a small area results in a
lack of community feel.

There is no evidence that this is the case.  The
scheme has been designed in accordance with the
site allocation which includes commercial
floorspace at ground floor level, to contribute
towards active frontages within this part of the town
centre. 

Additional pressure on hospitals, GP services,
schools and other infrastructure including sewerage
network.

Infrastructure requirements are identified through
the preparation of local plan documents and
through consultation with statutory consultees on
individual schemes.  New development also
provides funding towards infrastructure
improvements through the Community
Infrastructure Levy and s106 planning obligations.
A significant amount of infrastructure has been
delivered or secured within Wembley.

The same effort should be put into the regeneration
and redevelopment of Wembley High Road.

Brent’s Local Plan aims to secure further
redevelopments in Wembley as part of this and
other site allocations.

Object to height of development.  Chesterfield
House should not be used to justify other high rise
developments.  Height should be limited to five
storeys.

The site is located within a tall building zone. This
issue is discussed in further detail under ‘Design,
scale and appearance’.

Height of development will lead to overlooking into
neighbouring gardens.

This issue is discussed under ‘Relationship with
neighbouring properties’.

Cumulative impact of new high-rise developments
makes the area closed in, dark, with no outlook.
Impact on skyline along High Road.  Loss of view
onto central London landmarks.  Lack of landscape
views.

The proposal does not impact on any protected
views within Central London.  A townscape and
visual impact assessment has been submitted and
is discussed under ‘Relationship with neighbouring
properties’.

Too many student developments in Brent already. This issue is discussed under ‘Principle of
development: student accommodation’.

Impact on local on-street parking and traffic. This issue is discussed under ‘Transportation
considerations’.

Noise and building pollution. This issue is discussed under ‘Environmental health
considerations’.

Objection to phone masts being installed on new
developments.

The proposal does not include installation of
telephone masts on the buildings.

External and statutory consultees

Greater London Authority / Transport for London initial Stage 1 response:

Land use principles: The mixed-use redevelopment of the site could be acceptable, however the applicant
must first demonstrate that the re-provision of employment floorspace is the maximum possible given
concerns with the loss of office space resulting within the town centre. The requirement to enter into a

Page 20



nomination agreement and an occupancy restriction for students must be secured.

Affordable student accommodation: The scheme proposes 35% on-site affordable student accommodation,
which is supported in accordance Policy H15 of the London Plan. This must be confirmed and secured
through a S106 agreement, as should the rent levels and eligibility criteria. Further information is required in
relation to the distribution of the affordable student bedspaces proposed.

Urban design: The applicant should address the impacts of the tall building as required by Policy D9(C),
along with comments in relation to the development layout, student accommodation quality, the fire
statement, inclusive design and agent of change. Details relating to these matters should then be secured. 

Other issues on transport, sustainable development and environmental considerations require resolution prior
to the Mayor’s decision making stage.

Thames Water: Confirmation of foul water network upgrades required by condition.  No objection in relation
to surface water.

Secure by Design (Metropolitan Police): Comments are discussed in main body of report.

Health and Safety Executive: Subject to fire tender access to the rear of the building being secured under
reference 22/2956, the scheme does not result in any significant land use planning considerations, and can
be further assessed during the later regulatory considerations.

Internal Consultees

Local Lead Flood Authority: No objection

Environmental Health including Noise Control Team: No objection subject to conditions

Sustainability and Energy: No objection subject to conditions and s106 obligations

Pre-application engagement by applicants

The National Planning Policy Framework and Brent’s Statement of Community Involvement set out an
expectation that developers will undertake a proportionate level of engagement with the local community prior
to submitting a planning application.

In this case, the applicants have sought to consult local stakeholders including residents, community groups
and ward councillors.  A newsletter was sent to over 2,500 residents and businesses, inviting them to two
public exhibition events.  The events were held on 7 and 9 April in Ujima House (adjacent to the site).  The
events were also publicised in the Brent and Kilburn Times, and a dedicated community hub was launched at
390-406highroadwembley.co.uk, to enable interested parties to view the proposals and leave feedback
online.  Freepost and email addresses have been publicised to facilitate further feedback.  Individual
meetings were held with a number of key stakeholders.  Seven written responses were received and these
generally demonstrated a broad level of support for the scheme.

These activities are considered to be appropriate to the scale of the development and consistent with the
advice set out in Brent’s Statement of Community Involvement.

POLICY CONSIDERATIONS
Section 38(6) of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 requires that the determination of this
application should be in accordance with the development plan unless material considerations indicate
otherwise.

The development plan, relevant to this proposal, is comprised of the:

London Plan 2021
Brent Local Plan 2019-2041

Key policies include:

Page 21



London Plan 2021

SD1: Opportunity Areas
SD5: Offices, other strategic functions and residential development in the CAZ
SD6: Town centres and high streets
SD8: Town Centre Networks
D1: London's form, character and capacity for growth
D3: Optimising site capacity through the design-led approach
D4: Delivering good design
D5: Inclusive design
D8: Public realm
D9: Tall buildings
D12: Fire safety
D13: Agent of Change
D14: Noise
H1: Increasing housing supply
H15: Purpose-built student accommodation
E1: Offices
E2: Providing suitable business space
E9: Retail, markets and hot food takeaways
E11: Skills and opportunities for all
HC1: Heritage, conservation and growth
G1: Green Infrastructure
G5: Urban greening
G6: Biodiversity and access to nature
G7: Trees and Woodland
SI1: Improving air quality
SI2: Minimising greenhouse gas emissions
SI3: Energy Infrastructure
SI4: Managing heat risk
SI6: Digital Connectivity Infrastructure
SI7: Reducing waste and supporting the circular economy
SI13: Sustainable drainage
T2: Healthy streets
T3: Transport capacity, connectivity and safeguarding
T4: Assessing and mitigating transport impacts
T5: Cycling
T6: Car parking
T6.5: Non-residential disabled persons parking
T7: Deliveries, servicing and construction

Brent Local Plan 2019-2041

DMP1: Development management general policy
BP7: South West
BSWSA8: Wembley High Road
BCGA1: Wembley Growth Area
BD1: Leading the way in good urban design
BD2: Tall buildings in Brent
BH1: Increasing housing supply in Brent
BH7: Accommodation with shared facilities or additional support
BE1: Economic growth and employment opportunities for all
BE3: Local Employment Sites and Work-Live
BHC1: Brent’s Heritage Assets
BHC2: National Stadium Wembley
BGI1: Green and blue infrastructure in Brent
BGI2: Trees and Woodlands
BSUI1: Creating a resilient and efficient Brent
BSUI2: Air quality
BSUI4: On-site water management and surface water attenuation
BT1: Sustainable Travel Choice
BT2: Parking and car free development

Page 22



BT3: Freight and servicing, provision and protection of freight facilities

The following are also relevant material considerations:

The National Planning Policy Framework 2021
Planning Practice Guidance

Brent guidance documents

SPD1 Brent Design Guide 2018
Planning Obligations Supplementary Planning Document – June 2022
Brent's Waste Planning Guide 2015

Greater London Authority guidance documents

Housing SPG
Affordable Housing and Viability SPG
Optimising Site Capacity: A Design-Led Approach draft LPG
Urban Greening Factor draft LPG
Sustainable Transport, Walking and Cycle draft LPG
Air Quality Positive draft LPG
Circular Economy Statements LPG
Whole-life Carbon Assessment LPG
‘Be Seen’ Energy Monitoring Guidance LPG
Fire Safety draft LPG

DETAILED CONSIDERATIONS
Principle of development

Policy background

1. London Plan Policy H1 sets out housing targets across London, with the target for Brent being 23,250
new homes over the ten-year plan period, and Policy SD1 designates Wembley as one of a number of
Opportunity Areas with development potential of strategic importance for London.  Brent’s Local Plan
Policy BH1 responds to this by proposing plan-led growth concentrated in Growth Areas and site
allocations, including a target of 15,000 new homes in the Wembley Growth Area.  Policy BCGA1 also
supports the delivery of high quality homes and economic regeneration in the Growth Area.

2. The site forms part of the BSWSA8 site allocation in the Wembley Growth Area, which is expected to
deliver active ground floor frontages with town centre uses, improved public realm and pedestrian
access, to contribute towards the viability and vitality of the town centre, in addition to contributing to
Brent’s housing targets.

3. London Plan Policy H15 and Brent's Policy BH7 support the delivery of purpose built student
accommodation (PBSA) in well-connected locations to meet local and strategic needs, subject to specific
criteria being met.  The London Plan identifies a strategic need of 3,500 bedspaces across London.
Whilst the site allocation does not refer specifically to student accommodation, this type of housing is
acknowledged to relieve some of the demand for conventional housing, and would contribute towards
Brent's housing supply (at a ratio of 2.5 bedrooms to one conventional housing unit).

4. However, the London Plan also requires development plans to identify and meet needs for all types of
development, and the Wembley Opportunity Area has been identified as a priority location for jobs.  The
site is also located in the defined Wembley Town Centre boundary within a secondary shopping frontage.
 The London Plan recognises the potential of Wembley High Road as a future metropolitan centre and
cultural area of significance at the London level.  Local Plan Policy BCGA1 identifies that it is essential
that any occupiers and commercial uses add to the viability and vitality of the town centre to ensure future
growth.

5. Policy BE3 also reflects the continued need for employment floorspace. Criteria c of the policy allows the
release of local employment sites for non-employment uses in allocated sites where it has been
demonstrated that the maximum viable replacement of the existing floorspace has been sought.

Page 23



Furthermore,  BSWSA8 site allocation seeks the maximum viable re-provision of employment floorspace,
given the identified need within the Borough.

Reprovision of office floorspace

6. The existing buildings on site comprise Fairgate House and Pittman House, which contain 2,566sqm of
office floorspace above ground floor, in addition to 594sqm of retail floorspace.  The proposal would
provide 272sqm of commercial floorspace, and the exact nature of the uses provided and their
configuration is discussed further under ‘Commercial uses’ below.

7. The proposal has been supported by a viability assessment, which seeks to demonstrate that the existing
use of the buildings as office and retail accommodation is financially unviable.  Marketing evidence is
included and confirms that the office floors in the buildings are believed to have been vacant since 2016
and would require extensive refurbishment to enable occupation.  Letting agents had received no
enquiries about leasing the buildings for a viable rent during this time, although there had been some
interest in buying them and in a change of use to storage (which would also entail a loss of office
floorspace).

8. Officers accept that, due to the age and condition of the existing buildings, they no longer provide the
quality or type of accommodation that would make them of interest to potential office or retail tenants.
However they could be let out under two potential scenarios – a ‘light touch’ refurbishment of the building
(resulting in a rent of £10 per sqft) and a full refurbishment (giving a rent of £12.50 per sqft), and the
assessment considers whether either of these scenarios would be viable.

9. It is assumed that the ‘light touch’ refurbishment would only be able to achieve shorter term leases and
so would be subject to more frequent void periods and re-lettings, and the assessment demonstrates that
this would generate a negative rate of return and so would not be attractive to investors.

10. The full refurbishment would involve higher construction costs (£10m approx compared to £7m approx
for the ‘light touch’ refurbishment), and would be more closely analogous to a new development, and so
has been assessed over a five-year investment horizon.  This is demonstrated to fail to deliver the quality
of office space required to justify the investment and to produce declining returns over this period, which
would not provide sufficient incentive for investors.

11. The assessment cites poor demand for office accommodation in this location as the underlying reason
for both scenarios being unviable.  Across London as a whole, office floorspace has been subject to
falling rents and higher vacancy rates, with firms taking less space due to increased remote working and
demand becoming increasingly concentrated in the more desirable locations.  In terms of Brent, demand
for office floorspace has been persistently weak across the last decade.  However the assessment sets
out that approx 750,000sqft (approx 70,000sqm) of new high quality office space (including The Hive
Building which has tenants including Network Homes and Casio) is currently being delivered on Wembley
Park Boulevard.  Future demand is expected to be focused around the Wembley Stadium area.

12. As a result of this analysis, the assessment concludes that the site’s existing use as office
accommodation is obsolete and that continuing this use would be economically unsustainable and
financially unviable.  The associated costs required to retain the site in its existing use as office
accommodation would be prohibitive and unsupported by the local office market, providing space that
achieves high standards in terms of energy performance and can be tailored to suit occupiers’ exact
needs.

13. The assessment also demonstrates that the proposed development is predicted to achieve a profit of
10% on cost (9.16% on GDV).  Your officers consider this to be below what would normally be
considered a reasonable rate of return for a development of this type, and the scheme is considered to
be in deficit on this basis.  Other development scenarios could include providing one or more floors
entirely devoted to commercial floorspace to mitigate the loss of the existing offices.  However these
scenarios would involve reducing the number of student bedspaces provided.  As student
accommodation is considered to be generally more profitable than commercial floorspace, any such
scenario is highly likely to result in an increased level of deficit.  On this basis, officers consider that the
proposal delivers the maximum viable amount of employment floorspace in accordance with the site
allocation and Policy BE3.

Relationship with wider site allocation

Page 24



14. The BSWSA8 site allocation seeks enhanced pedestrian accessibility and permeability to ensure
continuous physical linkages from Wembley Triangle to Wembley Central Station.  In particular, new
pedestrian access along the rear of the High Road has been secured as part of the Chesterfield House
development at the junction with Park Lane, as part of the Wembley Link development to the northwest
of the site and under the outline consent to redevelop Ujima House to the east of the site.  The Wembley
Link scheme is currently under construction and includes a landscaped permissive public footpath, and
the proposed development would be expected to continue this and to allow for a future connection to
continue the footpath along the rear of the Ujima House development.

15. The proposal is also required to maintain a sufficient separation distance to the rear to allow any future
development along the railway embankment to come forward in a way that provides adequate privacy for
residents of both developments (normally considered to be 18m between habitable room windows).

16. The proposal does not make provision for these key elements of the site allocation, as the distance from
the rear building line to the rear site boundary varies between 1m and 4m, which is not sufficient to
provide a landscaped footpath or adequate privacy for residents.  In order to resolve these concerns, the
applicants have submitted a further application (reference 22/2956) for hard and soft landscaping works
on land to the rear of the site, which is also in their ownership. 

17. Planning permission has been granted for this proposal.  This proposal, in combination with the current
application, would provide an additional 8m to 13m depth to the rear of the building as landscaped space,
which would make an acceptable contribution to the separation distances required for privacy.  It would
include a footpath linking to the footpath being delivered on the Wembley Link site.  The s106 agreement
connected to this application would secure the delivery of the landscaping works prior to occupation of
this development, and the status of the footpath as a permissive public footpath.  As such, the combined
proposal would comply with the requirements of the site allocation.

Student accommodation

18. As noted above, student housing contributes to Brent’s housing targets, at a rate of 2.5 bedspaces to one
conventional housing unit, and the provision of accommodation for 349 students would equate to 139.6
new homes, which would contribute towards the wider target of 650 dwellings within the whole of the site
allocation. To date within the wider site allocation, planning permission has been secured for 256 homes
within Wembley Link scheme (18/3111) and outline consent secured for 5000sqm of residential
floorspace (upto 54 homes) within Ujima House (19/3092).

19. The accommodation would be secured by condition for occupation by full students full time students
enrolled on UK accredited and based further education courses during term time (for not less than 39
weeks of the year). The remaining time, (outside term time,) the Council is content that the units may be
rented out on short-term lets, perhaps assisting tourism within the summer vacation period. This will
apply to all of the student rooms. The majority of the units (51% of bedrooms) would be provided through
a nominations agreement with one or more higher education providers, through the s106 agreement.
This demonstrates that the accommodation would meet a specific London need, in line with policy H15 of
London Plan and policy BH7 of Brent’s Local Plan.

20. A draft student management plan has been submitted, setting out how the development would be
managed through an on-site staff presence providing a point of contact for students but also for local
residents who might be concerned about any incidents of anti-social behaviour.  Management and
maintenance of communal facilities, emergencies and security measures are also addressed.  An
updated document would be required as a condition prior to occupation, and would provide a dedicated
contact for local residents.

Commercial floorspace

21. Three commercial units are proposed on the ground floor, of 107sqm, 96sqm and 45sqm respectively.
The two larger units would, together with the entrance to the student accommodation, provide a
continuous active frontage along the High Road and an element of active frontage along the sides of the
building.  The smaller unit would be located to the rear of the western wing of the building and would,
together with a ground floor communal space for students, provide some natural surveillance to extend
this active frontage along the proposed footpath to the rear.

22. The commercial units would be for uses within Use Class E (this class was introduced in 2020 to cover
shops, cafes and restaurants, financial and professional services, gyms and fitness centres, health

Page 25



services, nurseries, offices and light industrial uses).  These uses are all considered appropriate within a
town centre shopping frontage, and would all contribute to enhancing the viability and vitality of the town
centre.  This would allow for the units to be marketed to a wide range of potential tenants, and would help
to reduce the risk of vacancies.

Conclusion

23. The proposal would reprovide the maximum viable amount of commercial floorspace, and this floorspace
would be an appropriate use for the town centre and would provide an active ground floor frontage.  The
provision of student accommodation would meet a specific London need, would be acceptable in this
location and would contribute to Brent’s housing targets.  Subject to the associated landscaping works
being delivered under reference 22/2956, the proposal would provide adequate public realm and
pedestrian permeability to the rear of the High Road, and would be acceptable in principle on this basis.

Affordability and mix of student accommodation

Policy background

24. London Plan Policy H15 sets out a requirement for all purpose built student accommodation (PBSA) to
secure the maximum level as affordable student housing.  This is defined as a bedroom (together with all
services and utilities offered to equivalent non-affordable rooms) provided at a rental cost equal to or
below 55% of the maximum income that a new full-time student studying in London and living away from
home could receive from the Government’s maintenance loan for living costs for the academic year.
Applications providing at least 35% of rooms as affordable housing under this definition are eligible for
the fast track route, whereby viability testing is not required.  However, an early stage viability review
would be required if development does not commence within two years, to incentivise early delivery.

25. Policy H15 also requires the use of the accommodation to be secured for students, with the majority of
rooms including all of the affordable student housing being subject to a nominations agreement with one
or more higher education providers.

Assessment

26. The application states that 35% of the student bedrooms would be provided as affordable student
housing, within an overall 51% that would be provided through a nominations agreement with one or
more higher education providers.  These matters would be secured through the s106 agreement,
together with an early stage review mechanism to incentivise delivery of the development within two
years.

27.  The remaining 49% of bedrooms could be let to students taking courses at other higher education
providers in London.  As there are a number of other existing and emerging PBSA schemes in Wembley
Park, the proposal would contribute to an emerging student community in the area, and would offer
residents the opportunity to widen their social circle by mixing with students studying at other
establishments or living in other developments.  Term time residency would be restricted by condition to
students in full-time higher education, however the use of the building for other types of short-term
accommodation at other times would also support the cultural and night-time economy of Wembley.

28. There is no policy requirement to provide any particular mix of types of accommodation.  However, the
proposal has been informed by advice from an experienced provider of purpose-built student
accommodation.  On this basis, four types of bedroom are proposed: cluster rooms (a group of six or
seven bedrooms sharing a communal kitchen, dining and lounge area accessed off a shared corridor);
twodios (two bedrooms linked by a shared kitchen diner); studios (bedrooms with private kitchenette) and
premium studios (larger bedrooms with private kitchenette). 

Type Number Percentage
Cluster rooms 200 57%
Twodios 32 9%
Studios 82 23%
Premium studios 35 10%

349 100%

Page 26



29. The proposal thus would offer a degree of choice for students in different circumstances according to
their lifestyle choices and needs.  The s106 agreement would secure a proportionate number of each
type of room as part of the nominations agreement, including for affordable accommodation.

Design, scale and appearance

Policy background

30. London Plan Policy D3 sets out a design-led approach to new development that responds positively to
local context and optimises the site's capacity for growth by seeking development of the most appropriate
form and land use, while Policy D5 seeks inclusive design without disabling barriers.  Policy D9 sets out a
framework for assessing proposals involving tall buildings including their visual impact, functional impact
and environmental impact. The policy requires proposals to be justified with reference to existing and
proposed long range, mid-range and immediate views, to demonstrate the impact of the proposal upon
the surrounding streetscape. 

31. Brent's Policy BD1 seeks the highest quality of architectural and urban design, whilst Policy BD2 directs
tall buildings (defined as those of over 30m in height) towards designated Tall Building Zones and
expects these to be of the highest architectural quality.

32. Section 16 of the NPPF advises Local Planning Authorities to recognise heritage assets as an
“irreplaceable resource” and to “conserve them in a manner appropriate to their significance”.  Any harm
to designated heritage assets requires clear and convincing justification.  With regard to non-designated
heritage assets, a balanced judgement will be required having regard to the scale of any harm or loss
and the significance of the heritage asset.  Brent’s Policy BHC1 requires new developments to
demonstrate and justify any impacts on heritage assets, and Policy BHC2 identifies and protects a
number of important views of the Wembley Stadium arch.

Height, mass and bulk

33. The proposed building would comprise three elements: a central core of 17 storeys, a western wing of 16
storeys and an eastern wing of 13 storeys.  The two wings would be angled in towards the core, reflecting
the curvature of the road at this point, and the core would be set back behind the façade of the wings to
emphasise their prominence.

34. The site falls within a Tall Building Zone, and is considered to be an appropriate location for tall buildings.
Building heights along this section of Wembley High Road vary, but the emerging context includes a
number of tall buildings creating an undulating skyline.  In particular, the 17-storey and 19-storey point
blocks of Wembley Link to the west (18/3111, currently under construction) step down from the 26-storey
and 21-storey point blocks of Chesterfield House (now the Uncle Apartments) (15/4550, completed)
which form a focal point for the area at the junction with Park Lane.  To the east of the site, the outline
consent at Ujima House (19/3092) is partly 10-storey and partly 11-storey, whilst the consented scheme
at the Cecil Avenue junction opposite has a maximum height of 9 storeys and the existing Lanmor House
has 7 storeys.

35.  A Townscape and Visual Impact Assessment was provided with the planning application, and provides
the following existing and proposed views, including cumulative views which take into account other
emerging developments.  These are described and assessed in the following paragraphs.

36. View 1: High Road, looking east:  This view shows the existing three-storey street frontage with larger
scale buildings in the centre and right of the view.  The proposal would be prominent in this view, and the
cumulative view shows it contributing to an emerging composition of taller buildings in the middle ground.

37. View 2: Cecil Avenue: This view north from the smaller scale of the traditional residential area currently
opens out across a cleared site with larger scale and taller buildings forming a backdrop.  The proposed
building would fill the left of this view, but in the cumulative view would be mostly obscured by the
consented scheme on the junction of Cecil Avenue and the High Road.

38. View 3: High Road, looking west: The 26-storey UNCLE Apartments building (former Chesterfield House)
forms a landmark in the centre of this view, and large-scale mid-rise buildings dominate the middle and
foreground.  The proposal would appear alongside the UNCLE building and of a similar height, providing
a transition in height from the mid-rise buildings.  In the cumulative view it would be partly obscured by

Page 27



the consented scheme on the Ujima House site, and would be mirrored by the Cecil Avenue development
to the left.

39. View 4: Wembley Triangle: This view is dominated by the protruding bulk of Elizabeth House in the
foreground, with the UNCLE building again appearing in the distance as a landmark framed by the new
buildings at Brent House.  The proposal would continue this family of taller buildings in the middle
distance, together with the Ujima House development which would provide a transition down to the
lower-rise buildings to the left.

40. View 5: Wembley Stadium Station entrance:  This view across Wembley Hill Road shows the existing
and emerging taller buildings on the High Road, the two point blocks of Wembley Link now visible
alongside the UNCLE building.  The proposal would merge into this cluster of buildings, sitting in front of
the UNCLE building and in turn partly obscured by Ujima House.

41.  View 6: Dennis Avenue: This traditional residential street is to the north of the site and on elevated
ground.  The view south across the railway lines features mature tree cover, with the UNCLE building and
Wembley Link in the background on the right.  The proposed building would sit in the centre of this view,
partly obscured by trees, and would contribute to a distinctive pattern of stepping down in height, together
with Ujima House to the left.

42. View 7: King Edward VII Park: This view southeast across the wide expanse of the Park shows the
UNCLE building and Wembley Link behind the treeline in the distance.  The proposed building would sit
alongside these and would continue the pattern of descending heights forming a backdrop to the Park.

43. View 8: Elmwood Park, Sudbury: This view southeast across parkland is similar to View 2 in Brent’s
Policy BHC2, and the Wembley Stadium arch is clearly visible on the horizon in the centre of the view.
The proposal is just visible as part of a cluster of tall buildings in the far distance, but would be totally
obscured by the completed Wembley Link development, and would not affect the view of the arch.

44. View 9: Horsenden Hill, Perivale: This view northeast corresponds to View 3 in Brent’s Policy BHC2.
Wembley Stadium arch can be seen on the horizon in the centre of the view, with some tall
developments clustering around it.  The proposal would appear beneath the arch in front of another
building of similar height, and would contribute to an emerging skyline around the Stadium in which the
arch would retain its overall prominence.

45. View 10: One Tree Hill, Alperton: Wembley Stadium arch is visible in the far distance in this view
northeast from higher ground, and a cluster of tall buildings can be seen on the left of the view, the
UNCLE building being the tallest.  The proposal would continue this undulating skyline to the left of the
Stadium, stepping down in height from the UNCLE building.

46. View 11: Barn Hill: This view from the highest point of Barn Hill is similar to View 1 in Policy BHC2, and is
framed by dense vegetation on either side, with the Stadium arch partly visible through the trees.  The
proposal would appear as part of a cluster of tall buildings in the far background, descending in height
from the 26-storey UNCLE building.

47. View 12: Ealing Road: This view north from the entrance to the Shri Vallabh Midhi Mandir has a mixed
retail and residential character, and the top of the Wembley Link development is just visible behind street
trees in the background.  A small part of the building would be glimpsed in summer and would be more
visible in winter, alongside parts of other developments emerging in this area in the cumulative view.

48.  View 13: High Road by Park Lane: This view east is dominated by the UNCLE building appearing on
the corner junction, and the proposal would be seen in the middle distance alongside other tall buildings
in the emerging streetscene, helping to establish a new character for the area.

49. View 14: Oakington Manor Drive: This view west from the junction with Harrow Road features a
three-storey retail parade in the foreground and Elizabeth House is prominent in the middle ground.  The
UNCLE building and Wembley Link are clustered together in the background and the proposal would join
this cluster, partly obscured by Ujima House in the cumulative view. 

Impact on townscape and heritage assets

50. The representative views above illustrate the impact of the proposal upon typical views within the
immediate area, as well as middle distance and longer distance views.  The proposal would be read as

Page 28



part of a group of new taller buildings emerging in this part of Wembley.  It would maintain the undulating
skyline descending from the landmark UNCLE building established by other developments, and would
mediate between the scale of taller buildings to the west and the lower-rise character of the High Road to
the east.  The GLA have confirmed that the site is not located within any strategic views as determined by
the adopted London View Management Framework and does not raise any strategic concerns in terms of
long-range view impacts. The varied heights of the building are differentiable from long distance views
and make a positive contribution to the existing and emerging skyline.

51. However, in relation to the mid-range views from the surrounding neighbourhood and more immediate
views from surrounding streets, the GLA have highlighted that the extensive longitudinal massing is
readily visible (i.e. as presented in Views 1 and 6 above), and as such the resultant scale appears
overbearing from the streetscape views provided. The GLA have suggested that additional articulation
should be explored as well as a greater contrast in colour and materiality to break up the massing along
Wembley High Road and have commented on the extent of blank wall on the eastern elevation.

52. In response to these concerns, Brent’s Urban Design Officer has not raised such concerns, and
considers in terms of height and massing, that the proposal clearly defines a landmark building, and also
acts as a transitional building that mediates between the scale of new and emerging development to the
west, and the lower-rise scale of the High Road to the west. The Urban Design Officer has advised that
externally, the facades are well composed, with good proportions that establish a clear hierarchy across
the scheme and define a coherent base, body and crown from ground floor to roof level. The views show
that the orientation of the three parts of the building, together with the variation in height and brick colour,
would enable them to be read as different but related elements within the townscape, and would help to
break up the impression of bulk.  In this context, the building heights and massing are seen as
appropriate to the context and the impact on the townscape is acceptable.

53. The assessment has considered all above-ground heritage assets within 1km of the site, including
Wembley High Street Conservation Area, listed buildings such as Wembley Arena and the Roman
Catholic Church of St Joseph, locally listed buildings such as No 324 Harrow Road, and the locally listed
King Edward VII Park.

54. The proposal would introduce a taller building into the wider context of Wembley High Street
Conservation Area, but as part of an established backdrop of large scale and taller buildings, and would
not harm its character and appearance or its significance.  Similarly the proposal would appear in the
backdrop of Wembley Arena as one of an emerging skyline of taller buildings, and would not cause harm
to the significance of this listed building.  Brent’s conservation officer has requested a view from
Wembley High Street Conservation Area, to support the conclusion that the proposed building would not
harm its significance, and this will be reported on via the Supplementary Agenda.

55. The Church of St Joseph is immediately to the east of Elizabeth House but is set back from the road
frontage.  As such it is not visible in View 4 or View 14 and consequently its setting would not be affected
by the development.  The potential impact on this and other heritage assets has been considered as part
of the assessment, and this exercise has satisfactorily demonstrated that no harm to the significance of
these assets would be caused.

56. The proposal is also supported by an archaeological desk based assessment, as parts of the wider site
allocation are within a Site of Archaeological Importance designation.  This is a lower level designation
with the status of a non-designated heritage asset.  The assessment does not identify and archaeological
remains of sufficient importance to prevent or significantly constrain the development of the site.  The
later twentieth century development of the site is likely to have had an adverse impact on any
archaeological remains that may have been present.  The assessment highlights the low potential for
prehistoric, Roman or early medieval remains to be present within the site.  Whilst remains of subsequent
medieval or post-medieval agricultural activities may be present on site, Brent’s conservation officer
considers that twentieth century development of the site is likely to have at least partially damaged any
earlier deposits or features, and that no further action is required.

Site layout and relationship with the street

57. The building footprint would fill most of the site, leaving small areas to the side and rear for soft
landscaping, and a more substantial landscaped area including raised planters and informal seating to
the front.  The latter would create a focal point around the entrance to the student accommodation,
providing legibility and a sense of arrival for students and encouraging informal social interaction.  The
entrance would be two storeys in height and would project beyond the main building line, to reinforce its

Page 29



function as a welcoming focal point for the development.

58. Two of the commercial units would provide active frontages onto the High Road and continuing along the
sides of the building.  On the western side, the stepped elevation would create additional visual interest
for passers-by while the eastern side of the building would feature a 3m wide colonnade providing
pedestrian access under the building to the rear and to a dedicated lift to the first floor cycle store.  The
colonnade would feature festoon lighting and climbing plants and would allow for some interaction with
the outdoor seating area proposed on the adjoining western side of the Ujima House consented scheme.

59. The first floor of the building would mainly comprise communal amenity spaces for students and thus
would have a more active character than the accommodation above.  At the front of the building, a series
of external terraces along each wing of the building would be set into the building frame with inflected
balconies, and these would help to provide additional activity to animate the street at first floor level.

60. Whilst the side and rear elevations do not provide a continuous active frontage, it is acknowledged that
the ground floor also provides ancillary functions such as plant rooms and refuse storage.  A partial
basement is proposed, allowing some of the plant requirement to be accommodated below ground,
however it is considered that more extensive basement construction could involve excessive cost that
would negatively impact on the viability of the scheme.  In the circumstances it is considered that the
extent of active frontage has been maximised, and that the proposal creates an effective relationship with
the street.

61. Externally, opportunities for high quality landscaping have been maximised both within and around the
scheme, and in particular the proposals to revitalise the frontage along the High Road are supported.
Further details including proposed materials samples and a more detailed landscaping scheme including
tree planting would be secured by condition to ensure high quality design is delivered.  The proposal
includes planting of two street trees on the public footway in front of the site, and a financial contribution
to deliver two street trees would be secured through the s106 agreement.

Architectural detailing and materials

62. The building facades are well composed and harmonious, and the repeating arrangement of windows
creates a strong vertical emphasis and sense of harmony and rhythm.  A clear hierarchy is established
across the scheme, with the bottom, middle and top of the building defined by detailing such as the
progressively narrower window openings.

63. The Design and Access Statement provides more details on proposed materials.  A relatively simple
materials palette is proposed, with the use of three distinct brick tones distinguishing the three elements
of the building.  These would be enriched by profiled concrete spandrel panels and articulated concrete
piers, adding texture and relief to the facades, and by the bronze aluminium inflected balconies, signage
and entrance canopy on the ground and first floor.  This approach anchors the scheme and gives a
sense of identity to the communal entrance and street frontage, whilst also establishing a strong sense of
site-specific character.

64. A number of bay studies have been provided, illustrating elements of the design in greater detail.  Further
information in the form of indicative technical sections and materials samples would be secured by
condition.

Secure by Design

65. Secure by Design officers provided advice to the applicants during the pre-application stage, and further
details of this engagement are set out in the Design and Access Statement. 

66. The building would incorporate a zoned fob-access system to control access, supported by CCTV
monitoring.  The nominations agreement would secure occupation by students primarily from a specific
higher education provider, and the use of the building would be subject to a student management plan
secured by condition, in order to minimise potential conflicts between different groups of students.
Further details of the proposed fob access control, CCTV and entrance surveillance, and management of
communal student spaces including roof terrace areas would be amongst the important issues to be
clarified in this document.

67. In terms of natural surveillance of the informal seating at the front of the building, the colonnade and the
footpath to the rear, the student accommodation would be managed 24 hours a day, and further

Page 30



measures to enhance safety and security and minimise anti-social behaviour around the building
envelope could be secured by condition.  The nature of the student use is considered likely to result in the
ground floor student spaces and entrance, and the first floor communal space, remaining active into the
late evening.  This would enhance natural surveillance at times when the commercial activities may have
ceased.  As noted above, the commercial units would be potentially suitable for night-time economy uses,
given the High Road location, and these would further increase natural surveillance around the site.  An
external lighting strategy would also be required by condition.

Conclusion

68. The building would have an acceptable impact on the townscape and would not harm the significance of
any heritage assets.  Active frontages and external landscaping would activate and create an attractive
relationship with the street, and the approach to detailed design and materiality would create a high
quality appearance and provide a high degree of visual interest for passers-by.  Secure by Design issues
have been considered in detail.  Overall the proposal is considered to be of a high quality of design and to
contribute positively to the visual amenity of the surrounding area.

Fire safety

69. London Plan Policy D12 requires all new development to achieve high standards of fire safety, and major
developments are required to submit a Fire Statement outlining compliance with the measures required
under Policy D12(B). A fire statement was submitted in accordance with this policy, and sets out details
of construction, means of warning and escape, features to reduce the risk to life, access for fire service
personnel, equipment and appliances, and the impact of potential future modifications.  Fire evacuation
lifts and refuge points would be provided for disabled residents, and further details of the evacuation lifts
would be secured by condition.  The statement is considered to satisfy the requirements of Policy D12.

70. The proposal is also classified as a ‘relevant building’ under planning regulations introduced in 2021,
which require a fire statement to be submitted in the form prescribed by the Secretary of State and
introduce a statutory requirement to consult the Health and Safety Executive (HSE).  This process is
known as ‘planning gateway one’, and the proposal would be subject to further scrutiny before
construction starts (‘gateway two’) and after completion (‘gateway three’).  These later stages are
regulated by the Building Safety Act 2022.

71. Following the submission of a fire statement in the prescribed form, the HSE queried a number of issues
including the availability of fire service vehicle access to the rear of the building (given that firefighter
travel distance to the rear of the building would be over 40m if a vehicle were to stop at the front of the
building).  In response to this concern, the applicants have provided further details of fire vehicle access
via the associated application for landscaping to the rear (ref 22/2956).  Fire vehicles would be able to
drive into this space via the existing service road to the west of the site, stop within 18m of the rear of the
building, and then turn within the site in order to exit from the service road in a forward gear.

72. The HSE have been reconsulted and have confirmed that the revised scheme addresses all of its
concerns satisfactorily.  Further issues that would need to be addressed at the Building Regulations
stage are highlighted in the HSE’s response.

Relationship with neighbouring properties

Policy background

73. Any development will need to maintain adequate levels of privacy and amenity for existing residential
properties, in line with the guidance set out in SPD1.  The building should sit within a 30 degree line of
existing habitable room windows and a 45 degree line of existing rear garden boundaries (although it
should be noted in this case that the site does not directly adjoin any existing residential properties).
Separation distances of 18m to windows and 9m to boundaries with adjoining properties or development
sites should be maintained. 

74. Where buildings would be within a 25 degree line of existing windows, the Building Research
Establishment considers that levels of light to these windows could be adversely affected and
recommends further analysis of the impacts.  A more detailed assessment of daylight and sunlight
impacts based on the BRE’s Site Layout Planning for Daylight and Sunlight (BRE209) 2022 guidance is
required where the 25 degree test is not met.  This guidance supersedes the 2011 version, however the
advice in relation to assessing the impact on neighbouring properties remains consistent with the earlier

Page 31



version.

75. The BRE Guidelines recommend two measures for daylight.  Firstly, the Vertical Sky Component (VSC)
assesses the proportion of visible sky and is measured from the centre of the main window.  If this
exceeds 27% or is at least 0.8 times its former value, residents are unlikely to notice a difference in the
level of daylight.  Secondly, the No Sky Contour or Daylight Distribution assesses the area of the room at
desk height from which the sky can be seen.  If this remains at least 0.8 times its former value, the room
will appear to be adequately lit.  The 2022 BRE Guidelines are not materially different from the 2011
Guidelines which they have superseded, in respect of the guidance provided for impacts on neighbouring
properties. 

76. To assess impacts on sunlight to existing south-facing windows and amenity spaces, assessment of
Annual Probable Sunlight Hours (APSH) is recommended.  The guidance sets a target for windows of
25% of total APSH including 5% in winter months for windows, and for amenity spaces to receive at least
two hours sunlight on 21 March and not less than 0.8 times their former value.

77. However, the BRE also recognise that different criteria for daylight and sunlight may be used in dense
urban areas where the expectation of light and outlook would normally be lower than in suburban or rural
areas, and support the use of a ‘mirror image’ analysis in such cases.  The NPPF 2021 also supports a
flexible approach to applying standards in order to make efficient use of sites.

Assessment of separation distances

78. As noted above, the accompanying application for landscaping works to the rear would secure adequate
separation distances from the rear building line to allow any future development to the rear to come
forward in a similar manner without creating harmful levels of overlooking between the two sets of
residents.  Whilst concern has been raised regarding overlooking onto properties to the north of the
railway embankment, the nearest such properties would be approx 100m distant from the site.  The
nearest part of the Wembley Link development to the northwest would be over 20m distant from the
proposed building and at an oblique angle that would minimise any potential for overlooking.  No other
residential properties would be affected, as those on the south side of the High Road would also be over
20m distant from the site.

79. The east and west elevations of the building would include shared kitchens for the cluster bedrooms and
some studio bedrooms, all having corner windows to provide dual outlook.  In relation to the Ujima House
site to the east, the proposed building would retain a separation distance of 1m from this site.  However,
Ujima House is not currently in residential use and the consented scheme (ref 19/3092) for its
redevelopment would be subject to a condition preventing any side-facing habitable room windows.
Nevertheless, to ensure that this scheme does not prejudice the ability for the neighbouring sites to come
forward for redevelopment given their close proximity of the application site boundaries, it is
recommended that a condition is secured for the flank wall windows on the eastern wing from second to
twelfth floor to be obscured glazed and high opening only, and for the flank wall windows on the western
wing from second to fifteenth floor to also be obscured glazed and high opening only.

Daylight and sunlight assessment

80. The daylight sunlight assessment carried out to support this application pre-dates the publication of the
2022 BRE Guidelines and is based on the 2011 Guidelines, as the required software has not yet been to
support the 2022 Guidelines.  The assessment compares existing and proposed VSC and NSL factors
for existing neighbouring properties, and officers consider that these results are sufficiently robust given
the similarity in the two versions of the guidance in terms of assessing impact on neighbouring properties.

81. The assessment uses the ADF measure of internal daylight to assess the impact on the two consented
schemes nearby that are not yet occupied (Wembley Link – currently being built, 18/3111, and Cecil
Avenue – works not yet started, 19/2891), and compares the ADF achieved following construction of this
scheme with the ADF levels as originally assessed under these planning applications.  Whilst the BRE
Guidelines 2022 set out a new methodology for assessing ADF, the use of the 2011 methodology
enables a more direct comparison with the original values for these two consented schemes, which were
both assessed against the 2011 Guidance.  The consented scheme adjoining the site at Ujima House
(19/3092 – works not yet started) has not been assessed as it would not contain any side-facing habitable
room windows or other windows that could be affected by this development in terms of daylight and
sunlight.

Page 32



82. The above comparison of the proposed development to the existing situation is defined as Scenario 1,
and the assessment also provides the results of Scenario 2, in which the cumulative impact of this
development and the development of the consented scheme at Ujima House is considered.  The results
of the assessment are discussed in the following paragraphs.

83. In summary, under Scenario 1, 118 of the 194 windows assessed (61%) would continue to meet the BRE
targets for VSC.  However, of the rooms assessed for NSC, 97% (96 of the 99 rooms) would continue to
achieve BRE target values and so would continue to appear well lit.  In the two consented schemes
assessed, 196 of the 314 rooms tested (62%) would meet the BRE target value.  A total of 147 windows
within 90 degrees of due south were tested for APSH, and 124 of these (84%) would meet the target
values.

84. Under Scenario 2, the number of windows meeting the VSC target would fall to 51% (99 out of 194
windows), however only one additional room would fall below the NSL target values, with 95 out of 99
rooms (96%) continuing to appear well-lit.  The number of rooms in the two consented schemes meeting
the ADF targets would fall to 51% (161 out of 314 rooms), however 124 of the 147 south-facing windows
(84%) would meet the target values for APSH, the same proportion as in Scenario 1.

85. 412-414 High Road is a three-storey property to the west of the site, with a ground floor commercial unit
and residential uses on the upper floors.  Fourteen windows serving nine rooms were assessed.  One of
the windows currently has a VSC of 28.3%, above the 27% target value, and this window would
experience a fall to 0.417 times its former value under Scenario 1, while the VSC of a second window
would fall from 23.4% to 0.526 times its former value.  The remaining twelve windows, all of which have
existing VSC values below 27%, would retain over 0.8 times their former value of VSC.  Scenario 2 would
deliver similar results.  The two windows affected are both side-facing roof dormers providing a
secondary aspect for dual aspect rooms, and all of the nine rooms tested would comply in terms of NSL
and so would continue to appear well lit, in both Scenarios.  One window was tested for sunlight and
would remain compliant with the APSH target in both Scenarios.  Officers have had reference to previous
planning history on this site (reference 16/4534), which confirms the lawful use as ground floor
commercial with two residential units above, including accommodation in the roof comprising two
dual-aspect rooms (both with a front-facing and side-facing window). 

86. 416 High Road is adjacent to the above property to the west, and is also a three-storey building with
ground floor commercial unit and residential use above.  Four windows were tested, and all would
continue to receive significantly over 0.8 times their former value of VSC, while the four rooms served by
these windows would not experience any material change in VSC.  There were no south-facing windows
tested for sunlight.  The same results were obtained for both Scenarios.

87. 367 High Road is to the southwest of the site, and also a three-storey building with commercial ground
floor and residential use above.  Five windows were tested, and all would continue to receive significantly
over 0.8 times their former value of VSC, while the two rooms served would experience only a negligible
impact, retaining well over their existing value of NSL.  There were no south-facing windows tested for
sunlight.  The same results were obtained for both Scenarios.

88. London Wembley Hotel (365 High Road) is a hotel and, as such, only provides accommodation of a very
transitory nature.  The impact on daylight and sunlight to this property would therefore carry less weight
than for buildings in existing residential use.  The building has seven floors, all of which include hotel
bedrooms, although there is also a lounge / diner on the ground floor.  A total of 146 windows were
assessed, of which 73 would not be materially affected under Scenario 1.  Of the remaining 73, thirteen
windows with existing VSC levels of below 10% would experience a fall in VSC of 0.174 – 0.792 times
their former value, however it is important to note that due to the existing very low values the impacts of
any further loss are exaggerated.  A further 50 windows have existing VSC values below 27% but above
10%, and would experience a fall in VSC to 0.798 – 0.511 times their former value.  Finally, ten windows
have existing VSC levels above 27% and would experience a fall in VSC to below 27% and to 0.799 –
0.712 times their former value.  Scenario 2 would have a slightly greater impact, with a total of 76 out of
146 windows being materially affected.

89. These 146 windows serve 72 hotel rooms, and the impact on NSL to these rooms would be less marked,
with only three rooms experiencing a noticeable fall in NSL to between 0.518 times and 0.775) times their
former value, under Scenario 1.  The same three rooms would also be materially affected under Scenario
2.  The remaining 69 hotel rooms would continue to appear as well lit as in the existing situation, under
both Scenarios.  Five windows were assessed for sunlight, and all would continue to meet BRE target
values for APSH under both Scenarios.

Page 33



90. Lanmor House (370-386 High Road) is a seven-storey building immediately to the east of Ujima House,
and the upper floors are in residential use.  Under Scenario 1, the assessment of 24 windows finds that
none would be materially affected by the proposed development, although a number have existing VSC
levels below 27%, and that none of the twelve rooms assessed would experience any noticeable loss of
NSL.  Of the twelve south-facing windows assessed for sunlight, all would continue to comply with the
BRE target values for APSH.

91. Under Scenario 2, 17 of these 24 windows would experience a noticeable fall in VSC to between 0.126
times and 0.795 times their former value (although 15 of these 17 windows have low existing VSC levels
of below 27%).  These windows serve 12 rooms, each room having both a side-facing and front-or
rear-facing window, and only one of these rooms would experience a noticeable impact in terms of NSL
(retaining only 0.74 times its former value).  Twelve south-facing windows were assessed for sunlight and
all would continue to meet BRE targets, with the exception of one ground floor window only receiving 4%
of Winter Probable Sunlight Hours (WPSH), a minor shortfall against the target of 5%.  It should be noted
that Lanmor House is adjacent to Ujima House and would be affected by its redevelopment regardless of
whether the application site is also redeveloped.  Similar impacts were reported during the determination
of the outline consent to redevelop the Ujima House site (ref 19/3092) and were considered to be
acceptable in the context of a high density urban environment.

92. Wembley Link (land to rear of 416 – 444 High Road) is a consented scheme consisting of two point
blocks (17 and 19 storeys high) currently in construction.  As the building is not yet occupied, ADF values
have been assessed, and 126 windows were tested, of which 108 (86%) would meet the BRE criteria
under Scenario 1.  The 18 remaining rooms include 16 living / kitchen / dining rooms (LKDs) and two
bedrooms.  Twelve of the LKDs do not meet the BRE target of 2% ADF in the existing situation (values
between 1.1% and 1.2%), and these would achieve slightly lower values of between 1.0% and 1.1%
under Scenario 1.  The remaining four LKDs would meet or exceed the target in the existing situation
(2.0% - 2.2%) and would fall slightly below the target under Scenario 1 (1.7% - 1.9%) but would continue
to meet the 1.5% target for living / dining rooms.  The ADF values for the two bedrooms would fall from
1% to 0.9%, marginally below the target.

93. Under Scenario 2, the number of rooms meeting the BRE criteria would fall from 108 to 105 out of 126
windows tested, demonstrating a minor additional impact from the cumulative development.  However, of
the 18 LKDs not meeting the criteria, thirteen would fail to do so in the existing situation (with ADF values
of 0.4% to 1.2%) and the ADF values of these would fall only marginally to 0.3% - 1.1%).  The remaining
five rooms would retain ADF values of 1.7% to 1.9%, marginally below the 2% target for LKDs but above
the target for lounge / diners.  The three remaining rooms are bedrooms, which would achieve an ADF of
0.8% - 0.9% against a target value of 1%.

94. In terms of sunlight, 23 of the 115 south-facing windows tested would see a reduction in annual APSH.
However seven of these would retain values of 22% - 24%, only marginally below the 25% target.  The
remaining 16 windows would have APSH values of less than 10%, however these would have very low
values in the existing situation, which is considered to be due to the style of the building and overhanging
balconies.  These impacts are the same under both Scenarios

95. Wembley High Road / Cecil Avenue is a consented scheme of up to ten storeys on the corner site due
south of the application site.  A total of 188 rooms at this scheme were assessed for impacts on their
ADF values, and 88 would meet the target value under Scenario 1.  Of the remaining 100 rooms, 32
serve separate kitchens (less than 13sqm), together with 63 bedrooms and five LKDs.  The kitchens
would achieve values of 0.2% to 1.5%, however all fail to meet the 2% ADF target in the existing situation
and, given their small size, are unlikely to be used for long periods of time.  Of the 63 bedrooms, 34 do
not meet the 1% target in the existing situation and the retained ADF would be between 0.1% and 0.9%.
The five LKDs would retain ADF values of 1.3% to 1.9% against the 2% criteria.

96. Under Scenario 2, the number of rooms meeting the ADF target would fall to 52 out of 188.  The
remaining 132 rooms not meeting the target include 42 kitchens of less than 13sqm in size, 84 bedrooms
and six LKDs.  The kitchens all fail to meet the target in the existing situation and the retained values of
0.1% to 1.3% would be marginally below those in Scenario 1.  Of the 84 bedrooms, 43 do not meet the
criteria in the existing situation, and the retained values would be between 0.1% and 0.9%.  The six LKDs
would retain ADF values of 1.3% to 1.8% against the 2% target.

97. Fourteen windows were tested for sunlight, and all would continue to comply with BRE Guidelines under
both Scenarios.

Page 34



98. In terms of overshadowing to neighbouring amenity spaces, the impact on the communal amenity area at
Wembley Link has been assessed and would remain compliant in Scenario 1 (it has not been tested
against Scenario 2, which would not result in any additional impact).  The roof terrace at the consented
Ujima House scheme was not tested as, due to the relative orientation of the buildings, it is not
considered that this would be materially affected by the development.

99. In conclusion, whilst there would be some noticeable impacts in terms of daylight to neighbouring
properties, these would primarily affect hotel rooms and recently consented but unoccupied
developments, neither of which would have the same expectations of daylight as established residential
properties.  In this respect, the impact is considered to be of a scale and nature that could be accepted in
a dense urban area such as this.  The wider planning benefits associated with the redevelopment and
regeneration of Wembley High Road are considered to be sufficient to outweigh concerns regarding
levels of daylight in this case.

Quality of student accommodation

Policy background

100. London Plan Policy H15 requires PBSA schemes to provide adequate functional living space and
layout.  However, there are no specific policy standards in terms of minimum internal floorspace or
external amenity space.  Brent’s Policy BH7 requires non self-contained accommodation including
student accommodation to provide acceptable quality, meeting appropriate standards for the needs of its
occupants, including external amenity space, and appropriate communal facilities.

101. The BRE Guidelines published in 2011 recommend an Average Daylight Factor (ADF) of 2% for
kitchens, 1.5% for living rooms and 1% for bedrooms, although 1.5% is generally used for combined
living spaces.  Standards for daylight distribution and sunlight, including sunlight to amenity spaces, are
also recommended.  The Guidelines recognise that sunlight is most valued in living spaces, rather than
bedrooms and kitchens.

102.The 2011 Guidelines were recently superseded by 2022 Guidelines.  These are not based on Average
Daylight Factor, as the associated British Standard is now obsolete.  They use a more complex modelling
methodology that takes into account factors such as weather, time of day and window orientation.  The
assessment of sunlight has also altered, with the new target being a minimum of 1.5 hours of sunlight on
21 March.  However, as this application was made prior to the publication of the 2022 Guidelines, the
assessment carried out was based on the 2011 Guidelines. 

Internal layout

103. Internally, the layouts are well-planned and present a range of typologies that support different ways of
living for a range of different residents.  In the cluster units, the placement of the shared kitchen and living
spaces on the ends of the building would allow these spaces to benefit from corner windows providing
dual aspect.  In terms of internal floorspace, the cluster bedrooms would all be 12.5sqm in area with a
kitchen / living area of 25sqm to 31sqm shared between six or seven bedrooms, while the studio rooms
would be 17sqm – 19sqm, the premier studios up to 25sqm, and the twodios between 38sqm and
51sqm.  All rooms would have private ensuite facilities.  A total of 34 bedrooms would be accessible for
wheelchair users, with adjustable worktops and larger ensuites (including eight rooms in twodio units,
which would allow wheelchair users to share with a carer or other friend, and premium studios on floors
10 – 15).

104. Internal daylight and sunlight has been assessed, using a target of 1.5% ADF for cluster bedrooms,
communal study areas and ancillary ground floor spaces, and 2% for studio rooms and shared kitchen /
living areas.  Overall, 93% of habitable rooms assessed would achieve the recommended ADF values.
Daylight distribution within rooms was also assessed, and 96% of rooms would meet or exceed the target
against this measure.  The majority of rooms (89%) with a window facing within 90 degrees of due south
would meet or exceed the BRE targets for sunlight, and those falling below this target would be either the
first floor communal spaces with direct access to the external terraces or dual-aspect studio rooms with a
main window facing north and secondary window facing east or west, which would have a lower
expectation of sunlight. 

105. In the context of student accommodation in a high density urban environment, the proposal is
considered to provide a very good standard of internal daylight and sunlight.

Page 35



Communal amenity space

106. The proposal offers a good variety of amenity spaces throughout, which would give future residents
greater choice and flexibility of lifestyes.  These include common areas, study spaces, a library, laundry
room, private dining room, gym and multi-use studio.  The total area of internal amenity spaces proposed
is 570sqm, which equates to an average of 1.5sqm per bedspace.

107. Externally, first floor terraces of 49sqm on each of the two wings of the building would be accessed
through the internal communal areas and would provide a series of spaces for small groups separated by
trellises with climbing plants, and a roof terrace on the thirteenth floor roof would provide an additional
253sqm of external space.  The total of 351sqm external space would equate to approx 1sqm per
student.

108. The thirteenth floor roof terrace would be landscaped and provide spaces to study, eat or exercise
outside, with a view of the Wembley Stadium arch.  This area would receive at least two hours direct
sunlight on 21 March across 82% of its area, and most of the space would have over six hours of sunlight
on this date and in the summer.  In terms of the BRE targets for overshadowing of external amenity
spaces, it would be very well sunlit throughout the year.

109. A significant level of consideration has been given to the uses and layouts of the communal amenity
spaces, with a number of different scenarios set out in the Design & Access Statement.  In particular, the
approach to distributing amenity spaces throughout the scheme, in the form of study spaces on every
other floor, is strongly welcomed and represents an exemplary solution to tackling isolation, creating
opportunities for incidental social interaction and therefore supporting the health and wellbeing of future
residents by creating smaller communities within a much larger community.

Comparison with other student accommodation developments

110. The Design & Access Statement sets out a comparison of student housing developments in Wembley
and elsewhere in London, in terms of the level of internal space provided.  This is summarised in the
table below, which demonstrates that the proposal is comparable to other developments in terms of the
size of the basic cluster room and the amount of kitchen space for students, and that it provides
noticeably more internal amenity space than all the other schemes reviewed.  The range of communal
facilities provided is similar across the seven schemes.

Cluster room area Kitchen area per
bedspace

Internal communal
amenity space per
bedspace

Proposal 12.5sqm 4.3sqm 1.5sqm

Unite, Olympic Way 9.5sqm 3.14sqm 0.65sqm

Apex House, Fulton
Way

14sqm 4.44sqm 0.57sqm

Kelaty House, First
Way

13.5sqm 5.45sqm 0.76sqm

Raffles House,
Lakeside Way

11.8sqm - 12.7sqm 3.9sqm 0.47sqm

Scape, Fulton Road 12sqm 3.56sqm Information not provided

Vita Student
Exchange, Lewisham

12.6sqm 4.2sqm 0.92sqm

111. This review was supplemented by visits to the Grand Felda House and Felda House developments in
Wembley, input from a specialist student housing provider, focus groups and an online survey of students
and graduates, to help understand students’ priorities and needs.  Space to socialise, external areas,
shared study spaces and access to a gym were amongst the key priorities, all of which would be provided
in the proposed development.

Conclusion

Page 36



112. In summary, it is considered that the proposal would offer a good standard of accommodation for
students, in terms of internal private and communal space, external amenity space, daylight and sunlight,
and the range of communal facilities provided. The proposal compares well with other student housing
developments and would contribute effectively to students’ overall wellbeing.

Sustainability and energy

Policy background

113. All major developments are required to achieve zero carbon standards including a 35% reduction on
the Building Regulations Part L Target Emission Rates achieved on-site, in accordance with the energy
hierarchy set out in London Plan Policy SI2.  An Energy Assessment is required, setting out how these
standards are to be achieved and identifying a financial contribution to Brent’s carbon-offsetting fund to
compensate for residual carbon emissions.  Ongoing monitoring and reporting of energy performance is
also required under the ‘Be Seen’ part of this policy, and a whole lifecycle carbon assessment is required
for applications referable to the Mayor.  London Plan Policy S7 also requires a circular economy
statement.

114. The Building Regulations Part L 2021 took effect from 15 June 2022 and all planning applications
submitted on or after this date are required to comply with this version, which supersedes the 2013 Part
L.  However transitional arrangements have been set out, under which the new Regulations will not apply
where the local authority receives notice of building work before 15 June 2022 and building work starts
before 15 June 2023.  The GLA have previously confirmed that the proposal can be assessed against the
2013 Regulations under these transitional arrangements.

115. Planning applications for major development are required to be supported by a Sustainability
Statement in accordance with Policy BSUI1, demonstrating at the design stage how sustainable design
and construction measures would mitigate and adapt to climate change over the lifetime of the
development, including limiting water use to 105 litres per person per day.  Major commercial floorspace
is required to achieve a BREEAM Excellent rating and this also needs to be appropriately evidenced.

116. An overheating assessment is also required, to assess and mitigate the risk of high temperatures in
residential units in accordance with London Plan Policy SI4, and Policy SI7 also requires a circular
economy statement for applications referable to the Mayor.

Proposed energy strategy

117. The energy strategy submitted sets out details of how regulated carbon emissions would be reduced
by 12.94% through energy efficiency (‘Be Lean’ measures) and by a further 49.36% by generating
renewable energy on-site (‘Be Green’ measures).  Measures proposed include passive solar gain, waste
water heat recovery (taking advantage of the high demand for hot water associated with student
accommodation), use of air source heat pumps for heating and hot water, and photovoltaic panels.
Although there would be a slight shortfall against the target 15% reduction through ‘Be Lean’ measures,
the total reduction in emissions would be 62.3%, which significantly exceeds the 35% policy target, and
the limited conflict with Policy SI2 is considered to be acceptable in this case.  The contribution to Brent’s
carbon offsetting fund is estimated at this stage to be £338,725, and would be secured through the s106
agreement together with updated energy assessments at detailed design and post-construction stages.
The risk of overheating has also been assessed, and the proposal would comply with the requirements in
this respect.

118. The proposal does not include any connection to a district heat network (‘Be Clean’ measures).
Brent’s Energy Manager has confirmed that whilst there are a number of small communal heating
systems along the High Road there is not known to be a district heat network operating nearby.  It is not
currently possible to connect to the district heat network in Wembley Park, as there is no provision to
cross the railway at that point.  However, the development would be expected to ensure that there is
potential for future connection should it be possible to cross the railway in the future or an alternative
network becomes available.  This future connection would be secured by condition.

119. Subsequent amendments to the scheme included installation of two PV panels on the roof of the
central core.  This would further reduce the on-site carbon emissions towards the zero-carbon target,
which would be captured in the detailed design stage and post-completion stage energy assessments.

Page 37



120. A BREEAM pre-assessment was submitted, setting out how a BREEAM Excellent rating could be
achieved for the development.  As with all assessments at this stage, the assessment is predictive as it
incorporates assumptions about how the detailed design, construction and operation stages would
perform against BREEAM criteria, which cannot be confirmed at this stage.  However the targeted score
of 80.33% significantly exceeds the 70% threshold for an Excellent rating, and consequently this rating is
considered to be achievable.  Further evidence of the achievement of this rating would be required prior
to occupation of the building.

Whole lifecycle and circular economy

121. The Design & Access Statement includes a review of the existing buildings and their refurbishment
potential.  This demonstrates that the building fabric of Fairgate House performs poorly in terms of its
thermal properties and would need upgrading to reduce energy demand, that the building relies heavily
on gas heated radiators, that roof elements have been leaking, that external walls are poorly insulated,
leading to condensation and internal mould, and squatters have caused internal damage.  Floor to ceiling
heights are very low and the internal layout is poor.  The smaller building, Pitman House, also has poor
thermal performance and would require significant upgrading.  With only three storeys it does not make
efficient use of land in this town centre location.  As such, although the retention and refurbishment of
existing buildings can be beneficial in terms of whole lifecycle carbon emissions, it is considered that this
is unlikely to be the most sustainable solution in this case.

122. A whole lifecycle carbon assessment was submitted.  This presents a quantitative analysis of the
operational carbon emissions associated with the existing buildings and with the proposed building (the
latter is based on the emissions predicted in the energy strategy discussed above), and the embodied
carbon emissions associated with the manufacture, transport and construction activities required to
create the new building.  Emissions associated with maintenance, repair, replacement and demolition are
also considered.  This process allows for the choice of materials and construction methods to be
reviewed in the light of the potential to reduce the associated carbon emissions.  This document has
been reviewed by the GLA and subsequently revised to reflect their comments.  A further assessment
would be required post-construction, and this would be secured by condition.

123. A circular economy statement was also submitted, and subsequently revised in response to comments
from the GLA.  This covers issues including reuse of materials arising from demolition and remediation
works, minimising demand for materials and enabling their reuse, managing waste on site and
encouraging waste recycling, storage space and collection systems to support recycling and reuse.  No
details on operational waste management have been provided, and these would be sought together with
other details of servicing as discussed under ‘Transport Considerations’ below.

Impacts on microclimate and reception of TV and radio services

124. A Wind Microclimate Assessment has been submitted with the application.  This uses the Lawson
Comfort Criteria, which is the industry standard defining how an average pedestrian would react to
different wind levels.  Wind speeds are categorised as being suitable for either sitting, standing, strolling
or walking, or as uncomfortable for most activities.  Developments should aim to provide at least strolling
conditions along pedestrian thoroughfares, standing conditions at main entrances, drop off areas, taxi
ranks and bus stops, sitting conditions at outdoor seating areas in the summer, and standing conditions
in large public amenity spaces in the summer, with sitting conditions at designated seating locations.
Finally, sitting or standing conditions should be achieved in summer on balconies and private amenity
spaces – providing sitting conditions in summer would generally ensure that standing conditions could be
maintained in winter.  Strong wind thresholds requiring mitigation measures are also defined.

125. The assessment assumes that the Wembley Link and Cecil Avenue developments are part of the
existing surroundings, whilst the Ujima House development is assumed to form part of a cumulative
scenario together with this proposal.  This approach is consistent with the approach taken to analyse
daylight and sunlight impacts.

126. The proposal would not create any regions of potentially unsafe wind conditions, and ground level
conditions would be suitable for the intended use or consistent with baseline conditions.  The proposal
would create some localised improvements in wind conditions, such as at the entrances to retail units on
the south side of the High Road, which would be more suitable for the intended use than at present.
Conditions on the external first floor and thirteenth floor terraces would also be suitable for the intended
use.

Page 38



127. A survey of predicted impacts from the development on TV and radio reception to neighbouring
properties, and any necessary mitigation measures, would be required and would be secured through the
s106 agreement.

Environmental health considerations

Air quality

128. Like many areas in Brent, the site is in an Air Quality Management Area.  London Plan Policy SI1
requires that all major developments within London are Air Quality Neutral.  As such, an Air Quality
Neutral Assessment needs to be undertaken and submitted with the planning application.  Brent’s Policy
BSUI2 requires major developments in Growth Areas to be Air Quality Positive, in line with the approach
set out in the GLA’s draft Air Quality Positive guidance.

129. An air quality assessment has been submitted, and includes an air quality neutral assessment and air
quality positive statement.  The assessment considers the air quality impacts associated with use of the
emergency life-saving generator and pumps for fire use, in addition to the construction and operation of
the development. The air quality assessment has also considered the level of exposure for occupiers of
the proposed development in relation to concentrations of pollutants and concludes that the levels are
below objectives, and therefore future residents and users will experience acceptable air quality, without
the need for mitigation measures.

130. The document has been reviewed by Environmental Health officers, who have confirmed that it is
acceptable and that there are no objections in relation to air quality and no further conditions are required.

Noise and vibration

131. London Plan Policy D14 expects new developments to reduce, manage and mitigate noise to improve
health and quality of life.  An acoustic assessment was submitted, and identifies sources of external
noise in the vicinity of the site, including traffic and road works on the High Road, internal plant and the
use of the commercial units.  Although there is notable noise from the Chiltern railway line to the north of
the proposal, it is not thought that railway noise will have an adverse impact on future occupants.
Recommendations are put forward to ensure that future occupants of the accommodation do not suffer a
loss of amenity as a result of internal and external noise, including use of mechanical ventilation heat
recovery to avoid the need to open windows for extended periods, and measures to restrict noise from
the commercial units.

132. Environmental Health officers have reviewed the report and recommend a condition to secure
evidence that the recommended mitigation measures have been implemented.  A condition to limit noise
from plant and equipment is also required.  In terms of noise from the proposed development impacting
on neighbouring residents, it is considered that implementation of a Student Management Plan would be
sufficient to prevent any undue nuisance or disturbance occurring.

Contaminated land

133. A ground investigation report was submitted with the planning application.  Environmental Health
officers have reviewed the document and note that the criteria used are for public open space rather than
a residential end use with plant uptake (ie the potential for food growing on site), with most of the
landscaped area consisting of ground floor raised planters and roof terraces.

134. On this basis, the report is considered acceptable and no conditions are required.  There are no
positive indications that the site is likely to be contaminated.  Given the limited area of ground floor
landscaping, the nature of student lifestyles and the managed character of the development, food
growing is considered to be unlikely to take place on site, and any change of use involving conventional
housing at ground floor level would require further planning permission.  An informative is recommended,
to advise on reporting any unexpected evidence of contamination during excavation works.

Construction process

135. A condition is recommended, to secure the submission of a Construction Method Statement prior to
commencement, to control dust, noise and other nuisance impacts of the construction process.

Flood risk and drainage

Page 39



136. The site is within a Flood Zone 1 for both surface water and fluvial flooding and is not in a critical
drainage area, but is susceptible to groundwater flooding.  London Plan Policy SI13 and Brent Policy
BSUI4 require sustainable drainage measures on major development sites.

137. A Flood Risk Assessment and Drainage Strategy was submitted with the application.  The proposed
scheme would provide a 95% discharge rate betterment for the site for a 1 in 100 year event via grey
attenuation and blue roofs.  The blue roofs would be located on the sixteenth and thirteenth floors, and
the attenuation tank would be located below ground.

138. The Local Lead Flood Authority have assessed the proposed strategy and confirm that it would offer a
significant improvement on the current brownfield discharge rates and is acceptable on this basis.
Compliance with the strategy would be secured by condition.

Trees, biodiversity and urban greening

139. Trees are a material planning consideration in any planning application, and Brent’s Local Plan Policy
BGI2 requires major developments to make provision for planting and retention of trees on site.  The
railway line embankments are part of a designated wildlife corridor protected by Brent's Policy BGI1, and
this policy also requires new development to achieve a net gain in biodiversity on site. 

140. London Plan Policy G5 and Brent's Policy BGI1 encourage development proposals to embed urban
greening as a fundamental element of site and building design, and require detailed information on the
development’s urban greening factor to be submitted as part of major planning applications.  The urban
greening factor combines measures such as new tree planting, biodiversity enhancements, landscaping
and sustainable drainage features into a single measure, and Policy G5 seeks a score of 0.4 for
predominantly residential developments.

141. The Arboricultural Impact Assessment surveys five street trees to the front of the site, and fifteen trees
or tree groups on land to the rear of the site (including ten on the land within the applicant’s ownership
that is proposed for the accompanying landscaping works under ref 22/2956).  Nine of these ten trees are
proposed to be removed, including eight low quality Category C trees and one tree that needs removal
due to its poor condition.  One moderate value Category B tree would be retained, together with the ten
trees within the railway embankment land and the five street trees.  A tree protection plan is provided,
showing construction exclusion zones, barrier fencing and stem protection areas, and compliance with
this would be secured by condition.

142. Within the site, planting of ten new trees is proposed as part of the landscaping scheme, comprising
six at the front of the building and four to the rear.  Further details of these would be required as part of a
detailed landscaping condition, and additional tree planting would be secured as part of the
accompanying landscaping works under ref 22/2956.  In addition, a financial contribution of £7,000 would
be secured through the s106 agreement, to enable the planting of street trees in the vicinity of the site to
offset the visual impact of high density development.

143. A CAVAT assessment was submitted (this quantifies the financial value of trees to be removed and
proposed tree planting) and assessed the value of the trees to be removed as £3,249 and the value of
proposed trees as £11,737.  This relates to an earlier set of landscaping proposals involving more dense
tree planting to the rear of the site (22 trees in total), and the financial value of trees on site would be
reduced under the current proposal.  However it is considered that this would be more than compensated
for by the additional tree planting secured under ref 22/2956.

144. To assess potential biodiversity impacts, the application has been supported by an Ecological
Appraisal, which reports on an extended habitat survey of the site, daytime assessments of the buildings
and trees on site for evidence of bats, and a dusk emergency survey of the buildings.  The buildings were
found to have low potential to support roosting bats, although habitat adjacent to the site provides
opportunities for foraging and commuting bats, and the buildings and mixed scrub provide opportunities
for nesting birds.  The site provides only habitats of negligible ecological value and negligible
opportunities for other protected or priority species.

145. The report recommends measures to avoid or reduce any adverse impacts, including checks for
hedgehogs and nesting birds, and a sensitive lighting scheme, together with habitat creation to improve
the biodiversity value of the site.  Bird boxes and insect nest boxes are proposed, and further details of
these would be secured as part of the materials and landscaping conditions.

Page 40



146. The Biodiversity Impact Assessment Report goes on to quantify the existing and proposed biodiversity
of the site.  The existing site has a small area of introduced shrub with scattered trees, and has a
biodiversity value of 0.07 habitat units.  Whilst the majority of the site would continue to comprise
buildings and hardstanding, he proposal would also introduce ornamental planting in front of the building,
fern planting to the rear and small areas of roof planted as intensive green roofs, in addition to climbing
plants and ten replacement trees.  The completed development would have a biodiversity value of 0.17
habitat units, representing an increase of 251% in biodiversity over the existing site.

147. The proposal includes an urban greening factor plan, showing that an Urban Greening Factor of 0.36
would be achieved.  Whilst this falls marginally short of the 0.4 target, it is considered that the proposal
has optimised the scope for urban greening within the site.  Furthermore, the additional soft landscaping
and tree planting proposed under ref 22/2956 would result in a higher overall score for the combined
development.  On this basis the urban greening of the site is considered to be acceptable and to
incorporate new tree planting, high quality landscaping and biodiversity enhancements to comply with the
relevant policies.

Transport considerations

148. Wembley High Road is a London distributor road and bus route, and a Controlled Parking Zone
operates from 8am to 6.30pm Monday to Saturday (8am to midnight on Wembley Stadium event days).
The PTAL rating is 6a (excellent).  On-street parking and loading is generally prohibited at all times,
however there is a loading bay (17m in length) on the High Road immediately to the front of the site.

Parking provision

149. London Plan Policy T6 strongly supports a move towards more sustainable travel choices, and expects
car free development (in which only designated Blue Badge parking is provided) to be the starting point in
accessible locations such as this.  Policy T6.1 sets out maximum parking allowances for residential
developments (the maximum for areas of PTAL 6 is car-free development other than for disabled
persons parking), and Local Plan Policy BT2 also requires student housing development to be car free.

150. No parking is proposed, and this would comply with the relevant parking standards.  Although students
would not be eligible for on-street parking permits, as they would not be permanent residents, a condition
is recommended to ensure that students are notified of this.

Cycle parking

151. London Plan Policy T5 requires the provision of 0.75 cycle parking spaces per bedspace for the
student accommodation, in addition to one short-term space per 40 bedrooms.  This results in a
requirement for 262 long-stay spaces and eight short-stay spaces for students in this case.  In addition,
four long-stay and two short-stay spaces would be required for the commercial units.

152. The proposals include the provision of a cycle store on the first floor, comprising 262 spaces including
248 spaces on two-tier stands and 14 spaces provided as ‘Sheffield’ stands which would provide 5% of
the spaces in an accessible form.  A detailed specification for the two-tier stands has been provided to
demonstrate that the spacings would be achievable.  A dedicated over-sized lift to the cycle store would
be provided, accessed via a lobby from the eastern colonnade.  In case of the lift breaking down, cyclists
could also access the lifts in the main core.  Arrangements for the management of the cycle parking
would be secured through the revised Student Management Plan.

153. Twelve external ‘Sheffield’ stands would be provided to the front and western side of the building,
providing 24 short-stay spaces which exceeds the policy requirement.  Cycle storage for the commercial
units would be provided within the units and in accordance with the detailed requirements of the individual
tenants, and further details of these could be secured by condition.

154. Amendments to the cycle storage were secured following concerns raised by Transport officers and
TfL, and these are now considered to be acceptable.

Servicing

155. Deliveries and servicing are proposed to be undertaken from the on-street loading bay at the front of
the site.  To understand the current demand for the loading bay, the Transport Assessment includes

Page 41



survey data of vehicles using it from 7am to 7pm on Thursday 26 May 2022.  This indicates that the bay
has some spare capacity, whilst some of the vehicles observed using the bay were servicing existing
units on the site, a demand that would be displaced by the proposed development.  It is therefore
considered that the proposals are unlikely to result in excessive use of the bay, whilst the Delivery and
Servicing Plan submitted indicates that deliveries will be co-ordinated between the different uses on the
site.

156. Further details would be needed to demonstrate that the process of students moving in and out of the
accommodation would be managed within the capacity of the loading bay, particularly at the start and
finish of term, when deliveries to the site would be at their most intensive.  Although the issue is
addressed to a limited extent in the Student Management Plan, it is considered that student demand for
use of the loading bay would need to be carefully co-ordinated with demand for deliveries to the
commercial units and with other uses, to prevent vehicles queueing to enter the loading bay and
potentially impacting on bus services operating along the road.  Consequently these details would need to
be required as part of a final Delivery and Servicing Plan prior to occupation.

157. Transport for London has sought further assurances of how delivery and servicing vehicles would be
prevented from blocking the road whilst queuing to enter the loading bay, which in turn could impact on
bus services operating along this road.  This concern relates specifically to the student move-in and
move-out process, which would need to be carefully managed in this respect.  In response to such
concerns, the applicant has advised that students as part of their leases will be advised on moving in and
out procedures and the appointed Student Management Company will be responsible for this process to
avoid any crossover/impact. Further details on the final arrangements will be secured within the delivery
and service plan and the student management plan, and this has been agreed by Transport for London.

158. The plans show a refuse store for the student accommodation, comprising 20 x 1,100L bins.  Based
on Brent’s standards for conventional housing developments, storage of 41,800L would be required,
divided equally between dry recycling and residual waste.  Furthermore, the store would be located over
20m from the on-street loading bay.  The applicant has advised that refuse store has been designed
based on the experience of the operator for the student accommodation (CRM) with other student
accommodation that they manage. They have confirmed that it is typical for student operators to have
private refuse collections that occur on a twice-a-week basis, and that the size of the refuse store has
been designed to allow for this frequency of collections and for the amount of waste expected to be
collected from 349 bedrooms. To address the concerns in relation to the carrying distance being over
10m from the loading bay, private refuse collection arrangement will need to be agreed and secured
through a Section 106 obligation.  A refuse management plan will be required by condition and also need
to secure details of how students would be encouraged to recycle waste and minimise residual waste.

Transport Assessment

159. The Transport Assessment uses the TRICS database to predict the potential trip generation of the
proposals and as the development is to be ‘car-free’, the majority of these trips would be made by
walking, cycling or public transport.  The predicted 33 two-way trips in the morning peak and 49 two-way
trips in the afternoon peak are considered to be unlikely to have a significant impact on local public
transport capacity.

160. Transport for London have noted that the site’s location within an area of high growth could result in
cumulative impacts on the public transport network.  A financial contribution of £39,000 to public transport
improvements has been agreed between the applicant and TfL, and would be secured through the s106
agreement.

Active Travel Zone, Healthy Streets and Vision Zero

161. An Active Travel Zone Assessment (ATZ) and Healthy Streets assessment was carried out in line with
London Plan Policy T2.  Routes to four key destinations were assessed (Lancelot Medical Centre on
Lancelot Road, King Edward VII Park on Park Lane, Wembley Park Boulevard local shops and bus stops
on Wembley Hill Road).  The routes involve walking to Wembley Central and Wembley Stadium Stations,
and to the bus stops along the High Road.

162. This exercise highlighted aspects of the walking and cycling environment close to the site that could be
improved in order to encourage more active travel, in particular in regard to cycle access and the lack of
a dedicated cycle route.  In this context, it is noted that the development has been designed with an
appropriate setback so as to not preclude the future delivery of measures such as a protected cycle track

Page 42



and it has not been requested by your transport officers for this scheme to be required to undertake any
specific highway improvement works under s.278 works. Brent’s Infrastructure Delivery Plan (IDP) has
identified active transport projects being considered and planned for within Brent and one of these relates
to Wembley Hub Cycle Route enhancements. Funding for this project has been identified to be source by
TfL and developer funding within the IDP. Further information has been provided on road accidents in the
surrounding area, and it is noted that these have occurred in the vicinity of signalised crossings which
would generally be expected to minimise any such incidents.

Travel Plan

163. A Travel Plan has been submitted, which includes a target of at least 80% of occupants using walking,
cycling and public transport, in line with the modal shift targets set out in the Mayor’s Transport Strategy. 

164. An updated Travel Plan would be secured through the s106 agreement, together with arrangements
for on-going monitoring and review.  As the development would be car-free, the applicant has agreed to
the final Travel Plan including a target of 100% of trips being by walking, cycling or public transport in this
case.

Construction Logistics Plan

165. A Framework Construction Logistics Plan has been submitted, which estimates a construction
period of approx 30 months in which the peak number of estimated construction vehicle trips would be 13
per day.  More details of where construction vehicles would park whilst servicing the site would need to
be submitted, and this would need to be in a suitable location to minimise disruption to the highway and
the operation of bus services, and avoids vehicles having to reverse onto or from the High Road.  Swept
path analysis would also be required to ensure any reverse manoeuvring by construction vehicles is
minimised.

166. The vehicle route to the site has been indicated as involving arrivals from the A406 and A40 via Ealing
Road and departures to the A406 via Harrow Road.  Transport officers’ preference is for all movements
to and from the site to be via Harrow Road and the A406, and more detailed arrangements for the routing
and parking of construction vehicles would be required as part of a final Construction Logistics Plan to be
required by condition.

Conclusion

167. A car-free development is acceptable in this location and adequate cycle parking provision would be
made, together with arrangements for deliveries and servicing to be undertaken without affecting the flow
of traffic on the highway.  Subject to the conditions and planning obligations recommended above, and
any financial contribution requested by TfL being secured through the s106 agreement, the proposal is
considered to be acceptable in transport terms.

Equalities

168. In line with the Public Sector Equality Duty, the Council must have due regard to the need to eliminate
discrimination and advance equality of opportunity, as set out in section 149 of the Equality Act 2010. In
making this recommendation, regard has been given to the Public Sector Equality Duty and the relevant
protected characteristics (age, disability, gender reassignment, pregnancy and maternity, race, religion or
belief, sex, and sexual orientation).

Environmental Impact Assessment

169. On 14 April 2022 the applicants submitted a request for an Environmental Impact Assessment
Screening Opinion.  On 5 May 2022, the local planning authority published its Screening Opinion, which
concluded that an Environmental Impact Assessment was not required for this development.

Conclusion

170. Subject to the delivery of the landscaping works to the rear of the site (ref 22/2956) being secured
through the s106 agreement, the proposal would be broadly in accordance with the aims of the BSWSA8
site allocation.  Whilst the loss of existing office floorspace is of concern, the proposal is considered to
reprovide the maximum viable amount of commercial floorspace on site, and there is no policy conflict in
this case.

Page 43



171. Following the above discussion, officers consider that taking the development plan as a whole,
the proposal is considered to accord with the development plan, and having regard to all material
planning considerations, should be approved subject to conditions and completion of Section 106
Agreement.

Page 44



DRAFT DECISION NOTICE
DRAFT NOTICE

TOWN AND COUNTRY PLANNING ACT 1990 (as
amended)

DECISION NOTICE – APPROVAL

_______________________________________________________________________________________

Application No: 22/2225
To: Ms Nicks
DP9
100 Pall Mall

SW1Y 5NQ

I refer to your application dated 21/06/2022 proposing the following:

Demolition of existing buildings and construction of an up to part 13 and part 17 storeys (including ground
level) building comprising purposebuilt student bed spaces (Use Class Sui Generis) together with ancillary
communal facilities, flexible non-residential floor space (Use Class E), cycle parking, mechanical plant,
landscaping together with other associated works.

and accompanied by plans or documents listed here:
See Condition 2.

at Fairgate House, 390-400 and 402-408 (Even), High Road, Wembley, HA9

The Council of the London Borough of Brent, the Local Planning Authority, hereby GRANT permission for the
reasons and subject to the conditions set out on the attached Schedule B.

Date:  08/11/2022 Signature:

Gerry Ansell
Head of Planning and Development Services

Notes
1. Your attention is drawn to Schedule A of this notice which sets out the rights of applicants who are

aggrieved by the decisions of the Local Planning Authority.
2. This decision does not purport to convey any approval or consent which may be required under the

Building Regulations or under any enactment other than the Town and Country Planning Act 1990.

DnStdG

Page 45



SCHEDULE "B"
Application No: 22/2225

SUMMARY OF REASONS FOR APPROVAL

1 The proposed development is in general accordance with policies contained in the:-

London Plan 2021
Brent Local Plan 2019-2041

1 The development to which this permission relates must be begun not later than the expiration of
three years beginning on the date of this permission.

Reason:  To conform with the requirements of Section 91 of the Town and Country Planning Act
1990.

2 The development hereby permitted shall be carried out in accordance with the following
approved drawing(s) and/or document(s):

JTP_MP_XX_ES_A_001
JTP-MP-XX-SL-A-001
JTP_MP_XX_SL_A_002
JTP-MP-XX-RP-A-101
JTP-XX-00-GA-A-101
JTP-XX-01-GA-A-102
JTP-XX-02-GA-A-103
JTP-XX-03-GA-A-104
JTP-XX-04-GA-A-105
JTP-XX-05-GA-A-106
JTP-XX-06-GA-A-107
JTP-XX-07-GA-A-108
JTP-XX-EL-XX-A-101
JTP-XX-EL-XX-A-102
JTP-XX-EL-XX-A-103
JTP-XX-EL-XX-A-104
JTP-XX-0B-GA-A-001
JTP-XX-00-GA-A-002 Rev P2
JTP-XX-01-GA-A-003 Rev P2
JTP-XX-02-GA-A-004
JTP-XX-03-GA-A-005
JTP-XX-04-GA-A-006
JTP-XX-05-GA-A-007
JTP-XX-06-GA-A-008
JTP-XX-07-GA-A-009
JTP-XX-08-GA-A-010
JTP-XX-09-GA-A-011
JTP-XX-10-GA-A-012
JTP-XX-11-GA-A-013
JTP-XX-12-GA-A-014
JTP-XX-13-GA-A-015
JTP-XX-14-GA-A-016
JTP-XX-15-GA-A-017
JTP-XX-16-GA-A-018
JTP-XX-RF-GA-A-019 Rev P2
JTP-XX-EL-XX-A-001
JTP-XX-EL-XX-A-002

Page 46



JTP-XX-EL-XX-A-003
JTP-XX-EL-XX-A-004
JTP-XX-EL-XX-A-005
JTP-XX-EL-XX-A-006
JTP-XX-EL-XX-A-007
JTP-XX-EL-XX-A-008
JTP-XX-SE-XX-A-001
JTP-XX-SE-XX-A-002
JTP-XX-SE-XX-A-003
JTP-XX-SE-XX-A-004

8392-PL-GA-101 Rev 02
8392-PL-GA-102
8392-PL-GA-103
8392-PL-GA-104
8392-PL-UGF-105 Rev 02

Air Quality Assessment (Air Quality Consultants, Ref J10/13120A/10, 15 June 2022)
Biodiversity Net Gain Assessment (Ecology by Design, Ref EBD02245, 29 September 2022)
Design & Access Statement (June 2022) (Ecology by Design, Ref EBD02245, 17 June 2022)
Ecological Impact Assessment (Including Bird and bat Assessment) (Ecology by Design, Ref
EBD02245, 17 June 2022)
Fire Statement Report (Ashton Fire, Issue 04, Ref AF2689, 1 September 2022)
Flood Risk Assessment, Drainage & SuDS Strategy (Curtins, Ref
080438-CUR-XX-XX-T-C-92030 Rev P03, 28 June 2022)
Landscape and Public Realm Strategy Report (Spacehub, Ref 8392-DAS-001-REV-01,
September 2002)
Planning Noise and Vibration Report (Sandy Brown Consultants, Ref 22033-R03-C, 13 June
2022)
Tree Survey and Arboricultural Impact Assessment (Tim Moya Associates, Ref 220161-PD-11,
14 June 2022)

Reason:  For the avoidance of doubt and in the interests of proper planning.

3 The student accommodation hereby approved shall be not be occupied other than by Students
for a period of not less than 39 weeks in any year unless otherwise agreed in writing by the
Local Planning Authority.  For the purpose of this condition, Students are defined as any person
enrolled on a full time UK accredited and based further education course at a recognised higher
education institution for not less than 80 % of the course time unless otherwise agreed in writing
by the Local Planning Authority.

Reason: To ensure that the accommodation meets an identified need and contributes towards a
balanced community.

4 The development hereby approved shall provide a minimum of 272sqm of commercial
floorspace.  The floorspace shall not be used other than for purposes in Use Class E,
notwithstanding the provisions of the Town and Country Planning (General) Permitted
Development Order (England) (2015, as amended) (or any order revoking and re-enacting that
Order) without express planning permission having first been granted by the Local Planning
Authority.

Reason: In the interests of proper planning.

5 The cycle storage, refuse storage and all internal and external areas for communal use by
students shall be installed in accordance with the approved plans (or as otherwise agreed in
writing by the local planning authority) prior to occupation of the development hereby approved
and thereafter retained and maintained for the life of the development and not used other than
for purposes ancillary to the occupation of the building hereby approved.

Reason: To encourage sustainable forms of transportation in the interest of highway flow and

Page 47



safety and to ensure an acceptable form of development.

6 All Non-Road Mobile Machinery (NRMM) of net power of 37kW and up to and including 560kW
used during the course of the demolition, site preparation and construction phases shall comply
with the emission standards set out in chapter 7 of the GLA’s supplementary planning guidance
“Control of Dust and Emissions During Construction and Demolition” dated July 2014 (SPG), or
subsequent guidance.  Unless it complies with the standards set out in the SPG, no NRMM
shall be on site, at any time, whether in use or not, without the prior written consent of the local
planning authority.  The developer shall keep an up to date list of all NRMM used during the
demolition, site preparation and construction phases of the development on the online register
at https://nrmm.london/ ”

Reason: To protect local amenity and air quality in accordance with Brent Policy BSUI1 and
London Plan Policy SI1.

7 Occupiers of the student accommodation and commercial floorspace hereby approved, shall
not be entitled to a Residents Parking Permit or Visitors Parking Permit to allow the parking of a
motor car within the Controlled Parking Zone (CPZ) operating in the locality within which the
development is situated unless the occupier is entitled; to be a holder of a Disabled Persons
Badge issued pursuant to Section 21 of the Chronically Sick and Disabled Persons Act 1970.
On, or after, practical completion but prior to any occupation of the student accommodation
development, hereby approved, written notification shall be submitted to the Local Highways
Authority confirming the completion of the development and that the above restriction will be
imposed on all future occupiers of the development.

Reason: In order to ensure that the development does not result in an increased demand for
parking

8 All internal and external communal amenity spaces located on the ground, first and thirteenth
floors shall be made available to all students, regardless of the type and affordability of their
accommodation.  All internal amenity spaces on other floors shall be made available to all
students occupying the relevant floors, regardless of the type and affordability of their
accommodation.

Reason: In the interests of proper planning and to ensure an equitable distribution of amenity
space.

9 The windows on the flank elevation of the eastern wing from second to twelfth floor levels and
the windows on the flank wall of the western wing from second to fifteenth floor shall be
obscured glazed and high opening only (1.7m above internal floor level) and shall be maintained
as such for the life of the development,

Reason: To ensure that the any redevelopment of the neighbouring sites is not compromised.

10 The development shall be carried out fully in accordance with the approved Tree Survey and
Arboricultural Impact Assessment (Tim Moya Associates, 14 June 2022).

Reason: In order to ensure adequate protection for retained trees, in accordance with Brent
Policy BGI2.

11 The development shall be carried out fully in accordance with the Recommendations in the
approved Ecological Impact Assessment (Ecology by Design, 17 June 2022) and Biodiversity
Net Gain Assessment (Ecology by Design, 29 September 2022).

Reason: To prevent any harm to protected species and habitats.

12 The development shall be carried out fully in accordance with the approved Flood Risk
Assessment, Drainage & SuDS Strategy (Curtins, 28 June 2022).

Reason: To ensure adequate arrangements for drainage of the site, in accordance with London

Page 48



Plan Policy SI13 and Brent Local Plan Policy BSUI4.

13 Prior to the commencement of the development a Construction Method Statement shall be
submitted to and agreed by the Local Planning Authority outlining measures that will be taken to
control dust, noise and other environmental impacts of the development.  

The development shall thereafter be constructed in accordance with the approved Construction
Method Statement.

Reason: To safeguard the amenity of the neighbours by minimising impacts of the development
that would otherwise give rise to nuisance.

Reason for pre-commencement condition: Nuisance from demolition and construction activities
can occur at any time, and adequate controls need to be in place before any work starts on site.

14 Prior to commencement of the development hereby approved, a construction logistics plan shall
be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority.  The Construction
Logistics Plan shall include details of how:

- construction would be co-ordinated with the construction operations of other developments in
the area, so as to minimise the cumulative impacts on local residents and businesses. 
- the majority of construction traffic (including all smaller rigid vehicles) would be routed via the
A404 Harrow Road rather than the A406/A40/Ealing Road;
- construction traffic would be managed so as to prevent any undue obstruction to Wembley
High Road and associated bus services.

The development shall thereafter be constructed in accordance with the approved Construction
Logistics Plan.

Reason: To ensure the development is constructed in an acceptable manner.

Pre-commencement Reason: The condition relates to details of construction, which need to be
known before commencement of that construction.

15 Prior to the commencement of development (excluding demolition, site clearance and the laying
of foundations), details of how the development is designed to allow future connection to a
district heating network should one become available, shall be submitted to and approved in
writing by the local planning authority.

The development shall thereafter be completed in accordance with the approved details.

Reason: To ensure the development is in accordance with the principles of London Plan Policy
SI3 and Brent Local Plan Policy BSUI1.

16 Prior to commencement of development (excluding demolition, site clearance and the laying of
foundations), detailed plans shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the local planning
authority demonstrating the provision of sufficient ducting space for full fibre connectivity
infrastructure within the development. The development shall be carried out in accordance with
these plans and maintained as such in perpetuity.

Reason: To provide high quality digital connectivity infrastructure to contribute to London's
global competitiveness.

17 Prior to commencement of development (excluding demolition, site clearance and the laying of
foundations), details of materials for all external work, including samples to be made available at
an agreed location and including details of any proposed integral bird boxes and other integral
habitat boxes, shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority
before any work is commenced.  The work shall be carried out in accordance with the approved
details.

Page 49



Reason: To ensure a satisfactory development which does not prejudice the amenity of the
locality.

18 Prior to first occupation or use of the development, a detailed landscaping scheme shall be
submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority.  The approved
landscaping work shall be completed:-

(a) prior to use or occupation of the building, in respect of all hard landscaping elements
and boundary treatments;
(b) during the first available planting season following completion of the development
hereby approved, in respect of all soft landscaping elements.

The scheme shall include details of:-
i. Proposed materials for all hard surfaces;
ii. Species, sizes, locations and densities for all trees and shrubs;
iii. Details of materials and size of all raised planters and trellises;
iv. Details of external furniture and informal seating;
v. Details of biodiversity enhancement measures as set out in the approved

Biodiversity Net Gain Assessment;
vi. Details of external lighting across the site in accordance with Artificial Lighting

Guidance (Bat Conservation Trust & Institute of Lighting Professionals, 2018)
including diagrams of light spillage;

vii. Details of any external CCTV installations;
viii. Details of the proposed arrangements for maintenance of the landscaping.

Any trees and shrubs planted in accordance with the landscaping scheme which, within 5 years
of planting are removed, dying, seriously damaged or become diseased shall be replaced in
similar positions by trees and shrubs of similar species and size to those originally planted
unless otherwise agreed in writing with the Local Planning Authority.

Reason:  To ensure a satisfactory standard of appearance and setting for the development and
to ensure that the proposed development enhances the visual amenity of the locality in the
interests of the amenities of the occupants of the development and to provide tree planting in
pursuance of section 197 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990.

19 Prior to first occupation or use of the commercial units, further details of long-stay cycle storage
to be provided for occupiers shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the local planning
authority.

Reason: To ensure adequate cycle storage provision in accordance with London Plan Policy T5.

20 Prior to first occupation of the development, a report shall be submitted to and approved in
writing by the local planning authority, which provides evidence that the recommended
mitigation measures described in the approved Planning Noise and Vibration Report (Sandy
Brown Consultants, 13 June 2022) have been implemented.

Reason: In order to safeguard the amenities of future occupiers, in accordance with Brent Local
Plan Policy DMP1.

21 Any plant shall be installed, together with any associated ancillary equipment, so as to prevent
the transmission of noise and vibration into neighbouring premises. The rated noise level from
all plant and ancillary equipment shall be 10dB(A) below the measured background noise level
when measured at the nearest noise sensitive premises.

Prior to first occupation or use of the development, an assessment of the expected noise levels
shall be carried out in accordance with BS4142:2014 ‘Methods for rating and assessing
industrial and commercial sound.’ and any mitigation measures necessary to achieve the above
required noise levels shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning
Authority,

Page 50



The plant shall thereafter be installed and maintained in accordance with the approved details

Reason: To protect acceptable local noise levels, in accordance with Brent Policy DMP1.

22 Prior to first occupation of the student accommodation, an updated Student Management Plan
shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority.  The updated plan
shall include:

- details of the student accommodation management provider appointed to manage the student
accommodation;
- details of a dedicated community liaison contact for the development;
- details of how students would be encouraged and facilitated to recycle waste where practical
to do so;
- details of how access to communal student spaces including external areas and cycle storage
will be managed;
- details of access control measures to ensure safety of students and other users of the
building.
- details of student move in/out procedures to minimise impact on the highway network.

The approved Student Management plan shall be implemented for the life of the development
from first occupation of the student accommodation.

Reason: To ensure that the development is appropriately managed to minimise detrimental
impacts on surrounding properties

23 Prior to first occupation or use of the development, a Delivery and Servicing Plan in relation to
the student accommodation and commercial uses shall be submitted to and approved in writing
by the local planning authority.  This document shall set out measures to ensure that all delivery
and servicing activities, including activities associated with students moving into and out of the
development, can be safely accommodated without adversely affecting conditions on the
highway network or pedestrian safety in the area. 

All delivery and servicing activity shall thereafter be carried out in accordance with the approved
details, unless otherwise approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority.

Reason: To ensure that all delivery and servicing activities can be safely accommodated without
adversely affecting conditions on the highway network or pedestrian safety, in accordance with
London Plan Policy T7 and Brent Local Plan Policy BT3.

24 Prior to first occupation or use of the development, the following shall be submitted to and
approved in writing by the local planning authority:

(i) confirmation from Thames Water that either all foul water network upgrades
required to accommodate the additional flows from the development have been completed; or
(ii) confirmation that a development and infrastructure phasing plan has been agreed
with Thames Water to allow development to be occupied. 

Where a development and infrastructure phasing plan is agreed, no occupation shall take place
other than in accordance with the agreed development and infrastructure phasing plan.

Reason - Network reinforcement works are likely to be required to accommodate the proposed
development.  Any reinforcement works identified will be necessary in order to avoid sewage
flooding and/or potential pollution incidents.

25 Prior to first use of any commercial kitchen within the development, details of the extract
ventilation system and odour control equipment for the kitchen, including all details of external
ducting, must be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority.

The approved equipment shall be installed prior to the commencement of the relevant use and
shall thereafter be operated at all times during the operating hours of the relevant use and

Page 51



maintained in accordance with the manufacturer’s instructions.

Reason: To protect the amenity of nearby residents.

26 Prior to the occupation of the development, a Post Completion Report setting out the predicted
and actual performance against all numerical targets in the relevant Circular Economy
Statement shall be submitted to the GLA at: CircularEconomyLPG@london.gov.uk, along with
any supporting evidence as per the GLA's Circular Economy Statement Guidance. The Post
Completion Report shall provide updated versions of Tables 1 and 2 of the Circular Economy
Statement, the Recycling and Waste Reporting form and Bill of Materials. Confirmation of
submission to the GLA shall be submitted to, and approved in writing by, the local planning
authority, prior to occupation.

Reason: In the interests of sustainable waste management and in order to maximise the re-use
of materials.

27 Prior to the occupation of the building the post-construction tab of the GLA's whole life carbon
assessment template should be completed accurately and in its entirety in line with the GLA's
Whole Life Carbon Assessment Guidance. The post-construction assessment should provide
an update of the information submitted at planning submission stage, including the whole life
carbon emission figures for all life-cycle modules based on the actual materials, products and
systems used. This should be submitted to the GLA at: ZeroCarbonPlanning@london.gov.uk,
along with any supporting evidence as per the guidance. Confirmation of submission to the GLA
shall be submitted to, and approved in writing by, the local planning authority, within three
months of completion of the building.

Reason: In the interests of sustainable development and to maximise on-site carbon dioxide
savings.

28 Within six months from practical completion of the non-domestic floorspace hereby approved, a
revised BREEAM Assessment and Post Construction Certificate, demonstrating compliance
with the BREEAM Certification Process for non-domestic buildings and the achievement of a
BREEAM Excellent rating, shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the local planning
authority.

Reason: To ensure the non-domestic floorspace is constructed in accordance with sustainable
design and construction principles, in accordance with Brent Local Plan Policy BSUI1.

INFORMATIVES

1 The applicant is advised that this development is liable to pay the Community Infrastructure
Levy; a Liability Notice will be sent to all known contacts including the applicant and the agent.
Before you commence any works please read the Liability Notice and comply with its contents
as otherwise you may be subjected to penalty charges. Further information including eligibility
for relief and links to the relevant forms and to the Government’s CIL guidance, can be found
on the Brent website at www.brent.gov.uk/CIL.

2 The applicant is advised to notify the Council’s Highways Service of the intention to
commence works prior to commencement. They shall include photographs showing the
condition of highway along the site boundaries.   The Highways and Infrastructure Service will
require that any damage to the adopted highway associated with the works is made good at
the expense of the developer.

3 The developer should be aware of any protected species legislation relevant to the
implementation of this development, including statutory protection for nesting birds.  Further
guidance on construction near protected species can be found at
https://www.gov.uk/guidance/construction-near-protected-areas-and-wildlife

Page 52



4 Under the Control of Pollution Act 1974, noisy construction works are regulated as follows:

Monday to Fridays - permitted between 08:00 to 18:00
Saturday - permitted between 08:00 to 13:00
At no time on Sundays or Bank Holidays

For work outside these hours, the Control of Pollution Act 1974 allows the council to set times
during which works can be carried out and the methods of work to be used.  Contractors may
apply for prior approval for works undertaken outside of normal working hours.  They should
email the noise team at ens.noiseteam@brent.gov.uk   to obtain a section 61 application form.
Please note that the council has 28 days to process such applications.

5 The applicant should note that this decision does not relate to any aspect of the
advertisements or signage on site. In order to obtain formal approval for these, the applicant
may require advertisement consent under the Town and Country Planning (Control of
Advertisements) Regulations 1992.  The applicant is advised to refer to 'Outdoor
advertisements and signs: a guide for advertisers'
(https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/outdoor-advertisements-and-signs-a-guide-for-a
dvertisers) for further advice.

6 Thames Water has advised of the following:

Where the developer proposes to discharge to a public sewer, prior approval from Thames
Water Developer Services will be required.  Should you require further information please
refer to our website.
https://urldefense.com/v3/__https://www.thameswater.co.uk/developers/larger-scale-developm
ents/planning-your-development/working-near-our-pipes__;!!CVb4j_0G!TLA_Dmlt1r4yurt9WT
mFbpW65M3wGweSb0gx2aAdoO4PZRR2uLKTrEBQEVQO49VHLmbf_fkhBodMkeq1uxMS
M3VrN_jHKyw$

There are public sewers crossing or close to your development. If you're planning significant
work near our sewers, it's important that you minimize the risk of damage. We’ll need to check
that your development doesn’t limit repair or maintenance activities, or inhibit the services we
provide in any other way. The applicant is advised to read our guide working near or diverting
our pipes.
https://urldefense.com/v3/__https://www.thameswater.co.uk/developers/larger-scale-developm
ents/planning-your-development/working-near-our-pipes__;!!CVb4j_0G!TLA_Dmlt1r4yurt9WT
mFbpW65M3wGweSb0gx2aAdoO4PZRR2uLKTrEBQEVQO49VHLmbf_fkhBodMkeq1uxMS
M3VrN_jHKyw$

The proposed development is located within 15 metres of our underground waste water
assets and as such we would like the following informative attached to any approval granted.
“The proposed development is located within 15 metres of Thames Waters underground
assets and as such, the development could cause the assets to fail if appropriate measures
are not taken.  Please read our guide ‘working near our assets’ to ensure your workings are in
line with the necessary processes you need to follow if you’re considering working above or
near our pipes or other structures.
https://urldefense.com/v3/__https://developers.thameswater.co.uk/Developing-a-large-site/Pla
nning-your-development/Working-near-or-diverting-our-pipes__;!!CVb4j_0G!TLA_Dmlt1r4yurt
9WTmFbpW65M3wGweSb0gx2aAdoO4PZRR2uLKTrEBQEVQO49VHLmbf_fkhBodMkeq1ux
MSM3VrJIGBXpg$ .
Should you require further information please contact Thames Water. Email:
developer.services@thameswater.co.uk Phone: 0800 009 3921 (Monday to Friday, 8am to
5pm) Write to: Thames Water Developer Services, Clearwater Court, Vastern Road, Reading,
Berkshire RG1 8DB

We would expect the developer to demonstrate what measures will be undertaken to
minimise groundwater discharges into the public sewer.  Groundwater discharges typically
result from construction site dewatering, deep excavations, basement infiltration, borehole
installation, testing and site remediation.  Any discharge made without a permit is deemed

Page 53



illegal and may result in prosecution under the provisions of the Water Industry Act 1991.
Should the Local Planning Authority be minded to approve the planning application, Thames
Water would like the following informative attached to the planning permission: “A
Groundwater Risk Management Permit from Thames Water will be required for discharging
groundwater into a public sewer.  Any discharge made without a permit is deemed illegal and
may result in prosecution under the provisions of the Water Industry Act 1991.  We would
expect the developer to demonstrate what measures he will undertake to minimise
groundwater discharges into the public sewer.  Permit enquiries should be directed to Thames
Water’s Risk Management Team by telephoning 020 3577 9483 or by emailing
trade.effluent@thameswater.co.uk .  Application forms should be completed on line via
https://urldefense.com/v3/__http://www.thameswater.co.uk__;!!CVb4j_0G!TLA_Dmlt1r4yurt9
WTmFbpW65M3wGweSb0gx2aAdoO4PZRR2uLKTrEBQEVQO49VHLmbf_fkhBodMkeq1ux
MSM3VrYWbWFyA$ .  Please refer to the Wholsesale; Business customers; Groundwater
discharges section.

7 The provisions of The Party Wall etc. Act 1996 may be applicable and relates to work on an
existing wall shared with another property; building on the boundary with a neighbouring
property; or excavating near a neighbouring building. An explanatory booklet setting out your
obligations can be obtained from the Communities and Local Government website
www.communities.gov.uk

8 The applicant must ensure, before work commences, that the treatment/finishing of flank
walls can be implemented as this may involve the use of adjoining land and should also
ensure that all development, including foundations and roof/guttering treatment is carried out
entirely within the application property.

9 Brent Council supports the payment of the London Living Wage to all employees within the
Borough.  The developer, constructor and end occupiers of the building are strongly
encouraged to pay the London Living Wage to all employees associated with the construction
and end use of development.

Page 54



Any person wishing to inspect the above papers should contact June Taylor, Planning and Regeneration,
Brent Civic Centre, Engineers Way, Wembley, HA9 0FJ, Tel. No. 020 8937 2233

Page 55



This page is intentionally left blank



Document Imaged DocRepF
Ref: 22/1386 Page 1 of 20

COMMITTEE REPORT
Planning Committee on 16 November, 2022
Item No 05
Case Number 22/1386

SITE INFORMATION

RECEIVED 13 April, 2022

WARD Kenton

PLANNING AREA Brent Connects Kingsbury & Kenton

LOCATION Minterne Road Garages, Minterne Road, Harrow

PROPOSAL Demolition of existing garages and development of the land for 1x four bed house
with one parking space, cycle and waste stores and associated landscaping

PLAN NO’S Please refer to condition 2

LINK TO DOCUMENTS
ASSOCIATED WITH
THIS PLANNING
APPLICATION

When viewing this on an Electronic Device

Please click on the link below to view ALL document associated to case
<https://pa.brent.gov.uk/online-applications/applicationDetails.do?activeTab=documents&keyVal=DCAPR_159884>

When viewing this as an Hard Copy   

Please use the following steps

1. Please go to pa.brent.gov.uk
2. Select Planning and conduct a search tying "22/1386"  (i.e. Case

Reference) into the search Box
3. Click on "View Documents" tab

Page 57

Agenda Item 5



RECOMMENDATIONS
That the Committee resolve to GRANT planning permission subject to:

That the Head of Planning is delegated authority to issue the planning permission and impose conditions and
attach the following informatives in relation to the following matters:

Conditions

1. Three year commencement rule
2. In accordance with approved plans
3. Water Consumption
4. Restriction of PD rights for dwellinghouses
5. Balcony screen
6. Drainage Strategy measures
7. Restriction of upper floor windows
8. Tree Protection measures
9. Reinstatement of redundant crossovers
10. Construction Method Statement
11. Tree pruning
12. Contaminated land condition 1-investigation
13. External Materials
14. Landscaping
15. Contaminated land condition 2- Remediation and verification

Informatives

1.   Party Wall Act
2.   Building Near Boundary
3.  New and existing crossover
4.  CIL liability
5.  Tree Standards 
6.  Noisy Works
7.  Fire Statements

1. That the Head of Planning is delegated authority to make changes to the wording of the committee’s
decision (such as to delete, vary or add conditions, informatives, planning obligations or reasons for the
decision) prior to the decision being actioned, provided that the Head of Planning is satisfied that any such
changes could not reasonably be regarded as deviating from the overall principle of the decision reached by
the committee nor that such change(s) could reasonably have led to a different decision having been reached
by the committee.

2. That the Committee confirms that adequate provision has been made, by the imposition of
conditions, for the preservation or planting of trees as required by Section 197 of the Town and Country
Planning Act 1990.

SITE MAP
Planning Committee Map
Site address: Minterne Road Garages, Minterne Road, Harrow

© Crown copyright and database rights 2011 Ordnance Survey 100025260

Page 58



This map is indicative only.

Page 59



PROPOSAL IN DETAIL
Demolition of existing garages and development of the land for 1x four bed house with one parking space,
cycle and waste stores and associated landscaping

EXISTING
This site is currently occupied by four garages on the north side of Minterne Road.  The side is adjacent to
the front garden of. No. 1 Minterne Road located to the east and two storey flats of 3 and 5 Minterne Road
located to the west The site does not contain a listed building and is not located within a conservation area.

AMENDMENTS SINCE SUBMISSION
The following amendments were made to the plans during the application:

Crossover has been revised following Transport comments and removal of the redundant crossover
at the developer’s expense
Bin stores have been relocated from the front to the rear of the parking space to provide additional
soft landscaping to the front of the building
Height of the terrace screen has been increased from 1.58 metres 1.7m for privacy matters
Additional landscaping added to the rear courtyard of the garden.

SUMMARY OF KEY ISSUES
The key planning issues for Members to consider are set out below. Members will need to balance all of the
planning issues and the objectives of relevant planning policies when making a decision on the application:

Representations Received: Representations were received from 9 of the occupiers of neighbouring
properties in response to the consultation. In summary the nature of the objections relates to impact on
neighbouring amenity, parking demand, traffic congestion and highway safety concerns, new home being out
of character with the surrounding area, and the Council should be spending money on other improvements
within the area. These are set out below and discussed in the report.

Principle of Development: The site is within a priority location for new homes, and the general principle of
residential development is supported in this location, contributing towards the Council's housing targets.

Highway impacts: The proposed home would be provided with an off street parking, meeting parking
standards. Consideration has also been given to the loss of the existing garages whereby it has been
confirmed by Brent's transportation officers that the loss of the garages would not result on overspill parking
on Minterne Road. The new home would be provided with secure and covered cycle parking and refuse
storage facilities.

Residential amenity: The proposal would not result in a significant impact on the residential amenities of
neighbouring occupiers in terms of noise and disturbance, daylight and sunlight or overlooking.

Design and appearance: The proposal is considered to represent a good standard of design within an infill
site and would not result in harmful impact on the character and appearance of the local area.

Trees and landscaping: Landscaping has been provided with a practical layout in the form of a landscape
buffer along the street frontage and a courtyard garden. The proposal will result in the loss of one tree within
the application site and the Council's tree officer has confirmed in this case that there is no requirement to
provide replacement tree planting within the site given its constrained nature.

Flood Risk: The site does not lie within land that is liable to flooding, but the proposal would result in a
betterment in terms of drainage rates at the site.

RELEVANT SITE HISTORY

Page 60



No relevant planning history.

CONSULTATIONS
8 properties were consulted on 29th April 2022 and re-consulted on 13th of August 2022 following the receipt
of two elevations from the rear and from 3-5 Minterne Road.

Objections were received from 9 individuals from 7 different addresses. A summary of the comments
received is discussed below:

Nature of Objection Officer response
Obstruction of daylight  and overshadowing as the
property is close to the boundaries.

This is discussed within paragraphs 32-43 within
the remarks section below.

Loss of privacy and overlooking. This is discussed within paragraph 30-31 within the
remarks section below.

Noise and disturbance such as smells, light
pollution and late-night activities will cause nuisance
and will have a serious negative impact on the
neighbouring day to day life. 

There is no evidence to suggest that a new home
within a predominantly residential area would cause
nuisance such as smells or late night activities.
Details of landscaping including any external
lighting are recommended to be conditioned.

Noise for the period of construction. It is acknowledged that there will be noise and
disruption during the construction period. There is
environmental health legislation in place to manage
the impacts of construction, and a condition is also
recommended to manage the impact of
construction works through a demolition and
construction method statement. 

Parking space and traffic generation. The road is
narrow and this space allows for cars turning into
the road to pass by the cars exiting the road,
particularly at morning times when the road
becomes very congested.

This is discussed within paragraphs 44-49 within
the remarks section below.

Safety hazard to pedestrians and road users.
including impeding views of neighbouring
driveways.

This is discussed within paragraph 46 within the
remarks section.

The proposal is higher than adjacent buildings and
would be an eyesore and over dominate the space.

This is discussed within paragraphs 7-14 within
remark section below.

Council money could be better spent on other
factors such as improving the pavements which are
currently not suitable for less mobile users.

The local planning authority must consider the
development that is proposed.  Whether the Council
should spend more money maintaining pavements
cannot be considered as part of this application.

Building should be constructed of prefabricated
materials to reduce construction times, noise in a
location on a bend of a narrow road.

While the use of modern methods of construction,
such as the use of pre-fabrication, would be
supported; it would not be necessary in order for the
development to comply with planning policy and
guidance.

Daylight and sunlight impact on Number 1 Minterne
Road side and back garden.

This is discussed within paragraph 42 within the
remarks section below.

Internal consultation

Local Lead Flood Officer - no objections raised.

Environmental Health - no objections subject to conditions being secured in relation to contaminated land and
a demolition/construction method statement.

POLICY CONSIDERATIONS
Section 38(6) of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 requires that the determination of this
application should be in accordance with the development plan unless material considerations indicate
otherwise.

Page 61



The development plan is comprised of the:

London Plan 2021
Brent Local Plan 2019-2041

Key policies include:

London Plan 2021

Policy D3 Optimising site capacity through the design-led approach
Policy D4 Delivering good design 

Policy D6 Housing quality and standards 
Policy D7 Accessible housing 
Policy D12a: Fire Safety
Policy H1 Increasing housing supply 
Policy H2 Small sites 
Policy G5 Urban greening 
Policy G6 Biodiversity and access to nature 
Policy SI 1 Improving air quality 
Policy SI 13 Sustainable drainage 

Policy T5 Cycling 
Policy T6 Car parking 
Policy T6.1 Residential parking 
Policy T7 Deliveries, servicing and construction

Local Plan 2019-2041

DMP1 - Development Management General Policy
BD1 - Leading the way in good design
BH1 - Increasing Housing Supply
BH2 - Priority Areas for Additional Housing Provision within Brent
BH4 - Small Sites and Small Housing Developments in Brent
BH13 - Residential Amenity Space
BGI1 - Blue and Green Infrastructure in Brent
BGI2 - Trees and Woodland
BSUI2 - Air Quality
BSUI4 - On-site Water Management and Surface Water Attenuation
BT1 - Sustainable Travel Choice
BT2 - Parking and Car Free Development
BT3 - Freight and Servicing, Provision and Protection of Freight Facilities
BT4 - Forming an Access on to a Road

Other material considerations include:
National Planning Policy Framework 2021
National Planning Practice Guidance
Council's Supplementary Planning Document 1 "Brent's Design Guide" 2018

DRAFT Small Site Design Codes LPG DRAFT Good Quality Homes for All Londoners Guidance LPG

DETAILED CONSIDERATIONS
Background

1. The proposed homes form a part of the Brent Council project that is aiming to deliver 5000 new homes
over a five year period, 1000 of which are proposed to be delivered through the New Council Homes
Programme. The aim of the New Council Homes Programme is to reduce the high housing waiting list
and the number of residents living within temporary accommodation, by building new homes that meet
the needs of Brent's residents. This site is one of the sites identified within the New Council Homes
Programme to build on land already owned by the Council. 

Page 62



2. The proposed scheme would be for a new house which the applicant has specified will be provided at
'London Affordable Rent' levels.  It should be noted that the proposal is for a single new dwelling, as such
there is no requirement within planning policy for the provision of the home as an Affordable Dwelling
(which is required for schemes of 10 or more homes) or a contribution towards Affordable Housing
(which is required for schemes of 5-9 homes).  While the provision of an Affordable home would be a
planning benefit, this is not required to make the proposed development acceptable in planning terms. As
such, it would not be reasonable or necessary in relation to planning considerations to require the home
to be provided as an Affordable home within the consent and this proposal has been considered on the
basis of the provision of a new home (without reference to tenure).

Principle of development

3. Brent's Housing targets have significantly increased as part of London Plan 2021, with the target
increasing to 2,325 dwellings per annum for the period 2019/20-2028/29 in Policy H1 of the London Plan
recognising the increasing demand for delivery of new homes across London. Brent's local plan policy
BH1 reflects this target as well.

4. Policy D3 of London Plan 2021 required developments to make the best use of land by following a
design-led approach that optimises the capacity of the site, with development that is the most appropriate
form and land use for the site, with the policy recognising that small sites make a significant contribution
towards increasing housing supply within London. This is also set out in policy H2 of London Plan 2021.

5. In response to the strategic policy position above, within Brent's Local Plan, the Council has set out
priority areas for new housing under policy BH2. This policy identifies that new housing would be
prioritised for growth areas, site allocations, town centres, edge of town centre sites, areas with higher
levels of public transport accessibility and intensification corridors.

6. The above position is reinforced in policy BH4 of Brent's Local Plan.  This policy relates to small housing
sites and recognises that such sites can assist in delivering a net addition of self-contained dwellings
through the more intensive and efficient use of sites. Such proposals will be considered where consistent
with other policies in the development plan and within priority locations (i.e. PTAL 3-6, intensification
corridors, or a town centre boundary). In these priority locations, the character of the existing area will be
subject to change over the Local Plan period. Outside the priority locations greater weight will be placed
on the existing character of the area, access to public transport and a variety of social infrastructure easy
accessible on foot when determining the intensity of development appropriate. The site is located within
PTAL of 3 (therefore a priority location for new homes) and close to Brent's intensification corridor and
Kingsbury Town Centre and as such the proposal to provide a new residential unit would contribute to the
borough's housing stock and acceptable in principle subject to all other policy considerations.

Design and appearance

7. The NPPF (2021) requires "Planning Policies and decisions should ensure that developments…are
visually attractive as a result of good architecture, layout, appropriate and effective
landscaping…Permission should be refused for development of poor design which fails to take the
opportunities available for improving the character and quality of an area and the way it functions"
(Paragraphs 127 and 130 of the NPPF, 2021)

8. Brent's local plan policy BD1 requires all new development to be of the highest architectural and urban
design quality. Innovative contemporary design will be supported where it respects and complements
historic character but is also fit for the future.

9. Design should respond to contributing towards "a positive relationship between urban structure and
natural landscape features…" Additional design guidance can be found in DMP1, BD1 ("Local Plan
2019-2041") and within the Councils SPD1 ("Design Guide for New Development").

10. Principle 3.1 of SPD1 requires new development to be of a "height, massing and façade design should
generally respect the existing context and scale; facilitating good urban design". SPD 1 3.2 principle also
states 'Development should ensure animated facades towards public routes and spaces, avoid blank
walls and inactive frontage…'

11. The proposed development makes the best use of the land and optimises the site for a large family
dwelling.  The proposal is a three storey dwelling with a flat roof element to the front and sloped to the
rear with contemporary appearance in place of existing garages.  The adjacent dwellings are all two

Page 63



storey traditional hipped roof dwellings with variety of other styles further from the site on The Mall.  The
proposed 3 storey roof development would be higher than No.1 and 3-5 Minterne Road, however given
the close proximity to the intensification corridor, there are no concerns in terms of the height increase,
as the last storey of the proposed building is quite compact and the increase is incremental in terms of
massing.

12. The proposal would sit forward from No. 1 and 3-5 Minterne Road improving the natural surveillance
whilst also providing an active frontage within the street. The proposal would also improve the current
environment of existing predominantly hard surface garage site with new landscaping along the frontage
creating a much more welcoming streetscene.

13. The proposal would be set back from the pavement with planting to allow a defensible space for privacy
which although would be less than the required 2 metres as recommended within SPD1, it is acceptable
due to the constraints in this location. Moreover, the proposal is an L-shaped covering most of the site
with an undercroft parking and rear garden of about 27sqm and further balconies on the first floor of the
proposal which would be discussed further within the residential amenity impact section below. The use
of terraces on first floor within the area of the massing is welcomed as there are no privacy concerns to
the surrounding private gardens in terms of overlooking.

14. The design of the proposal whilst different to the immediate context, would reference surrounding
materials and residential scale windows and features. The proposal is shown to be in red brick within the
submission which would be a strong approach in terms of materiality appropriate within the area.

15. Policy BH4 also requires all minor residential developments (less than 10 dwellings) to deliver an Urban
Greening Factor of 0.4 on site. A landscape strategy is submitted as part of this application which shows
that the UGF of 0.4 could not be achieved on site due to the constraint land, however there would be an
improvement against the existing situation on site.

16. In general, the design as an overall in terms of massing is acceptable subject to further concerns
discussed below.

Standard of accommodation

17. The proposal would create one dwellinghouse in a 4 bed 7 person configuration, shown to have 121 sqm
meeting the minimum space standards set out by the London plan D6 policy. The proposed dwelling
would be dual-aspect and would receive sufficient daylight and sunlight.

18. In line with policy D7 of London Plan, the new home would be designed to be M4(2) compliant. The
dwelling is designed to be step free from the street and to the garden. The plans also show clear access
widths of 0.9 metres and more for most of the premises. The bedroom and bathrooms also have
adequate clear zones, hence the proposal broadly complies with D7 London Plan 2021 policy.

19. To ensure good levels of daylight and sunlight, the use of the BRE's "Site Layout Planning for Daylight
and Sunlight: a guide to good practice (BR209)" is supported.  This guidance was updated on 8 June this
year with the 2022 edition of this guidance.  As this guidance was adopted after the submission of this
application, the daylight and sunlight assessments submitted reflects the version of the guidance that was
in place prior to June this year.  For the proposed accommodation, the daylight and sunlight report has
used the ADF (Average Daylight Factor) and APSH  tests, which as noted above are now superseded.
Nevertheless, given the scale of the proposal and its relationship to lower density homes, it is not
considered necessary to carry out an assessment based on the current guidance to determine whether
the new home provides a good standard of accommodation.  The results of the ADF assessment have
shown that all 6 (100%) of the proposed habitable rooms exceed the BRE targets for their specific room
use achieving at least 1.5% for a main living space and 1% for a bedroom.  

Floor to ceiling heights

20. London Plan policy D6 specifies that the minimum height should be 2.5 m. and exceptions can be that
they reflect the existing houses, benefit from dual aspect and good levels of natural ventilation.  The
technical standard specifies that any area under the headroom of 1.5 metre is not counted within the GIA
unless used solely for storage (0.9-1.5m counted at 50% for storage only and below 0.9m is not counted
at all).   The sections submitted demonstrates that the scheme would have more than 2.5 metre of
internal roof height, hence complies with D6 London Plan policy.

Page 64



Private Amenity space

21. Policy BH13 establishes that all new dwellings are required to have external private amenity space of a
sufficient size and type to satisfy its proposed residents' needs.  This will normally be expected to be 20
sqm studio, one or two-bedroom home and 50 sqm for family housing (homes with 3 or more bedrooms).

22. The BH13 requirement for external private amenity space established through BH13 is for it to be of a
"sufficient size and type".  This may be achieved even when the "normal expectation" of 20 or 50 sqm of
private space is not achieved.  The supporting text to the policy clarifies that where "sufficient private
amenity space cannot be achieved to meet the full requirement of the policy, the remainder should be
applied in the form of communal amenity space".  Proximity and accessibility to nearby public open space
may also be considered when evaluated whether the amenity space within a development is "sufficient",
even where a shortfall exists in private and/or communal space.

23. With regard to quality of the space, the supporting text to policy BH13 specifies that private amenity
should be accessible from a main living room without level changes and planned within a building to take
a maximum advantage of daylight and sunlight, whilst Brent SPD1 specifies that the minimum depth and
width of the space should be 1.5 m.

24. London Plan policy D6 specifies that where there is no higher local standard, a minimum of 5 sqm of
private amenity space should be provided for 1-2 person dwellings and an extra 1 sqm should be
provided for each additional occupant.  The minimum depth and 1.5 m is reconfirmed in the adopted
policy.

25. The proposal within this application is shown to provide 27 sqm of private garden on ground floor with two
private terrace of 11sqm amounting to approximately 49 sqm of private amenity. The minor short fall of 1
sqm is acceptable and negligible in this instance. It should also be noted that the site is also close to an
open space (Lindsay Park) across the street on The Mall and overall the proposal complies with policy
BH13 of Brent's Local Plan.

Residential amenity of nearby occupiers

26. According to SPD 1 the building envelope should be set below a line of 30 degrees (from the horizontal)
from the nearest rear habitable room window of adjoining existing properties which would face towards
the development, measured from height of two metres above floor level. Where proposed development
adjoins private amenity / garden areas then the height of new development should normally be set below
a line of 45 degrees at the garden edge, measured from a height of two metres. Moreover, directly facing
habitable room windows will normally require a minimum separation distance of 18m, except where the
existing character of the area varies from this. A distance of 9m should be kept between gardens and
habitable room windows which would look towards those gardens.

27. The house complies with the 45 degree rule at the rear of the site adjacent to the storage unit/outbuilding
of 118 Dorchester Way.

28. The proposal projects forward for most of the first floor and above towards the side windows of No.3-5
Minterne Road. The proposal is not compliant with the 45 degree adjacent to the boundary with 3-5
Minterne Road.  However the proposed house is adjacent to side garden area which is dominated by the
parking area.  A soft landscaped area is situated between the parking spaces and the subject site, but
this is open to the frontage and does not appear to be well used as external amenity space. There is a
side facing window within Nos. 3-5 which faces towards the subject site.  The ground and first floor of the
building would accord with the 30 degree line, and the siting of the proposed house is such that the
window of No. 3-5 would not directly face the house.  However, the second floor of the proposed house
would project above the 30 degree line if taken at an angle from the window.  However, the window would
retain a reasonable extent of openness and the impact on the outlook from this window is not considered
to be unduly detrimental. 

29. With regard to No.1 Minterne Road, the proposed house would be adjacent to the parking area within the
front garden and as such, the proposal would not be considered to have an unduly detrimental impact on
this space. 

Privacy

30. With regard to privacy, habitable room windows above ground floor level face the street.  All the windows

Page 65



towards the rear and side of the site on upper floors are obscured glazed and non-opening up to 1.7
metres high from internal floor level or behind the terrace screenings.  The roof terraces are less than 9
m from the boundaries with properties to the sides and rear.  To address the potential overlooking, the
terrace adjacent to No.3-5 Minterne Road is surrounded by a 1.95 metre wall to the side and a 1.7
metres solid panel with angled balustrades. The balustrade to the south west elevation faces the street
and therefore is lower (approx. 1.1 m) and is of a more open design.   The rear terrace has a 1.735 m
high wall to the rear and 1.735 m solid panels with angled balustrades to the sides to mitigate the
potential for overlooking.

31. It is considered that the proposed development does not have an unduly detrimental impact on the
amenities of adjoining residents.

Daylight and sunlight

32. To ensure good levels of daylight and sunlight, the use of the BRE's "Site Layout Planning for Daylight
and Sunlight: a guide to good practice (BR209)" is supported.  This guidance was updated on 8 June this
year with the 2022 edition of this guidance.  As this guidance was adopted after the submission of this
application, the daylight and sunlight assessments submitted reflects the version of the guidance that was
in place prior to June this year.  While this version of the guidance has now been superseded, the
information submitted does provide detailed technical information examining the impact of the proposal
on surrounding properties, the assessment to existing properties was not updated under the new version
of the guidance.

33. In support of the application a Daylight and Sunlight Report has been prepared by eb7, which assesses
the effect of the proposed development on surrounding properties as well as within the proposal itself.

34. In terms of impacts on daylight and sunlight to neighbouring properties, BRE Guidelines recommend two
measures for daylight.  Firstly, the Vertical Sky Component (VSC) assesses the proportion of visible sky
and is measured from the centre of the main window. If this exceeds 27% or is at least 0.8 times its
former value, residents are unlikely to notice a difference in the level of daylight. 

35. No Sky Contour or Daylight Distribution assesses the area of the room at desk height from which the sky
can be seen. The BRE guidance sets a target of 0.8 times its former value. To assess impacts on
sunlight to existing south facing windows and amenity spaces, assessment of Annual Probable Sunlight
Hours (APSH) is recommended. Adverse impacts occur when the affected window receives less than
25% of total APSH including less than 5% in winter months, or when amenity spaces receive less than
two hours sunlight on 21 March or less than 0.8 times their former value.

36. The assessment is for the overshadowing effects to neighbouring amenity areas and gardens,
considering both the existing and proposed conditions. The assessment has considered all the closest
neighbouring residential properties with windows  overlooking  the  proposed  development which are:

 118 Dorchester Way, HA3 9RB
 1 Minterne Road, HA3 9TA
 3-5  Minterne Road, HA3 9TA
 118 Dorchester Way

37. The report confirmed that there would be no material effect to daylight and sunlight to windows/rooms
within No. 118 Dorchester Way, or the external amenity space. The levels of daylight and sunlight would
continue to comply with BRE guidance.

1 Minterne Road

38. The results of the VSC assessment for No. 1  Minterne Road property show that all but one of the
neighbouring windows retain VSC levels in accordance with the BRE targets, retaining at least 0.8 times
their former values. There is a single ground floor window (W5) across the front elevation that
experiences a minor proportional change beyond the 0.8 target, though this is a technical deviation with
the retained VSC level at 0.78 times its existing position. Despite this, the absolute retained VSC value
remains high at c.26.5%, which is considered good for and in excess of what is typically accepted for an
urban development in London.

39. The good level of retained daylight is confirmed by the NSL results which shows no material change in
the daylight penetration to all rooms within this neighbouring property, when compared with the existing

Page 66



condition.  The APSH assessment for No. 1 Minterne Road confirms that there would be no material
change in direct sunlight levels with the scheme in place with all rooms retaining at least 0.8 their existing
level. 

3-5 Minterne Road

40. The results of the VSC assessments show that the windows of No. 3-5 Minterne Road facing toward the
site will experience no material change as a result of the proposals retaining at least 0.8 times its existing
sky view with the scheme in place. The limited impact of the scheme is confirmed by the NSC results
where there is no shift recorded in the no sky contour to the room.  The effects to this property are
considered in line with the BRE recommendations for VSC/NSC daylight.

41. The APSH assessments confirm that there will be no material change in direct sunlight to the
neighbouring rooms as a result  of the scheme with both rooms remaining well in excess of the BRE
target levels of at least 25% for total annual levels and 5% for winter. 

External amenity spaces

42. In the proposed condition, all of the neighbouring amenity spaces will enjoy 2 or more hours of direct
sunlight to at least 69% of the space on the 21st March, thus well in excess of the 50% BRE
recommendation. 

Summary

43. The Vertical Sky Component (VSC), No-Sky Contour  (NSC)  and  Annual  Probable Sunlight Hours
(APSH) assessments all show that there will be no material change from the prevailing daylight and
sunlight condition to the neighbouring properties.

Highways and Parking, Refuse, Cycle Parking

44. Minterne Road is an adopted local residential access road. It has parking restrictions by way of double
yellow lines along the whole of its northern side, whilst the southern side has double yellow lines at its
junctions with Dorchester Way to the west and The Mall to the east. There is one unrestricted on-street
parking space along the Dorchester Way frontage of 3-5 Minterne Road. The Council's most recent
parking surveys (2013) show Minterne Road is not a heavily parked street. The application has included a
parking survey was carried out overnight on Wednesday 24th  November 2021 and Thursday 30th
November 2021 and found that Minterne Road had 100% parking stress (9 vehicles parked in 9 spaces).
This shows a significant increase in demand for on-street parking compared to Brent's last overnight
parking surveys carried out in 2013, when only 3 on-street spaces were occupied. 

45. Consideration therefore needs to be given to the potential for overspill parking on the Public Highway, as
Minterne Road would not now be able to accommodate further on-street parking.

46. Parking standards are stipulated in the adopted Local Plan. The proposed 4-bed unit will therefore  have
a parking allowance of one space. Drawing number 1189-11P100 proposes one off-street  parking space
at the north-western edge, which is within the maximum parking standards.  The existing crossover would
not serve the proposed parking space and would need to be removed, whilst a new 2.4m wide crossover
will need to be provided to access the proposed parking space.  The existing redundant lengths of
crossover to the site will need to be removed at the developer's expense and returned to footway. This
will not generate further on-street parking bays as there are double yellow lines on the street.  Front
boundary treatment is shown to be 0. 4 metres to the side with the planters which are acceptable and
would ensure pedestrian visibility has been maintained .

47. The off-street parking will be an undercroft space with a height of 2.3m, which is acceptable. 

48. The proposal will also involve the demolition of the garages and paragraph 4.6 of the Planning Statement
confirms that only 2 of the garages are currently being used: 1 for storage and 1 for vehicle parking.

49. Details of the occupier of the garage that is used for parking have not been given. However, the garages
lie within the same land parcel as 3 & 5 Minterne Road and these two flats have a 12m long driveway on
their southern side and an unrestricted on-street bay on their northern side. On this basis, the garages do
appear to be surplus to requirements, albeit one is still in use. The loss of the garage court is therefore
considered acceptable in principle.

Page 67



50. Two cycle spaces have been provided and these comply with the London Plan. 

51. A bin storage is shown to the rear of the car parking space below the undercrodft which can be brought
forward for collection from the highway and acceptable.

Flood Risk

52. Whilst the site does not lie within a flood risk area. In line with BSUI4:(On Site Water Management and
Surface Water Attenuation) minor schemes should make provision of an appropriate SuDS scheme
where feasible.  London Plan policy SI13 states that development proposals should aim to achieve
greenfield run-off rates and ensure that surface water run-off is managed as close to its source as
possible.

53. The proposal shows an improvement of the current site with permeable hard landscaping as well as the
soft landscaping provision improving the SuDS on current site surfaces. The applicant has submitted a
drainage strategy which outlines surface water runoff discharge rate calculations in line with Policy SI 13
of London Plan and Brent's BSUI4 policy.

54. In support of the application a Drainage Strategy has been prepared by Watermans. The report sets out
the details of the greenfield run off calculations. It explains how it is proposed to utilise permeable
surfacing across the terrace within the development. To reduce the risk of flooding in the terrace area, it
is proposed to discharge the runoff from the roof via sealed downpipes into an underground storage tank
beneath the permeable terrace. In addition to permeable paving, small rain gardens and bioretention
areas are proposed to be incorporated into the landscaping where possible to provide additional amenity,
water quality and biodiversity benefits. The use of water butts for irrigation will allow runoff from the roof
to be reused and reduce the reliance of the scheme on potable water.  Based on the report the site offers
a reduction of 50% from the current Surface water discharge currently at the car park.

55. This drainage strategy is considered appropriate for the proposed development and commensurate for
the size of the site.

Environmental impact, sustainability and energy

56. Minor developments should seek to reduce potential overheating and reliance on air conditioning system
through good design. For residential development, a Water Efficiency Assessment will be required
providing evidence the development will need the target of 105 litres or less per head per day, excluding
an allowance of 5 litres of less per head per day for external water use.

Contaminated land

57. The proposed site has had a potentially contaminative land use (Garages), previously developed land is
covered by Made Ground, which is typically a mixture of soil and demolition, household and industrial
sourced waste products. Burning by residential and commercial properties over hundreds of years and
emissions from transport have also contributed to compounds such as lead and polycyclic aromatic
hydrocarbons (PAHs) being found across urban areas. As such a condition is attached to this application
in regards to investigation, remediation and verification of soil contamination. 

Air Quality

58. The development is within an Air Quality Management Area and located very close to other residential
properties. Demolition and construction therefore has the potential to contribute to background air
pollution levels and cause nuisance to neighbours. As such a condition is attached to this application to
minimise the impact on local air quality and protect the amenity of neighbours during construction.

Trees and Landscaping

59. The site has several trees where the proposed work could negatively impact the Root Protection Areas
(RPA). These trees are visible to the adjacent public areas and so will provide some contribution to local
amenity. The proposal would need to comply with policies of Brent Local Plan policy BGI2 in terms of the
trees.

60. An arboricultural report has been submitted as part of the application. The trees are category C and

Page 68



therefore not part of material planning considerations. One elder on site will be removed along with a
lawson cypress hedge to facilitate the development. The Silver Birch in the adjacent property will be
protected using fencing in line with BS5837 (2012) during works, however as the crown is likely to be
outside the protective fencing further pruning to this tree should be conditioned to prevent unsympathetic
work to aid the movement of plant and materials.

61. It has been confirmed by council's tree officers that there would be no objection to this scheme in relation
to arboriculture, however, conditions in terms of tree pruning would be attached to this application. 

62. The Urban Greening Factor for the proposed development is 0.09, which falls short of the London Plan
and Brent target of 0.4. The significant planning benefits in delivering additional family housing within the
Borough in a sustainable location in a building of high quality design with considered landscaping is
considered to outweigh the non-compliance with this particular policy. 

Fire Safety

63. Policy D12A of the London Plan now requires all development proposals to achieve the highest standard
of fire safety and requires submissions to demonstrate that they:

1)  identify suitably positioned unobstructed outside space:
 a)  for fire appliances to be positioned on
 b)  appropriate for use as an evacuation assembly point
2)  are designed to incorporate appropriate features which reduce the risk to life and the risk of serious injury
in the event of a fire; including appropriate fire alarm systems and passive and active fire safety measures
3)  are constructed in an appropriate way to minimise the risk of fire spread
4)  provide suitable and convenient means of escape, and associated evacuation strategy for all building
users
5)  develop a robust strategy for evacuation which can be periodically updated and published, and which all
building users can have confidence in
6)  provide suitable access and equipment for firefighting which is appropriate for the size and use of the
development.

64. In support of the application a Fire Statement has been prepared by OFR. The report sets out how the
dwelling would be fitted with an automatic fire alarm and detection system and would be provided with
structural fire resistance no less than 60 minutes.  The location of the fire service vehicle will be such that
the hose length from the fire service vehicle to any point within any room in the dwellings will not exceed
45m.  A fire hydrant will be provided within 90m of the of the entrance of the dwellings.  The report
confirms that overall services and appliance access to the dwelling would be in line with Building
Regulation guidance and London Fire Brigade Guidance and as such compliant with policy D12A of
London Plan 2021.

Equalities

65. In line with the Public Sector Equality Duty, the Council must have due regard to the need to eliminate
discrimination and advance equality of opportunity, as set out in section 149 of the Equality Act 2010. In
making this recommendation, regard has been given to the Public Sector Equality Duty and the relevant
protected characteristics (age, disability, gender reassignment, pregnancy and maternity, race, religion or
belief, sex, and sexual orientation).

Conclusion:

66. Whilst the proposal does not meet the 0.4 target for the Urban Greening Factor as set out within policy
BH4, following the above discussion, officers consider that taking the development plan as a whole, the
proposal is considered to accord with the development plan, and having regard to all material planning
considerations, should be approved subject to conditions  as set out within this report. The proposal
would deliver a family sized home that would contribute the Council's housing targets within a sustainable
location, and the limited conflict with policy would be outweighed by the planning benefits.

Page 69



DRAFT DECISION NOTICE
DRAFT NOTICE

TOWN AND COUNTRY PLANNING ACT 1990 (as
amended)

DECISION NOTICE – APPROVAL

_______________________________________________________________________________________

Application No: 22/1386
To: Maddox and Associates Ltd
33 Broadwick Street
London
W1F 0DQ

I refer to your application dated 13/04/2022 proposing the following:

Demolition of existing garages and development of the land for 1x four bed house with one parking space,
cycle and waste stores and associated landscaping

and accompanied by plans or documents listed here:
Please refer to condition 2

at Minterne Road Garages, Minterne Road, Harrow

The Council of the London Borough of Brent, the Local Planning Authority, hereby GRANT permission for the
reasons and subject to the conditions set out on the attached Schedule B.

Date:  08/11/2022 Signature:

Gerry Ansell
Head of Planning and Development Services

Notes
1. Your attention is drawn to Schedule A of this notice which sets out the rights of applicants who are

aggrieved by the decisions of the Local Planning Authority.
2. This decision does not purport to convey any approval or consent which may be required under the

Building Regulations or under any enactment other than the Town and Country Planning Act 1990.

DnStdG

Page 70



SCHEDULE "B"
Application No: 22/1386

SUMMARY OF REASONS FOR APPROVAL

1 The proposed development is in general accordance with policies contained in the:-

National Planning Policy Framework 2021
London Plan 2021
Brent's Local Plan 2019-2021

1 The development to which this permission relates must be begun not later than the expiration of
three years beginning on the date of this permission.

Reason:  To conform with the requirements of Section 91 of the Town and Country Planning Act
1990.

2 The development hereby permitted shall be carried out in accordance with the following
approved drawing(s) and/or document(s):

1189-11-P-0001
1189-11-P-0010 
1189-11-P-0100
1189-11-P-0200 
1189-11-P-0201 
1189-11-P-0202 
1189-11-P-0203
1189-11-P-2000 A 
1189-11-P-2001 A 
1189-11-P-2002 A
1189-11-P-2003 
1189-11-P-2004 
1189-11-P-3000  B
1189-11-P-3001 B 
1189-11-P-3002 B 
1189-11-P-3003 B
1189-11-P-1000 A 
1189-11-P-1001 A 
1189-11-P-1002 A 
1189-11-P-1003 A 
1189-11-P-1004 A 

Supporting documents

WIE18009-105-R-7-2-1-AIA  – Arboricultural Impact Assessment
WIE18009-100-R-4-3-1    - SUDS Report

Reason:  For the avoidance of doubt and in the interests of proper planning.

3 The building shall be designed so that mains water consumption does not exceed a target of
105 litres or less per person per day, using a fittings-based approach to determine the water
consumption of the development in accordance with requirement G2 of Schedule 1 to the
Building Regulations 2010.

Reason: In order to ensure a sustainable development by minimising water consumption.

4 No further extensions or buildings shall be constructed within the curtilage of the dwellinghouse
subject of this application, notwithstanding the provisions of Class(es) A, B, C, D, E and F of

Page 71



Part 1 Schedule 2 of the Town & Country Planning (General Permitted Development) Order
2015, as amended, (or any order revoking and re-enacting that Order with or without
modification) unless a formal planning application is first submitted to and approved by the Local
Planning Authority.

Reason(s):
In view of the restricted nature and layout of the site for the proposed development, no further
enlargement or increase in living accommodation beyond the limits set by this consent should
be allowed without the matter being first considered by the Local Planning Authority

5 The privacy screens to the first floor roof terraces on all elevations except South-West elevation
shall contain solid screening and shall not be less than 1.7 metres in height unless otherwise
agreed in writing by the Local Planning Authority.

Reason: to ensure a satisfactory level of outlook for future residents whilst maintaining a
satisfactory levels of privacy for adjoining properties.

6 The works shall be carried out in accordance with the approved Drainage Strategy (
WIE18009-100-R-4-3-1 ) prior to occupation of the development unless an alternative strategy
is submitted to and approved in writing by the Council and thereafter implemented in full.

Reason: To ensure that risks from flooding are effectively mitigated

7 Any upper-floor window located in a wall or roof slope forming a side elevation on the North,
East and West on second floor of the building must be—

(i)  obscure-glazed, and
(ii)  non-opening unless the parts of the window which can be opened are more than 1.7 metres
above the floor of the room in which the window is installed;

and shall be permanently maintained in that condition thereafter unless the planning consent is
obtained from the Local Planning Authority.

Reason:  To ensure the development does not unduly impact the privacy of the adjoining
occupier(s).

8  The works herby approved  shall be in accordance with the Arboricultural Impact Assessment
(WIE18009-105-R-7-2-1-AIA ) in relation to the retained trees outside of the site boundary.
Works shall not be carried out other than in full accordance with the details approved, unless an
alternative strategy is submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority and
thereafter implemented in full.

Reason: To ensure that existing trees are safeguarded where they are to be retained during the
course of construction works in order to ensure that the character and amenity of the area are
not impaired

9 The development hereby approved shall not be occupied until the construction of a new
crossover to serve the proposed parking space and the removal of the redundant crossover has
been carried out by the Local Highway Authority, at the applicants expense.

Reason: In the interest of highway safety.

10 Prior to the commencement of the development a Construction Method Statement shall be
submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority outlining measures that will
be taken to control dust, noise and other environmental impacts of the development.  The
development shall thereafter be carried out in accordance with the approved details.

Reason: To safeguard the amenity of the neighbours by minimising impacts of the development

Page 72



that would otherwise give rise to nuisance.

Reason for pre-commencement condition: Impacts arising from the construction process occur
as soon as development commences and adequate controls need to be in place from this time.

11 Prior to the commencement of the development, details of all proposed Access Facilitation
Pruning (see BS5837:2012 for definition) shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the
Local Planning Authority. The approved tree pruning works shall be carried out in accordance
with BS3998:2010. The development thereafter shall be implemented in strict accordance with
the approved details. 

Reason:  Required prior to commencement of development to avoid any irreversible damage to
retained trees pursuant to section 197 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 and to
protect and enhance the appearance and character of the site and locality, in accordance with
(insert relevant policies here) 

Reason for pre-commencement condition: Impacts arising from the construction process occur
as soon as development commences and adequate controls need to be in place from this time.

12 Following the demolition of the buildings and prior to the commencement of building works, a
site investigation shall be carried out by competent persons to determine the nature and extent
of any soil contamination present. The investigation shall be carried out in accordance with the
principles of BS 10175:2011 + A2:2017 and the Environment Agency’s current Land
Contamination Risk Management Guidance. A report shall be submitted to the Local Planning
Authority, that includes the results of any research and analysis undertaken as well as an
assessment of the risks posed by any identified contamination. It shall include an appraisal of
remediation options should any contamination be found that presents an unacceptable risk to
any identified receptors. The written report is subject to the approval in writing of the Local
Planning Authority.

Reason: To ensure the safe development and secure occupancy of the site  

13 Details of materials for all external work, including samples which shall be made available for
viewing on site or in an agreed location, shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the
Local Planning Authority prior to the commencement of the development (excluding any
demolition, site clearance and the laying of foundations).

The work shall be carried out in accordance with the approved details.

Reason: To ensure a satisfactory development which does not prejudice the amenity of the
locality.

14 Details of the front garden and rear layout shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the
Local Planning Authority prior to the commencement of the development (excluding any
demolition, site clearance and the laying of foundations), Such details shall include:

(i) A planting plan for the front and rear garden area, including the provision of shrubs and/or
trees
(ii) details of garden wall, fences or other form of boundary treatment to be provided within the
site (including details of external materials and heights);
(iii) any car parking spaces, including the size and siting of the parking area, defined points of
access and the surfacing materials to be used;
(iv) details of any external lighting including a spillage diagram in relation to neighbouring sites;
(v) details of cycle storage through the provision of secure, weatherproof cycle storage facility;
(vi) details of all hard surfacing materials.

The hard and soft landscape works shall be carried out in full accordance with the approved
details prior to the occupation of the dwelling hereby approved, unless alternative timescales
have been submitted to and approved to be agreed in writing by the Local Planning Authority
and the works shall thereafter be carried out in accordance with the approved timescales .

Any planting that is part of the approved scheme that within a period of five years after planting

Page 73



is removed, dies or becomes seriously damaged or diseased, shall be replaced in the next
planting season and all planting shall be replaced with others of a similar size and species and
in the same positions, unless the Local Planning Authority first gives written consent to any
variation.

Reason:  To ensure a satisfactory appearance and setting for the proposed development and
ensure that it enhances the visual amenity of the area.

15 Any soil contamination remediation measures required by the Local Planning Authority shall be
carried out in full. A verification report shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local
Planning Authority, stating that remediation has been carried out in accordance with the
approved remediation scheme and the site is suitable for end use (unless the Planning Authority
has previously confirmed that no remediation measures are required).

Reason: To ensure the safe development and secure occupancy of the site  

INFORMATIVES

1 The provisions of The Party Wall etc. Act 1996 may be applicable and relates to work on an
existing wall shared with another property; building on the boundary with a neighbouring
property; or excavating near a neighbouring building. An explanatory booklet setting out your
obligations can be obtained from the Communities and Local Government website
www.communities.gov.uk

2 The applicant must ensure, before work commences, that the treatment/finishing of flank
walls can be implemented as this may involve the use of adjoining land and should also
ensure that all development, including foundations and roof/guttering treatment is carried out
entirely within the application property.

3 If the development is carried out it will be necessary for a crossing to be formed over the
public highway and any redundant crossover re-instated by the Council as Highway Authority.
This will be done at the applicant's expense in accordance with Section 184 of the Highways
Act 1980.  Should Application for such works should be made to the Council's Highways
Team -
https://www.brent.gov.uk/parking-roads-and-travel/roads-and-streets/vehicle-crossings-and-dr
opped-kerb

The grant of planning permission, whether by the Local Planning Authority or on appeal, does
not indicate that consent will be given under the Highways Act.

4 The applicant is advised that this development is liable to pay the Community Infrastructure
Levy; a Liability Notice will be sent to all known contacts including the applicant and the agent.
Before you commence any works please read the Liability Notice and comply with its contents
as otherwise you may be subjected to penalty charges. Further information including eligibility
for relief and links to the relevant forms and to the Government’s CIL guidance, can be found
on the Brent website at www.brent.gov.uk/CIL.

5 The following British Standards should be referred to: 

a) BS: 3998:2010 Tree work – Recommendations 
b) BS: 5837 (2012) Trees in relation to demolition, design and construction -
Recommendations

6 Construction/refurbishment and demolition works and ancillary operations which are audible at
the site boundary shall be carried only between the hours of:

            Monday to Fridays      08:00 to 18:00
            Saturday                     08:00 to 13:00
            At no time on Sundays or Bank Holidays

7 The submission/approval of the Fire Safety Statement does not replace the need for building
regulation approval in relation to fire safety, nor does it convey or imply any approval under

Page 74



those regulations.

Page 75



Any person wishing to inspect the above papers should contact Mahya Fatemi, Planning and Regeneration,
Brent Civic Centre, Engineers Way, Wembley, HA9 0FJ, Tel. No. 020 8937 2292

Page 76



Document Imaged DocRepF
Ref: 22/1282 Page 1 of 20

COMMITTEE REPORT
Planning Committee on 16 November, 2022
Item No 06
Case Number 22/1282

SITE INFORMATION

RECEIVED 6 April, 2022

WARD Brondesbury Park

PLANNING AREA Brent Connects Kilburn

LOCATION 7 & 7A Sidmouth Road, London, NW2 5HH

PROPOSAL Proposed erection new two-storey dwellinghouse with basement level, works
including associated off road cycle and car parking, private amenity, waste
storage, landscaping and boundary treatment

PLAN NO’S See condition 2.

LINK TO DOCUMENTS
ASSOCIATED WITH
THIS PLANNING
APPLICATION

When viewing this on an Electronic Device

Please click on the link below to view ALL document associated to case
<https://pa.brent.gov.uk/online-applications/applicationDetails.do?activeTab=documents&keyVal=DCAPR_159773>

When viewing this as an Hard Copy   

Please use the following steps

1. Please go to pa.brent.gov.uk
2. Select Planning and conduct a search tying "22/1282"  (i.e. Case

Reference) into the search Box
3. Click on "View Documents" tab

Page 77

Agenda Item 6



RECOMMENDATIONS
That the committee resolve to GRANT planning permission subject to conditions.

That the Head of Planning is delegated authority to issue the planning permission and impose conditions and
informatives to secure the following matters:

Conditions

1. Time Limit
2. Approved Plans
3. Cycle and bin storage
4. Rear and Side Windows Obscured
5. Removal of PD rights
6. Landscaping
7. Trees
8. Details of Materials
9. Construction Method Statement
10. Drainage and Attenuation Tank Details

Informative

1. Party Wall Agreement
2. Building Near a Boundary
3. CIL Liability
4. Fire Statements
5. Thames Water - Groundwater
6. Thames Water - assets
7. Thames Water - pressure

That the Head of Planning and Development Services  is delegated authority to make changes to the wording
of the committee's decision (such as to delete, vary or add conditions, informatives, or reasons for the
decision) prior to the decision being actioned, provided that the Head of Planning is satisfied that any such
changes could not reasonably be regarded as deviating from the overall principle of the decision reached by
the committee nor that such change(s) could reasonably have led to a different decision having been reached
by the committee.

SITE MAP
Planning Committee Map
Site address: 7 & 7A Sidmouth Road, London, NW2 5HH

© Crown copyright and database rights 2011 Ordnance Survey 100025260

Page 78



This map is indicative only.

Page 79



PROPOSAL IN DETAIL
The application proposes the erection of a new two-storey dwellinghouse with basement level, works
including associated off road cycle and car parking, private amenity, waste storage, landscaping and
boundary treatment.

EXISTING
The site comprises the rear garden of 7 Sidmouth Road, adjoining 60 Milverton Road on the side and 9
Sidmouth Road at the rear. The site is within a residential area. The site is not within a Conservation area as
designated in Brent’s Local Plan, nor does it impact a Listed Building.

AMENDMENTS SINCE SUBMISSION
The following amendments were made to the plans during the application:

Revised drawings to show alterations to internal layout, rear windows and attenuation tank

Submission of a Fire Strategy

Submission of Drainage Strategy

Submission of Preliminary Ecological Appraisal, Biodiversity information, Urban Greening details and revised
Arboricultural Report

SUMMARY OF KEY ISSUES
The key planning issues for Members to consider are set out below.  Members will need to balance all of the
planning issues and the objectives of relevant planning policies when making a decision on the application

Representations received: 11 objections have been received. Officers have considered the comments
and the planning merits of the proposal and consider that the proposal is acceptable.

Principle: The application would create a three bedroom family dwelling within a residential area with a
PTAL of 3/4. The general principle of the development accords with planning policy and is supported in
this location.

Design and Appearance: The proposal is considered to represent a good standard of contemporary
design within the infill site and would not result in harmful impact on the character and appearance of the
local area.

Standard of Accommodation and External Amenity Space: The proposal would provide well proportioned,
well lit habitable rooms and generous internal dimensions. Appropriate garden space would be provided
between a rear courtyard and a soft landscaped front garden.

Residential Amenity: The proposal would not result in a significant impact on the residential amenities of
neighbouring occupiers in terms of daylight and sunlight or overlooking.

Highway Impact: The development would provide 1 off street car parking space by extending an existing
crossover. This would be within the maximum car parking allowance.

Urban Greening, Biodiversity and Trees: The proposed development would be situated on an existing
garden area. As such, the proposal would result in a net loss of trees. Replacement shrubs, plants and
three replacement trees are provided to meet the required urban greening factor. The proposed planting
is considered to sufficiently mitigate the loss of biodiversity on site.

Drainage: The site is in an area with a low risk of flooding. An attenuation tank is proposed in the front garden
to limit surface water run off.

RELEVANT SITE HISTORY

Page 80



Reference Proposal Decision Date

21/2341
The erection of 1 x dwelling house with habitable loft
space, provision of bin storage, car and cycle parking,
private amenity space and associated landscaping

Withdrawn 25/08/2021

21/2344

The erection of 2 x two-storey, semi-detached
dwellinghouses with habitable loft space, private
amenity space, cycle and waste storage and
landscaping

Refused,
Appeal
Dismissed

04/04/2022

20/4081

The erection of two storey dwellinghouse to rear of 7&
7A Sidmouth road; with habitable loft space, provision
of bin storage, car and cycle parking, private amenity
space and associated landscaping

Withdrawn 04/02/2021

20/2755

Erection of 2 x two-storey, semi-detached
dwellinghouses with habitable loft space, provision of
bin storage and cycle parking, private amenity space
and associated landscaping to rear

Refused,
Appeal
Dismissed

19/05/2021

CONSULTATIONS
12 neighbouring and nearby properties were consulted along with Brondesbury Park Residents Association
for a 21-day period commencing 27/04/2022.

11 objections were received in this period including those from Cllr Hack and Cllr Gbajumo.

One comment of support was received in support. The comment is supportive of the character and design of
the property, the lack of parking issue and as a resolution for fly-tipping in this location. 

Reasons for objecting Officer’s Comment
Concerns regarding the height, mass,
proportions, scale, siting, materials and design
of the building

Please see section 5. Character and
Appearance.

Concerns regarding impact to neighbouring
amenity including privacy, aspect , daylight,
constraint relationship, overlooked garden ,
noise, additional windows and enjoyment of
garden

Please see section 6. Impact to Residential
Amenity.

Concerns regarding impact to character of the
area including urban grain, plot size, and
suburban character

Please see section 5. Character and
Appearance

Drainage concerns including associated
proposed basement

Please see section 9. Drainage and Flood Risk

Loss of trees including resultant nature,
character, climate, biodiversity and air pollution
impact

Please see section 8. Trees, Landscaping and
Biodiversity

Lack of comparable consent on nearby
development sites

The planning department must consider the
merits and concerns of each site proposed.

Concerns regarding further subdivision of the
property/site No.7

Overdevelopment

The principle of development is discussed within
section 2. Local Planning policy does not
preclude the principle of the conversion of a
dwellinghouse or infill within the curtliage of a
dwelling subject to suitable criteria.

Lack of affordable housing There is no requirement for the provision of
affordable housing for developments of one
dwelling.

Concerns regarding damage to neighbouring
property

Concerns regarding changes to shared walls

The Party Wall Act 1996 provides a framework
for preventing and resolving disputes in relation
to party walls, boundary walls and excavations
near neighbouring buildings. Due to there being
other primary legislation which controls these
impacts they cannot be considered as a part of
the planning assessment.

Page 81



Concerns regarding loss of garden including
amenity value and uncharacteristic

The principle of development is discussed within
section 2. The retained garden is discussed in
paragraph 4.8.

Concerns regarding inadequate proposed
garden

Please see section 4. External Amenity Space

Concerns regarding proposed layout including
basement accommodation and distances to
boundaries

Please see section 5. Character and
Appearance

Concerns regarding subsidence It is not the purpose of the planning system to
assess the structural stability of works, this is
assessed through other controls including
Building Regulations and the Party Wall Act.

Concerns regarding parking Please see section 7. Transport
Considerations

POLICY CONSIDERATIONS
Section 38(6) of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 requires that the determination of this
application should be in accordance with the development plan unless material considerations indicate
otherwise.

The development plan is comprised of the
London Plan 2021
Brent Local Plan 2019-2041

Relevant policies include:

London Plan 2021
D1 London’s form, character and capacity for growth
D3 Optimising site capacity through the design-led approach
D4 Delivering Good Design
D6 Housing quality and standard
D10 Basement development
D12 Fire Safety
H1 Increasing housing supply
H2 Small sites
HC1 Heritage conservation and growth
G5 Urban greening
G6 Biodiversity and access to nature
G7 Trees and woodlands
SI1 Improving Air Quality
SI 12 Flood risk management
SI 13 Sustainable drainage
T5 Cycling
T6 Car Parking
T6.1 Residential parking

Brent Local Plan 2019-2041
DMP1 Development Management General Policy
BD1 Leading the Way in Good Urban Design
BH1 Increasing Housing Supply in Brent
BH2 Priority Areas for Additional Housing Provision within Brent
BH4 Small Sites and Small Housing Developments in Brent
BH13 Residential Amenity Space
BGI1 Green and Blue Infrastructure
BGI2 Trees and Woodlands
BT1 Sustainable Travel Choice
BT2 Parking & Car Free Development
BSUI3 Managing Flood Risk

Page 82



BSUI4 On Site Water Management and Surface Water Attenuation

Other material considerations
The following are also relevant material considerations: 

National Planning Policy Framework
National Planning Practice Guidance
Supplementary Planning Guidance / Documents:

SPD2 Residential Alterations and Extensions 2018
SPD1 Brent Design Guide 2018

DETAILED CONSIDERATIONS
1. Background

1.1 The site has had previous planning applications lodged for various residential proposals, please see the
planning history section for more detail. An application was submitted in 2020 (ref: 20/2755) for the following
development:

'Erection of 2 x two-storey, semi-detached dwellinghouses with habitable loft space, provision of bin storage
and cycle parking, private amenity space and associated landscaping to rear.'

1.2 This application was refused, it was subsequently appealed and dismissed by the Planning Inspectorate.
The Inspector found that the proposed development would significantly harm the character and appearance
of the area. They concluded that the additional family sized dwellings and resultant economic benefits given
their small scale did not outweigh the significant harm identified.

1.3 An application was later submitted (ref: 21/2344) for the following development.

'The erection of 2 x two-storey, semi-detached dwellinghouses with habitable loft space, private amenity
space, cycle and waste storage and landscaping.'

1.4 This application was refused, it was subsequently appealed and dismissed by the Planning Inspectorate.
It is important to note that during the appeal the Brent Local Plan 2019-2041 (Local Plan) was adopted (in
February 2022) revoking the Brent Core Strategy 2010 and the London Borough of Brent Local Plan
Development Management Policies.

1.5 The Inspector found that the proposed development would unacceptably harm the character and
appearance of the area. In addition they found that by reason of bedrooms failing to comply with the
Technical Housing Standards that the proposed development would not provide appropriate living conditions
for the occupiers of the proposed dwellings with regard to internal space.

1.6 This scheme is significantly different from the previously dismissed proposals. The differences and
relevant assessments within each Appeal Decision are discussed within the relevant sections of this report.

2. Principle of Development

2.1 Delivery of Additional Housing

2.2 Policy H1 of the London Plan identifies a target for Brent's housing stock to be increased by 2,325
dwellings per annum for the period 2019/20-2028/29, reflecting a high demand for the delivery of new homes
across London.  Brent Local Plan policy BH1 reflects this target.

2.3 Policy D3 of London Plan requires developments to make the best use of land by following a design-led
approach that optimises the capacity of the site, with development that is the most appropriate form and land
use for the site, with the policy recognising that small sites make a significant contribution towards increasing
housing supply within London. This is also set out in policy H2 of London Plan.

2.4 In response to the strategic policy position above, the Council has set out priority areas for new housing
under Brent Local Plan policy BH2. This policy identifies that new housing will be prioritised for delivery in
growth areas, site allocations, town centres, edge of town centre sites, areas with higher levels of public
transport accessibility and intensification corridors. Although the site is not located in a priority area on the
basis of the above criteria, the principle of development could be supported, subject to other planning

Page 83



considerations within the detailed considerations set out below.

2.5 Policy BH4 relates to small sites and small housing developments in Brent and supports the delivery of
small housing developments, where consistent with other policies in the development plan. It acknowledges
that in priority locations (of PTAL 3-6), intensification corridors, or a town centre boundary the character may
change over the Local Plan period. The policy also notes that development can be through infill within the
curtilage of a dwelling. The site falls in a priority location as defined by as defined by Policy BH4 in that it has
moderate to good accessibility with PTAL rating of 3 to 4.

2.6 To summarise the principle of development is considered acceptable, subject to an assessment of all
other planning considerations outlined in the following sections of this report.

3. Standard of Accommodation

3.1 Policy DMP1 requires development to demonstrate it achieves high levels of internal and external
amenity. London Plan policy D6 sets standards for total size, bedroom size and built-in storage.

3.2 The proposed dwelling would be a three bed six person dwelling set over 3 floors, at 279.09 sqm, the
proposed dwelling far exceed the relevant minimum space standard of 108sqm.

3.4 Brent's Basements SPD emphasises that basements provide poor light and outlook and as such do not
lend themselves well to habitable rooms. The lower ground floor in this instance would accommodate mostly
non-habitable rooms such as a study, gym, W.C, utility and storage room.

3.5 Although most of the basement rooms have access to a lightwell the light and outlook would be restricted,
however the basement accommodates non habitable rooms, with the exception of an entertainments room,
yet in this instance, given that residents would have access to a large kitchen/living/dining area at ground
floor with good light and outlook, the overall standard of accommodation is considered acceptable.

3.6 All habitable rooms at ground and first floor provide reasonable levels of light and outlook.  It is
acknowledged that the outlook from some windows at ground floor is limited given proximity to boundaries yet
this has been mitigated by using multiple windows and where this is the case the rooms are dual aspect and
the overall light and outlook afforded by the windows is acceptable.

3.7 At first floor the windows to the rear must be obscure glazed and non-opening to prevent overlooking to
neighbouring gardens. However given the layout and uses of rooms that the windows serve, this would not
result in unacceptable levels of light and outlook to habitable rooms.

3.8 The London Plan advocates that 75 % of the floor area of new dwelling be 2.5m in height. Sections
confirm the floor to ceiling heights of each floor to be 2.46m. The nominal non-compliance is considered
acceptable in this instance as habitable rooms and large and well lit. As such, the reduction is not considered
to negatively impact the living conditions of future occupants.

4. External Amenity Space

4.1 Policy BH13 of the Local Plan establishes that all new dwellings will be required to have external private
amenity space of a sufficient size and type to satisfy its proposed residents' needs. This is normally expected
to be 50sqm per home for family housing (3 bedrooms or more) situated at ground floor level and 20sqm for
all other housing.

4.2 The BH13 requirement is for amenity space to be of a "sufficient size and type".  This may be achieved
even when the 'normal expectation' of 20 or 50sqm of private space is not achieved.  The supporting text to
the policy clarifies that where 'sufficient private amenity space cannot be achieved to meet the full
requirement of the policy, the remainder should be applied in the form of communal amenity space'.
Proximity and accessibility to nearby public open space may also be considered when evaluated whether the
amenity space within a development is 'sufficient', even where a shortfall exists in private and/or communal
space.

4.3 With regard to quality of the space, the supporting text to policy BH13 specifies that private amenity
should be accessible from a main living room without level changes and planned within a building to take a
maximum advantage of daylight and sunlight, whilst Brent SPD1 specifies that the minimum depth and width
of the space should be 1.5 m.

Page 84



4.4 London Plan policy D6 specifies that where there is no higher local standard, a minimum of 5sqm of
private amenity space should be provided for 1-2 person dwellings and an extra 1sqm should be provided for
each additional occupant.  The minimum depth and 1.5m requirement is reaffirmed in the policy.

4.5 A front garden is proposed measuring approximately 56sqm (not including the side passage). To the rear
is a courtyard area proving approximately 14sqm of usable space. A lower ground lightwell is provided, this
measures approximately 16sqm and is accessed from the lower ground floor rooms. All of the amenity areas
described have a depth of at least 1.5m.

4.6 Given that the larger front garden amenity space is located to the street frontage, the privacy of this space
is a consideration in the quality of this space for future residents. Objections have been received to this effect.
However, in this case, a 1.7m high wall is proposed to the front and side of this space, thereby providing a
private amenity space for future residents. In combination with the privacy for the further enclosed rear
courtyard space.

4.7 It is acknowledged that the lightwell and rear courtyard may have limited light and outlook, yet the front
garden located to the east would receive sufficient levels of light and outlook. As such the proposed external
amenity space is considered to provide private amenity space of a "sufficient size and type" suitable for future
residents. The proposed development is considered to be in accordance with Policy BH13 of the Brent local
Plan and Policy D6 of the London Plan.

4.8 In terms of retained garden for the existing properties No.7 and No.7a Sidmouth Road, while is it noted
that the site is now under separate ownership, the garden would exceed 120 sqm. While objections have
been raised regarding this size as uncharacteristic, the retained space is considered sufficient in size and
type to provide amenity for occupants.

5. Character and Appearance

5.1 The NPPF seeks developments of high quality design that will function well and add to the overall quality
of the area, responding to local character and history, reflecting the identity of local surroundings while not
discouraging appropriate innovation, establishing or maintaining a strong sense of place, and optimising the
potential of the site to accommodate an appropriate amount and mix of development.  London Plan Policy
D3, D4 sets out a design-led approach to new development that responds positively to local context and
optimises the site's capacity for growth, supporting higher densities in well-connected locations.

5.2 Brent's Policy DMP1 and the Brent Design Guide SPD1, provide further guidance on principles of good
design. Local Plan Policy BD1 seeks the highest quality of architectural and urban design, including
innovative contemporary design that respects and complements historic character.

5.3 The site lies to the rear of a property on Sidmouth Road with a frontage onto Milverton Road, within a
residential area of interwar-built dwellings whose generous proportions and siting within good sized plots
contribute strongly to the attractive, suburban character and appearance of the area.

5.4 The proposed development would be sited between a semi-detached dwelling of a mock Tudor style with
deep projecting bays and a large detached subdivided Edwardian dwelling at no 7/7A Sidmouth Road which
has a double fronted elevation with a shallower projecting bay and its original main entrance onto Milverton
Road.

5.5 The Brent Design Guide (2018) seeks to ensure that proposals reflect existing building lines.  The
proposed house would have a slightly stepped front building line with the southern side of the house sited
broadly in line with the projecting bay of the adjacent semi and set back from the front elevation of 7/7A
Sidmouth Road. It would then step forward by 0.7m at a distance of 7m from its southern elevation. As such it
would create a stepped building line, sitting between the two adjacent buildings. It is noted that the adjacent
Edwardian property at 60 Milverton Road, due to its projecting bay has a stepped elevation, yet the width of
the bay is a significant proportion of the overall frontage of the house. It is considered that the proposed siting
of the property sufficiently respects the predominant building lines. It's siting would not be unduly prominent
within the streetscene.

5.6 Paragraph 7 of appeal decision reference APP/T5150/W/20/3263372 [20/2755] the Inspector noted 'the
proposal has a different layout within its plot than much of the surrounding development, that would not be
clearly discernible from the street or from the rear given the existing high boundary along the rear of the site
which could be retained by a condition if the appeal were acceptable in all other regards. Therefore, whilst the
layout of the proposal would differ from that of the surrounding development, the impact on the character of

Page 85



the area would not be clearly discernible in this respect and the proposed layout would be acceptable.' On
this basis, the approach to the building lines set out above is considered acceptable.

5.7 The appeal scheme referred to above did differ from the current proposal and was for 2 x two storey
dwellings as opposed to one and included a larger footprint, it was also higher, more bulky in scale owing to
its roof form and proposed a quasi-traditional approach.  Paragraph 10 of the appeal decision stated 'By
reason of their contrived design and discordant size and scale, the resulting dwellings would appear neither
truly contemporary nor authentically traditional and would fail to harmonise with their setting.'

5.8 A further appeal APP/T5150/W/21/3283144 [21/2344] also proposed the erection of 2 x two storey
semi-detached dwelling houses with habitable roof (loft) space, private amenity space and landscaping.
These dwellings took a similar appearance to the previous refusal. In Paragraph 10 of the appeal decision the
inspector stated 'Consequently, rather than appearing as a modern interpretation of the properties adjacent,
the proportions, mass and features of the proposed dwellings would be at odds with and erode the current
pleasing regularity on this side of the street.' Consequently, the development would considered to
'unacceptably harm the character and appearance of the area.'

5.9 The current proposal incorporates a contemporary, predominantly brick, two-storey building and
basement with a flat roof. There are elements of vertical dark coloured cladding to the ground floor
elevations. To the principal elevation fronting Milverton Road, the building has a staggered front elevation,
broadly aligned to the bay window of No.60 Milverton Road. To the rear, the southern wing extends further at
ground floor while a sizeable portion of the rear space is occupied by the lightwell, as well as a courtyard to
the rear.

5.10 The footprint of the building provides a narrow gap to the southern curtilage with a minimum distance of
approximately 0.94 m  towards No.60 Milverton Road and a maximum distance of 1.25 m to the front. The
proposed building has a stepped elevation to the rear with distances to the rear boundary of approximately
0.89m and 3.7m from the dining area and living room respectively. To the north of the building there a gap of
approximately 2.26m is maintained and forms the connection between the courtyard space and front amenity
area. The front elevation would have a stepped elevation with the north east corner of the house set back
from the front boundary by 5.95m and the south east corner set back by 6m and forming a front garden for
future occupants.

5.11 The flat roof and total height is broadly in line with the eaves of adjacent number 60 Milverton Road and
it is considered that this relates sufficiently and given that a flat roof is proposed, the bulk and mass would not
appear unduly prominent within the streetscene. While a much greater width is proposed that neighbouring
houses, the lack of dominant roof form and simple massing would create a development that appears
compact subordinate in scale.

5.12 The Basement SPD advises that basements should not be wider than the original house and not extend
further than 3m from the rear of the property or involve excavation of more than 1 storey. The basement
would comply in this regard. Further, external elements should not create visual clutter and should be modest
in scale with lightwells located to the rear of the property. While the lightwell is large it is located to the rear
and not considered to result in harm to the overall design of streetscene as it would be hidden from public
vantage points.

5.13 In terms of materials, the proposal is predominantly clad in red bricks with large glazed elements.
Elements of the ground floor would be charred timber with dark metal window frames and a green roof is
proposed. The prevailing architectural language compromises brick, white render and black timber detailing
and the approach to materiality has references red brick elements and black timber detailing of the locality in
a contemporary fashion.

5.14 With regards to the front elevation, a brick wall at 1.7m in height of the boundary treatment provides
privacy for the front garden space. While it is noted that the proposed wall would create a relatively high
boundary treatment, a balance of providing a useable family sized amenity area must be struck. Furthermore,
part of the site frontage remains open and this provides a sufficient interface with the streetscene, particularly
given the existing situation which consists a boundary wall along the whole length of the site on Milverton
Road.

5.14 The front garden area accommodates one parking space and a landscaped area (15sqm), which
represents approximately 35% of the front garden. Some plating is shown indicatively and a detailed
landscape plan would be conditioned. However, the proposed level of landscaping is considered to result in a
sufficiently verdant appearance to the frontage whilst also offering some benefits to biodiversity and slowing

Page 86



surface water runoff.

5.15 Overall the development creates a dwelling that would appear truly contemporary, creating a transitional
contrasting element between the two neighbouring properties while drawing cues from the timber and brick
mock Tudor and Edwardian details of the locality. 

6. Impact to Residential Amenity

6.1 Local Plan Policy DMP 1  seeks  to  ensure  new development,  amongst  other  things,  provides  high
levels  of  internal and external  amenity  and  does  not  unacceptably increase exposure to noise, light and
general disturbance. This is supported by SPD1 (2018), which includes guidance on privacy and also
ensuring that development does not impact unacceptably on other nearby dwellings' privacy and outlook.

6.2 SPD 1 asserts that the building envelope of new development should be set below a line of 30 degrees
from the nearest rear habitable room window of adjoining existing property, measured from height of two
metres above floor level. Where proposed development adjoins private amenity / garden areas then the
height of new development should normally be set below a line of 45 degrees at the garden edge, measured
from a height of two metres.

6.3 SPD1 advises that directly facing habitable room windows will normally require a minimum separation
distance of 18m, except where the existing character of the area varies from this. A distance of 9m should be
kept between gardens and habitable rooms or balconies. Reduced distances between new frontages may be
acceptable subject to consideration of overlooking and privacy as well as high quality design and solutions
which can sometimes mitigate impacts and allow for efficient use of land.

6.4 The site is bordered by No.7 and 7a Sidmouth Road to the north, No.9 Sidmouth Road to the west and
No.60 Milverton Road to the south. The proposal is considered with regards to the relationship of each
neighbouring property below:

7 & 7a Sidmouth Road

6.5 The site is located south of number's 7 & 7a Sidmouth Road, which is a two storey property that has been
split into flats. The proposal would reduce the original garden area of these properties to an area in excess of
120qm inclusive of the existing outbuilding within the garden. As such the proposed development would
reduce the garden amenity space to an unacceptable degree and residents would still enjoy a private amenity
space of a sufficient type and size. The envelope of the proposed development would not breach the 45
degree line prescribed in SPD 1 with reference to the retained garden at number 7& 7a Sidmouth Road.

6.6 Although there are two windows located on the side (north) elevation facing number 7 & 7a Sidmouth
Road, they are labelled as 'obscure glass' and are secondary windows to Bedroom 1. In order to prevent
overlooking, a condition is recommended to ensure these windows would be fully obscure glazed and
non-opening up to a level of 1.7m above the finished floor room in the room they serve.

9 Sidmouth Road

6.7 To the east, the site borders the garden associated with 9 Sidmouth Road, a two storey dwelling. The
proposed building envelope would not breach the 45 degree line prescribed in SPD 1. Given that the
relationship of the building to the habitable room windows of the house at number 9 Sidmouth Road, the 30
degree line prescribed in SPD 1 is not an appropriate measure. The separation of the proposed dwelling from
the boundary would not result in adverse harm to the light or outlook of number 9 Sidmouth Road.

6.8 At first floor the windows to the rear must be obscure glazed and non-opening below a height of 1.7m
from the respective rooms they would serve in order to prevent overlooking to neighbouring gardens.
However given the layout and non-habitable uses of rooms that the windows serve, this would not result in
unacceptable levels of light and outlook to habitable rooms.

60 Milverton Road

6.9 Milverton Road is a two storey dwelling located adjacent to the proposed dwelling and to the south of site.
The proposed building would project to a similar depth to the adjacent bay at number 60 Milverton Road,
given the minimal step forward and distance (approximately 4m), it would not harm the light and outlook to
the rooms served by the front bay windows at 60 Milverton Road. The majority of windows on the side of 60
Milverton Road are either obscure glazed or open into non-habitable rooms based of the latest plans for the

Page 87



property found under application 10/1160. The first floor bedroom to the rear benefits from dual aspect and
would maintain good light and outlook to the rear. A clear window is located at second floor, yet the total
height of the proposed development would sit lower than this window.

6.10 No windows are proposed to the southern side elevation and the windows to the rear at first floor would
be obscure glazed and non-opening below a height of 1.7m. As a result no concerns of overlooking to
number 60 Milverton Road or its garden would arise as a result of the development.

6.11 In summary, the proposed development would not give rise to significant adverse harm to the
neighbouring amenity of any nearby properties and the proposed development accords with Policy DMP 1 of
the Brent Local Plan and the guidance outlined on SPD 1.

7. Transport Considerations

Car Parking

7.1 The site lies within a Controlled Parking Zone operating between 8am-6.30pm Mondays to Saturdays and
there are six residents' permit parking bays and two Car Club bays along the site frontage, which are not
noted as being heavily used. Public transport access is good (PTAL 3/4). The Local Plan car parking
standards outlined in appendix 4 of the Brent Local Plan align with London Plan car parking standards set out
in Table 10.3 of Policy T6.1. Three bed dwellings in a PTAL of 4 are permitted up to 0.5-0.75 spaces per
dwelling whereas three bed dwelling in areas of PTAL 3 are permitted up to one space per dwelling. As the
property is on the cusp, the provision of one off street car parking space is not considered to exceed the
maximum allowance.

7.2 Furthermore, as Milverton Road is very lightly parked, there would be no concerns regarding overspill
parking related to the development.

7.3 The location of the proposed crossover is positioned to the south-eastern side of the frontage so that it
can share a widened crossover with 60 Milverton Road, thus minimising any loss of on-street parking. The
higher element of the front boundary wall is set away from the vehicular access to provide suitable pedestrian
visibility splays.

Cycle and Refuse Provision

7.4 The London Plan requires at least two secure and sheltered bicycle parking spaces for the house and a
secure locker is proposed in the front garden to satisfy this requirement. A condition would be recommended
to capture that the approved details must be installed prior to occupation of the development.

7.5 Bin storage is also indicated to the front of the site to allow easy access for collection from Milverton
Road.

8. Trees, Landscaping and Biodiversity

8.1 Brent Local Plan Policy BGI1 Green and Blue Infrastructure and the London Plan Policy G6 sets out that
development should aim to secure a net biodiversity gain. Brent Local Plan Policy BH4 in line with London
Plan Policy G5 requires all minor development proposals to achieve an UGF score of 0.4 on site. This score
needs to be demonstrated through a landscape masterplan that incorporates green cover into the design
proposal. It should be accompanied by a score table measuring the UGF leading to better quality green cover
on site. Policy BGI2 requires submission of a BS5837 or equivalent tree survey detailing all trees that are on,
or adjoining the development site. Existing trees are to be retained on site as far as possible. Where it is
agreed retention is not possible, appropriate replacement trees will need to be provided on-site.

8.2 The site contains five trees within the site (T4 -T7 and G8) and four trees within the retained gardens of
No.7/7a Sidmouth Road (T1-T3 and T9). These trees are of value both in terms of visual amenity and wildlife
benefit.

8.3 An Arboricultural Impact Assessment (AIA), Method Statement (AMS) and Tree Protection Plan (TPP).
Brent's external tree consultants raised no objections subject to conditions. As part of the survey 9 trees and
1 group were identified with 2 category B (T4 and T7 a mature purple leaf plum and mature pear tree) and 7
category C (T1-T3, T5, T6, G8 and T9) categorisations in accordance with BS5837:2012 cascade chart.
T4-G8 would require removal to facilitate the scheme. This includes two category B mature trees which are
defined as moderate quality.

Page 88



8.4 The submitted tree protection plan shows how retained trees would be protected and includes a
construction exclusion zone where protected fencing would be installed. It is considered that this would
mitigate damage to off-site trees during construction.

8.5 Paragraph 11 of Appeal decision APP/T5150/W/21/3283144 states that 'Although several trees at the site
would be lost, were the appeal to be allowed conditions could be imposed to provide further details of
proposed planting'. The applicant has provided a Planting Scheme including three trees (2no Liquidambar
styraciflua and  1no Sorbus aucuparia cashmiriana) and a number of shrubs, climber and  herbaceous plants.
The variation of foliage along the perimeter of the garden will add screening from the streetscene and from
the boundary with No.7 and 7a.

8.6 In terms of Urban Greening, the UGF calculator demonstrates that the scheme achieves a score of
0.415, as such the landscaping proposals would be in compliance with Brent Local Plan Policy BH4.

8.7 With regards to biodiversity net gain, the submitted Biodiversity Net Gain Assessment prepared by
arbtech outlines that the current landscaping proposals indicate a net loss of habitat units, due primarily to the
removal of immature trees to facilitate the development. This is less than the 10% target of biodiversity net
gain for area units.  The net gain for hedgerow units is 100%, as no hedgerows currently exist on site and the
landscaping proposals include a new native species-rich hedgerow. The assessment outlines it will be
extremely difficult to achieve net gain on this site as the proposals are for the construction of a new dwelling
and the site is currently vegetated. The applicant is prepared to provide a payment to a third party habitat
bank or to the Council directly. While it is acknowledged that biodiversity net gain has not been provided, the
landscaping plan and replacement planting and trees demonstrate extensive urban greening on site while
allowing for a functional three bedroom home with a useable amenity area. In this case, given the existing
nature on site and the difficulty to provide a net gain on this site while noting that Local Plan Policy for new
homes does not preclude infill development within the curtilage of a dwelling and the benefits of an additional
family sized home, the lack of compliance with Brent Local Plan Policy BG1 is not considered to outweigh the
benefits of the scheme.

8.8 A Preliminary Ecological Appraisal has been submitted with the application. The appraisal outlines the
site has a low suitability for roosting bats and hedgehogs with no direct impact to any noticeable habitats. The
recommended measures include an inspection of trees prior to felling, lighting mitigation, careful construction
methodology and works to be undertaken to avoid bird nesting period.

8.9 On balance, the proposed landscaping, replacement trees and recommended measures are considered
to partly mitigate the loss of trees on site in terms of visual amenity wildlife, ecology biodiversity and surface
water. In addition, the proposal would result in the significant benefit of a new family sized dwelling.

9. Drainage and Flood Risk

9.1 Policy BSUI4 sets out proposals for minor developments, householder development, and conversions
should make use of sustainable drainage measures wherever feasible and must ensure separation of surface
and foul water systems. Proposals that would fail to make adequate provision for the control and reduction of
surface water run-off will be refused.

9.2 The site is in flood zone 1 at low risk of flooding and objections have been received demonstrating
instances of poor localised drainage. The basement contains a basement which can be vulnerable to
flooding.

9.3 The applicant has advised that they would seek to connect to the existing combined sewer in Milverton
Road, this would be subject to Thames Water approval and protocols. Whilst Local Plan policy seeks to
ensure proposed development incorporates soakaways and other infiltration mitigation for example, the
submitted Drainage Strategy prepared by Hull Raiser Ltd dated September 2022 has identified that these
measures are not considered to be practical due to the Bedrock being London Clay and proximity of the
foundations of the structure. It is acknowledged that there would be an increase is discharge, given the
undeveloped condition of the land.

9.4 The report states that a small attenuation tank (2.85 m3) would be provided within the grounds. This is
shown on page 79 of the Drainage Strategy. Its position has been indicated in an area in the front garden
shown on an updated Ground Floor Plan 760-PL-100-P3. A condition is recommended to require the
submission of further details of the attenuation tank.

Page 89



9.5 In summary, the site is in an area of low risk in terms of flooding. Although Brent Local Plan policies seek
to provide forms of sustainable urban drainage and to separate surface water and foul water there is limited
scope to do so on the site. The exiting site is undeveloped and it is acknowledged that introducing the
proposed development would increase surface water runoff, yet on balance due to the scale of development
this is not considered to be significant within this area of low flood risk. Furthermore, it is considered that the
level of soft landscaping has been well maximised when balancing the need for the footprint of the house and
functional pathways/patio areas.

10. Fire Safety

10.1 Policy D12A of the London Plan (as well as the draft London Plan Fire Safety Guidance) requires all
development proposals to achieve the highest standard of fire safety and requires submissions to
demonstrate that they:

 1) identify suitably positioned unobstructed outside space:
  a) for fire appliances to be positioned on
  b) appropriate for use as an evacuation assembly point
 2) are designed to incorporate appropriate features which reduce the risk to life and the risk of
serious injury in the event of a fire; including appropriate fire alarm systems and passive and active fire safety
measures
 3) are constructed in an appropriate way to minimise the risk of fire spread
 4) provide suitable and convenient means of escape, and associated evacuation strategy for all
building users
 5) develop a robust strategy for evacuation which can be periodically updated and published,
and which all building users can have confidence in
 6)  provide suitable access and equipment for fire fighting which is appropriate for the size and
use of the development.

10.2 A fire strategy has been submitted and outlines some fire safety measures. The site is located close to
the road and represents a similar situation to that of the neighbouring row of development in this regard. The
application is considered to be in general accordance with Policy D12a, yet the applicant is advised that the
development would be subject to complying with Building Regulations on fire safety also, which would assess
the construction of the development in detail.

11. Equalities

11.1 In line with the Public Sector Equality Duty, the Council must have due regard to the need to eliminate
discrimination and advance equality of opportunity, as set out in section 149 of the Equality Act 2010. In
making this recommendation, regard has been given to the Public Sector Equality Duty and the relevant
protected characteristics (age, disability, gender reassignment, pregnancy and maternity, race, religion or
belief, sex, and sexual orientation).

12. CONCLUSION

Whilst the shortfall in biodiversity gain falls slightly short of Brent's policy standard, this is considered to be
adequately compensated for by the overall quality of the proposed accommodation, the amenity space
provided, the replacement trees, the urban greening factor and the additional family sized home. The
proposal is considered to respond well to design policies without compromising neighbouring amenity.  The
proposal therefore complies with the Development Plan and guidelines set out within SPD1.

Approval is accordingly recommended.

Page 90



DRAFT DECISION NOTICE
DRAFT NOTICE

TOWN AND COUNTRY PLANNING ACT 1990 (as
amended)

DECISION NOTICE – APPROVAL

_______________________________________________________________________________________

Application No: 22/1282
To: Mr Kelly
GPAD
130 Old Street
London
EC1V 9BD

I refer to your application dated 06/04/2022 proposing the following:

Proposed erection new two-storey dwellinghouse with basement level, works including associated off road
cycle and car parking, private amenity, waste storage, landscaping and boundary treatment

and accompanied by plans or documents listed here:
See condition 2.

at 7 & 7A Sidmouth Road, London, NW2 5HH

The Council of the London Borough of Brent, the Local Planning Authority, hereby GRANT permission for the
reasons and subject to the conditions set out on the attached Schedule B.

Date:  08/11/2022 Signature:

Gerry Ansell
Head of Planning and Development Services

Notes
1. Your attention is drawn to Schedule A of this notice which sets out the rights of applicants who are

aggrieved by the decisions of the Local Planning Authority.
2. This decision does not purport to convey any approval or consent which may be required under the

Building Regulations or under any enactment other than the Town and Country Planning Act 1990.

DnStdG

Page 91



SCHEDULE "B"
Application No: 22/1282

SUMMARY OF REASONS FOR APPROVAL

1 The proposed development is in general accordance with the:-

National Planning Policy Framework 2021
The London Plan 2021
Brent Local Plan 2019-2041

1 The development to which this permission relates must be begun not later than the expiration of
three years beginning on the date of this permission.

Reason:  To conform with the requirements of Section 91 of the Town and Country Planning Act
1990.

2 The development hereby permitted shall be carried out in accordance with the following
approved drawing(s) and/or document(s):

760-PL-010-01 Site Location Plan & Block Plan
760-PL-011-01 Existing Site Plan
760-PL-100VS-01 Visibility Splays
760-PL-301-P2 East Elevation
760-PL-302-P1 West Elevation
760-PL-303-P1 South Elevation
760-PL-304-P1 North Elevation
760-PL-305-P1 South Elevation - Bins and Bike Store
760-PL-200-P1 Section AA
760-PL-201-P1 Section BB
760-PL-099-P2 Basement Plan
760-PL-100-P3 Ground Floor Plan
760-PL-101 First Floor Plan
760-PL-102 Roof Plan

Biodiversity Net Gain Assessment prepared arbtech
Preliminary Ecological Appraisal prepared by arbtech dated 17/10/2022
Arboricultural Report prepared by ACS Trees Consulting dated 2 December 2020
Planting Plan - front garden
Planting Scheme dated 25 April 2022
Planting Scheme Spreadsheet
Biodiversity Metric
UGF Calculator
Fire Strategy Report prepared Magnus Opifex LTD dated 22/08/2022
Drainage Strategy prepared by Hull Raiser Ltd dated September 2022

Reason:  For the avoidance of doubt and in the interests of proper planning.

3 The approved cycle parking and refuse storage arrangements shall be implemented in full prior
to first occupation of the development and permanently retained as approved unless the prior
written consent of the Local Planning Authority is obtained.

Reason: To ensure satisfactory facilities for future occupiers.

4 Any upper-floor window located in a wall or roof slope forming a side or rear elevation of the
building must be—

Page 92



(i) obscure-glazed, and
(ii) non-opening unless the parts of the window which can be opened are more than 1.7 metres
above the floor of the room in which the window is installed;

and shall be permanently maintained in that condition thereafter unless the planning consent is
obtained from the Local Planning Authority.

Reason: To ensure the development does not unduly impact the privacy of the adjoining
occupier(s).

5 No further extensions or buildings shall be constructed within the curtilage of the dwellinghouse
subject of this application, notwithstanding the provisions of Class(es) A, B, C, D & E of Part 1
Schedule 2 of the Town & Country Planning (General Permitted Development) Order 2015, as
amended, (or any order revoking and re-enacting that Order with or without modification) unless
a formal planning application is first submitted to and approved by the Local Planning Authority.

Reason: In view of the restricted nature and layout of the site for the proposed development, no
further enlargement or increase in living accommodation beyond the limits set by this consent
should be allowed without the matter being first considered by the Local Planning Authority.

6 The landscape works and planting shown on the approved plans shall be carried out prior to the
occupation of any part of the development.

Any planting that is part of the approved scheme that within a period of five years after planting
is removed, dies or becomes seriously damaged or diseased, shall be replaced in the next
planting season and all planting shall be replaced with others of a similar size and species and
in the same position, unless the Local Planning Authority first gives written consent to any
variation.

Reason:  To ensure a satisfactory appearance and setting for the development and to ensure
that the proposed development enhances the visual amenity of the area.

7 Prior to first occupation of the development hereby approved, full details of all proposed tree
planting shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. This will
include planting and maintenance specifications, including cross-section drawings, use of
guards or other protective measures and confirmation of location, species and sizes, nursery
stock type, supplier and defect period. All tree planting shall be carried out in accordance with
those details prior to first occupation of the development.

Any trees that are found to be dead, dying, severely damaged or diseased within five years of
the completion of the building works OR five years of the carrying out of the landscaping
scheme (whichever is later), shall be replaced in the next planting season by specimens of
similar size and species in the first suitable planting season. 

Reason: To comply with the duties indicated in Section 197 of the Town and Country Planning
Act 1990 to safeguard and enhance the amenity of the area, to maximise the quality and
usability of open spaces within the development, and to enhance its setting within the immediate
locality in accordance with Policy BGI2 of the Brent Local Plan.

8 Details of materials for all external work, including specification and technical sections
illustrating how specific elements of the façade may be constructed, shall be submitted to and
approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority before any work is commenced. The work
shall be carried out in accordance with the approved details.

Reason: To ensure a satisfactory development which does not prejudice the amenity of the
locality.

9 Prior to the commencement of the development a Construction Method Statement shall be
submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority outlining measures that will
be taken to control dust, noise and other environmental impacts of the development.  The
development shall be constructed in accordance with the approved statement.

Page 93



Reason: To safeguard the amenity of the neighbours by minimising impacts of the development
that would otherwise give rise to nuisance.

10 Further details of the proposed attenuation tank shall be submitted to and approved in writing by
the Local Planning Authority before any work is commenced. The work shall be carried out in
accordance with the approved details.

Reason: To ensure a satisfactory development which makes appropriate provision for the
control and reduction of surface water run-off.

INFORMATIVES

1 The provisions of The Party Wall etc. Act 1996 may be applicable and relates to
work on an existing wall shared with another property; building on the boundary with
a neighbouring property; or excavating near a neighbouring building. An explanatory
booklet setting out your obligations can be obtained from the government website:
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/preventing-and-resolving-disputes-in-rel
ation-to-party-walls/the-party-wall-etc-act-1996-explanatory-booklet

2 The applicant must ensure, before work commences, that the treatment/finishing of flank
walls can be implemented as this may involve the use of adjoining land and should also
ensure that all development, including foundations and roof/guttering treatment is carried out
entirely within the application property.

3 The applicant is advised that this development is liable to pay the Community Infrastructure
Levy; a Liability Notice will be sent to all known contacts including the applicant and the agent.
Before you commence any works please read the Liability Notice and comply with its contents
as otherwise you may be subjected to penalty charges. Further information including eligibility
for relief and links to the relevant forms and to the Government’s CIL guidance, can be found
on the Brent website at www.brent.gov.uk/CIL.

4 The submission of the Fire Safety Statement does not replace the need for building regulation
approval in relation to fire safety, nor does it convey or imply any approval under those
regulations.

5 A Groundwater Risk Management Permit from Thames Water will be required for discharging
groundwater into a public sewer. Any discharge made without a permit is deemed illegal and
may result in prosecution under the provisions of the Water Industry Act 1991. We would
expect the developer to demonstrate what measures he will undertake to minimise
groundwater discharges into the public sewer. Permit enquiries should be directed to Thames
Water’s Risk Management Team by telephoning 020 3577 9483 or by emailing
trade.effluent@thameswater.co.uk . Application forms should be completed on line via
http://www.thameswater.co.uk. Please refer to the Wholsesale; Business customers;
Groundwater discharges section.

6 The proposed development is located within 15 metres of Thames Waters underground
assets and as such, the development could cause the assets to fail if appropriate measures
are not taken. Please read the guide ‘working near our assets’ to ensure your workings are in
line with the necessary processes you need to follow if you’re considering working above or
near our pipes or other structures.
https://www.thameswater.co.uk/developers/larger-scale-developments/planning-your-develop
ment/working-near-our-pipes . Should you require further information please contact Thames
Water. Email: developer.services@thameswater.co.uk Phone: 0800 009 3921 (Monday to
Friday, 8am to 5pm) Write to: Thames Water Developer Services, Clearwater Court, Vastern
Road, Reading, Berkshire RG1 8DB

7 Thames Water will aim to provide customers with a minimum pressure of 10m head (approx 1

Page 94



bar) and a flow rate of 9 litres/minute at the point where it leaves Thames Waters pipes. The
developer should take account of this minimum pressure in the design of the proposed
development

Page 95



Any person wishing to inspect the above papers should contact Sarah Dilley, Planning and Regeneration,
Brent Civic Centre, Engineers Way, Wembley, HA9 0FJ, Tel. No. 020 8937 2500

Page 96


	Agenda
	3 Minutes of the previous meeting
	 APPLICATIONS FOR DECISION
	4 22/2225 - Fairgate House, 390-400 and 402-408 (Even), High Road Wembley, HA9
	5 22/1386 - Minterne Road Garages, Minterne Road,Harrow
	6 22/1282- 7 &7A Sidmouth Road, London, NW2 5HH

